

Official Publication of Istanbul University Faculty of Dentistry

# **Luropean** Oral Research

Volume 54 Issue 3 September 2020

ISSN print 2630-6158 ISSN online 2651-2823



eor.istanbul.edu.tr



#### **Editor-in-Chief**

#### Sabire İşler

Department of Prosthodontics, İstanbul University Faculty of Dentistry, İstanbul, Turkey

#### **Associate Editors**

#### Handan Ersev

Department of Endodontics, İstanbul University Faculty of Dentistry, İstanbul, Turkey

#### Yiğit Şirin

Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, İstanbul University Faculty of Dentistry, İstanbul, Turkey

#### **Restorative Dentistry Section Editor**

Mustafa Demirci Department of Restorative Dentistry, İstanbul University Faculty of Dentistry, İstanbul, Turkey

#### **Prosthodontics Section Editor**

Onur Geçkili Department of Prosthodontics, İstanbul University Faculty of Dentistry, İstanbul, Turkey

#### **Periodontology Section Editor**

Ali Çekici Department of Periodontology, İstanbul University Faculty of Dentistry, İstanbul, Turkey

#### **Pedodontics Section Editor**

Arzu Pınar Erdem Department of Pedodontics, İstanbul University Faculty of Dentistry, İstanbul, Turkey

#### **Orthodontics Section Editor**

#### Nil Cura

Department of Orthodontics, İstanbul University Faculty of Dentistry, İstanbul, Turkey

#### **Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery Section Editor**

Mustafa Ramazanoğlu Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, İstanbul University Faculty of Dentistry, İstanbul, Turkey

#### **Oral and Maxillofacial Radiology Section Editor**

İlknur Özcan Duman Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Radiology, İstanbul University Faculty of Dentistry, İstanbul, Turkey

#### **Endodontics Section Editor**

Handan Ersev Department of Endodontics, İstanbul University Faculty of Dentistry, İstanbul, Turkey

#### **Statistical Consultant**

Halim İşsever Department of Public Health, İstanbul University Faculty of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

#### Language Editor

Dorian Gordon Bates Alan James Newson Department of Foreign Languages, İstanbul University, İstanbul, Turkey

#### **Editorial Secretariat**

Benek Sağlam İstanbul University, Faculty of Dentistry, İstanbul, Turkey

**İstanbul Üniversitesi Diş Hekimliği Fakültesi adına sahibi / Owned by on behalf of the İstanbul University Faculty of Dentistry:** Gülsüm Ak • Sorumlu Yazı İşleri Müdürü / Director in Charge: Handan Ersev • e-Dergi yöneticisi / e-Journal Manager: Yiğit Şirin • Yayın türü / Publication Type: Yaygın süreli / Periodical • Publication Frequency: Triannually (January, May, September) • Abstracting Indexing: Emerging Sources Citation Index (ESCI), PubMed Central, ProQuest, EBSCO, Directory of Open Access Journals (DOAJ, Open Aire, Chemical Abstracts, Google Scholar, Tübitak Ulakbim TR Dizin, Türkiye Atıf Dizini • E-mail: eor@istanbul.edu.tr • Website: eor.istanbul.edu.tr • Abbreviation: Eur Oral Res • Yayıncı / Publisher: İstanbul Üniversitesi Yayınevi / Istanbul University Press, İstanbul Üniversitesi Merkez Kampüsü, 34452 Beyazıt, Fatih, İstanbul, Telefon / Phone: +90 (212) 440 00 00 • Basım yeri / Printed by: İlbey Matbaa Kağıt Reklam Org. Müc. San. Tic. Ltd. Şti. 2.Matbaacılar Sitesi 3NB 3 Topkapı/Zeytinburnu, İstanbul, www.ilbeymatbaa.com.tr, Sertifika No: 17845 • Basım tarihi / Printing Date: Eylül 2020 / September 2020 • İstanbul Üniversitesi Diş Hekimliği Fakültesi'nin yayınıdır / EOR is the official publication of Istanbul University Faculty of Dentistry İstanbul Üniversitesi Diş Hekimliği Fakültesi, Fatih, İstanbul, Turkey • Licensing Information: Unless otherwise indicated, the articles and journal content are licensed under Creative Commons License Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-4.0) license (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/). • Publication history: 1967-2014, İstanbul Üniversitesi Diş Hekimliği Fakültesi Diş Hekimliği Fakültesi Diş Hekimliği Fakültesi Diş Hekimliği Fakültesi Diş Hekimliği Fakültesi Diş Hekimliği Fakültesi Diş Hekimliği Fakültesi Diş Hekimliği Fakültesi Diş Hekimliği Fakültesi Diş Hekimliği Fakültesi Diş Hekimliği Fakültesi Diş Hekimliği Fakültesi Diş Hekimliği Fakültesi Diş Hekimliği Fakültesi Diş Hekimliği Fakültesi Diş Hekimliği Fakültesi Diş Heki



Official Publication of Istanbul University Faculty of Dentistry

#### **International Scientific Advisory Board**

#### Bekir Karabucak

Department of Endodontics, University of Pennsylvania, School of Dental Medicine, PA, United States

#### Philipp Sahrmann

Department of Periodontology, University of Zurich, Center of Dental Medicine, Zurich, Switzerland

Her-Hsiung Huang Department of Materials Science, National Yang-Ming University, School of Dentistry, Taipei, Taiwan

#### Jeffrey A. Banas

Department of Pediatric Dentistry, The University of Iowa, School of Dentistry, United States

#### Jukka H. Meurman

Oral Infectious Diseases, Institute of Dentistry, University of Helsinki, Helsinki, Finland

#### Gabrielle Millesi

Department of Craniomaxillofacial Surgery, Medical University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria

Ngeow Wei Cheong Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Clinical Sciences, University of Malaya, Faculty of Dentistry, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

#### James Bahcall

Department of Endodontics, The University of Illinois, Chicago College of Dentistry, IL, United States

#### Amid I. Ismail

Department of Restorative Dentistry, Temple University, Maurice H. Kornberg School of Dentistry, Pensilvanya, United States

#### Mary Anne Melo

Department of Endodontics, University of Maryland School of Dentistry, Prosthodontics and Operative Dentistry, Maryland, United States

#### Nicholas Chandler

Department of Oral Rehabilitation, University of Otago, Faculty of Dentistry, Dunedin, New Zealand

#### Danae Apatzidou

Department of Preventive Dentistry, Periodontology and Implant Biology, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Thessaloniki, Greece

#### Patrick Schmidlin

Department of Periodontology, University of Zurich, Center of Dental Medicine, Zurich, Switzerland

#### Daniel M. Laskin

Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Virginia Commonwealth University, School of Dentistry, Richmond, Virginia, United States

#### Vesna Miletic

Department of Restorative Odontology and Endodontics, University of Belgrade, School of Dental Medicine, Belgrade, Serbia

#### Kamran Safavi

Division of Endodontology, University of Connecticut, Oral Health and Diagnostic Sciences, Connecticut, United States

#### Junji Tagami

Department of Cariology and Operative Dentistry, Tokyo Medical and Dental University, Tokyo, Japan

#### Lakshman P. Samaranayake

Department of Oral Biosciences, The University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, China

Javotte Nancy Department of Dental Surgery, University of Victor Segalen Bordeux 2, Bordeaux, France

#### John D. Bartlett

Department of Biosciences, The Ohio State University College of Dentistry, Ohio, United States

#### Francesco Carinci

Department of Morphology, University of Ferrera, Maxillofacial Surgery, Surgery and Experimental Medicine, Section of Translational Medicine and Surgery, Ferrera, Italy

#### Bruno Chrcanovic

Department of Prosthodontics, Malmö University, Faculty of Odontology, Malmo, Sweden

#### Mahmoud AL-Omiri

Department of Restorative Dentistry, University of Jordan, Faculty of Dentistry, Amman, Jordan

#### Rafael Consani

Department of Prosthodontics, Piracicaba Dental School University of Campinas, Sao Paulo, Brazil

#### Joyce Rose P. Masalu

Department of Orthodontics, Paedodontics and Community Dentistry, School of Dentistry, Muhimbili University of Health and Allied Sciences, Dar es Salaam, Tanzania

#### Michael Swain

Biomaterials Unit, University of Sydney, Sydney, Australia

#### David J. Manton

Department of Pediatric Dentistry, The University of Melbourne, Melbourne Dental School, Victoria, Australia

#### Edward Lahey

Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Harvard School of Dental Medicine, Massachusetts, United States

#### Erica Dorigatti De Avila

Department of Biomaterials, Radboud University Medical Centre, Nijmegen, Netherlands

#### Elisabetta Cotti

Department of Conservative Dentistry and Endodontics, University of Cagliari, Cagliari, Italy

#### Marcel Marchiori Farret

Orthodontics Private Practice, Santa Maria, Brazil

#### Ruben Pauwels

Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery -Imaging and Pathology, University of Kleuven, Kleuven Belaium

#### Patrick Warnke

Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, University Hospital of Schleswig-Holstein, Kiel, Germany

#### Pushkar Mehra

Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Boston University Henry M. Goldman School of Dental Medicine, Massachusetts, United States

#### Philip Benson

Department of Orthodontics, The University of Sheffield School of Clinical Dentistry, Sheffield, United Kingdom

#### Noam Yarom

Department of Oral Pathology and Oral Medicine, Tel Aviv University, Tel-Aviv, Israel

#### Gunnar E. Carlsson

Department of Prosthetic Dentistry, University of Gothenburg, Institute of Odontology, Gothenburg, Sweden

#### Louis M. Lin

Department of Endodontics, New York University College of Dentistry, New York, United States



Official Publication of Istanbul University Faculty of Dentistry

#### **AUTHOR GUIDELINES**

#### **General information**

European Oral Research (Eur Oral Res) is an open access, peer-reviewed international title and it is the official scientific publication of Istanbul University Faculty of Dentistry. Eur Oral Res does not charge authors or authors' institutions for submitting, processing or publication of articles. There is no fee for extra pages or color images.

Basic and clinical research papers, case reports and review articles on the main topics of oral and maxillofacial surgery, oral diseases, oral and dental health, oral and maxillofacial radiology, biomaterials, restorative dentistry, periodontics, pedodontics, orthodontics, endodontics, prosthodontics, oral biology, epidemiology, geriatric dentistry and dental education may be submitted for consideration. Letter to the Editor section is also available for authors who wish to comment on previously published articles in the journal. Authors should take collective responsibility for their work and for the content of their publications. Editor-in Chief or the Editorial Board reserves the right to change the format, grammar or sentence structure of any part of the manuscript to comply with the guidelines to fit the standard format and style of Eur Oral Res and scientific journals in general.

#### Who is an author?

Eur Oral Res adheres to the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (ICM-JE) standards to define the qualifications of authorship and recommends that it should be based on the following 4 criteria: substantial contributions to the conception or design of the work; or the acquisition, analysis, or interpretation of data for the work; AND drafting the work or revising it critically for important intellectual content; AND final approval of the version to be published; AND agreement to be accountable for all aspects of the work in ensuring that guestions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved.

#### Before you begin

#### Disclaimer and copyright

Submission of a manuscript implies that the work described has not been published before; that it is not under consideration for publication anywhere else entirely or partially, nor will it be submitted for consideration of publication anywhere else until a final publication decision concerning this manuscript has been made by the Editor(s) of the Journal; that its publication has been approved by all co-authors, if any, as well as by the responsible authorities at the institute where the work has been carried out. The publisher cannot be held legally responsible should there be any claims for compensation.

Eur Oral Res provides free access to and allows free download of its contents from the journal's website (http://eor.istanbul.edu.tr/ tr/\_). Both anonymous or registered users can read and/or download articles for personal use. Unless otherwise indicated, the articles and journal content are licensed under Creative Commons License Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International (CC BY-NC 4.0) license (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/). Users must give appropriate credit, provide a link to the license, and indicate if changes were made. Users may do so in any reasonable manner, but not in any way that suggests the journal endorses its use. The material cannot be used for commercial purposes. If the user remixes, transforms, or builds upon the material, he/she may not distribute the modified material. No warranties are given. The license may not give the user all of the permissions necessary for his/her intended use. For example, other rights such as publicity, privacy, or moral rights may limit how the material can be used.

Articles may not be published elsewhere, in whole or in part, electronically or in print, without written permission from the Editor-in-Chief. The responsibility of the content(s) and/or opinion(s) provided in the articles which are published in the print and/or online versions of the journal, belong exclusively to their respective author(s). The publisher/editor/editorial board/reviewers cannot be held responsible for errors, scientific or otherwise, in the contents or any consequences arising from the use of information contained therein. The opinions expressed in the articles published in this journal are purely those of their respective authors and in no way represent the opinions of the publisher/editor/editorial board/reviewers of the journal.

### Publication ethics and avoiding allegations of plagiarism

Please refer to http://eor.istanbul.edu.tr/en/ content/about/publication-ethics-and-publication-malpractice-statement to consult Eur Oral Res Publication Ethics and Publication Malpractice Statement. By submitting their manuscripts to Eur Oral Res, authors also accept that their manuscripts may be screened for signs of plagiarism using any means necessary and available; including, but not limited to, the use of plagiarism detection software.

#### **Ethical approvals**

Experimentation involving human subjects should be conducted in full accordance with the Helsinki Declaration of World Medical Association (http://www.wma.net/en/30publications/10policies/b3/index.html) and legal requirements of the country where the research had been carried out. Manuscript must include a statement indicating that the informed consent was obtained from all participants. A statement confirming that the study has been reviewed and approved by an ethical or advisory board should also be included. The patient's privacy should not be violated. Identifying information such as names, initials, hospital numbers, unnecessary details in photographs should be omitted from the submission. When detailed descriptions, photographs and/or videos of faces or identifiable body parts that might permit a patient to be identified must be included in the submission, authors must obtain written



Official Publication of Istanbul University Faculty of Dentistry

informed consent for its publication from the patient or his/her parent/guardian.

Experiments on laboratory animals must comply with the Guidelines of the European Communities Council Directive 2010/63/EU and with local laws and regulations. A statement confirming that the study has been reviewed and approved by an ethical or advisory board should also be included (http:// www.eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/ TXT/?uri=CELEX:32010L0063).

#### **Clinical trials**

Randomized controlled clinical trials should be reported in full accordance with the guidelines available at http://www.consort-statement.org. The CONSORT checklist must be provided in the submission documents. Following free public clinical registries can be used to register clinical trials: http://www.clinicaltrials.gov, http://clinicaltrials.ifpma.org/clinicaltrials/, http://sirctn. org/. Registration number and project name will be published in the article.

#### DNA Sequences and Crystallographic Structure Determinations

Manuscripts reporting protein or DNA sequences and crystallographic structure should provide Genbank or Brookhaven Protein Data Bank accession numbers, respectively.

#### **Submission forms**

Authors who are willing to submit their manuscripts to Eur Oral Res are required to complete and sign Manuscript Submission Form, Copyright Transfer Agreement form and Disclosure of Potential Conflict of Interest Form. Please send these forms electronically when submitting your manuscript. Article evaluation process cannot be started until all documents are received.

All three documents are available for download at:

http://dishekimligi.istanbul.edu.tr/wp-content/uploads/2015/04/JIUFD-submission-forms.zip

#### **Manuscript preparation**

#### Language

Authors should write their manuscripts in US English. Spelling and phrasing should conform to standard usage and be consistent throughout the paper. Authors whose native language is not English are encouraged either to consult with a native speaker or to collaborate with a colleague whose English skills are more advanced. Authors may also use professional translation services at their own expense. Please note that using language editing services does not imply that the article will be selected for peer-review or be accepted by Eur Oral Res.

#### **Style and format**

Use A4 page format in Microsoft Word® software, custom margins (top & bottom 3 cm, left& right 2.5 cm), Times New Roman Font, Font size 12, double line spacing for main text and single line spacing for "References" section. US English grammar check option should be enabled. Words and abbreviations in Latin should be written in italics: "et al., in vivo, in vitro, in utero, in situ, ad libitum, clostridium perfringens, Staphylococcus aureus".

#### Unit abbreviations

Abbreviations used for units, prefixes, and symbols should comply with the International System of Units (SI) (http://physics.nist.gov/ Pubs/SP330/sp330.pdf). If this is not possible, SI equivalents must be presented between parentheses. The complete names of individual teeth must be given in the main text (e.g. maxillary right central incisor). FDI 2-digit system should be used in table and figure legends (e.g. 11 for maxillary right central incisor).

#### **Title page**

Main title of the manuscript should not exceed 150 characters (including spaces) and it should be written in Times New Roman font, in bold capital letters of 12 font size. A running title not more than 50 characters (including spaces) written in lower case let-

ters must also be provided below the main title. Names, surnames and affiliations of all authors should appear below the running title. Use superscript numbers "1,2,3" for authors from different institutions, do not use any numbers if all authors are from the same department. Name, surname, postal address, phone, fax and e-mail of the corresponding author should be mentioned separately. If the paper has been previously presented in a scientific meeting either orally or as a poster, the title of the manuscript should be followed by an asterisk (\*), which refers to a footnote indicating the name of the organization, location and date of its presentation. Please do not use page numbers for this page.

#### Abstract & Keywords page

This page should start with main and running titles of your manuscript. It should not contain author names, affiliations or any citations. This section must describe the main objective(s) of the study, explain how the study was done without giving too much methodological detail and summarize the most important results and their significance. It should be as clear and concise as possible. Start numbering from this page on and place it at the lower right-hand corner of the page footer. Abstracts should not exceed 250 words for original research papers and should be structured to include Purpose, Materials and Methods, Results, Conclusion headings written in bold letters. Abstracts of case reports and review articles are limited to 150 words and should be unstructured.

If not absolutely necessary, do not include names of statistical tests or software in the Materials and Methods. In Results section, Provide p values between parentheses at the end of the sentence before the period. If p value is lower than 0.05 or 0.01 or higher than 0.05 (not significant), then provide its exact value using a maximum of three digits after the decimal point. If it is lower than 0.001, then use only less-than sign, e.g. p=0.078, p=0.048, p=0.009, p<0.001.



Official Publication of Istanbul University Faculty of Dentistry

A maximum of five keywords should follow the abstract, preferably chosen from the Medical Subject Headings (MESH) terms (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/mesh).

#### In-text citations

Eur Oral Res recommends the use of reference management software to ensure that the citations are correctly formatted. In-text citations should be numbered consecutively in the order of appearance with Arabic numerals between parentheses and be placed immediately after the author(s)' name(s).

Articles with two authors are cited using their last names separated by "and":

"John and James (1) demonstrated ...".

For articles with three or more authors, use the first author's last name followed by "et al.": "James *et al.* (2) showed...".

Multiple quotations used within the same sentence should be cited immediately after each author(s)' name(s).

"John and James (1) and James *et al*. (2) have suggested..."

If author(s)' name(s) are not to be used, the citation number(s) should be placed at the end of the sentence before the period. Use number ranges for consecutive citations.

"The validity and reliability of dental anxiety scales have been evaluated previously (7) or (4, 6, 8) or (12-19)."

#### Original research articles

Original research articles are limited to 15 pages including main text, references, tables and figures. They should be organized into the following sections:

- Title page
- Abstract & Keywords
- Introduction
- Materials and Methods (or Subjects and Methods)
- Results
- Discussion
- Conclusion
- Acknowledgements (optional)

- Source of funding
- Conflict of Interest
- References

Introduction should provide a concise account of the research problem and introduce the reader to the pertinent literature. The objective(s) and/or hypothesis of the study should be clearly stated in the last paragraph. Writing style of this section should allow the readers outside the field of your expertise to understand the purpose and significance of the study.

**Materials and Methods** section should describe the study population/sample or specimens, the variables and the procedures of the study with sufficient detail to ensure reproducibility. Standard methods already published in the literature could be briefly described and the original reference should be cited. If your research includes direct involvement with human subjects, use 'Subjects and Methods' heading instead of 'Materials and Methods'.

Feel free to use sub-headings written in italic letters (but not bold) to improve readability of your manuscript such as Population characteristics, Immunohistochemical staining, Experimental protocols or Light microscopy evaluation.

Include ethical approvals for clinical trials and animal studies in the first paragraph of this section. Provide the name of the responsible organization, year of approval and project number:

This project has been reviewed and approved by the Ethical Committee of Istanbul University, Faculty of Medicine (2012/891-1085).

Include Brand name, Manufacturer, City, (state abbreviation for USA), Country details for each material used in the experimental protocol:

DNA was extracted using a MagNA Pure-Compact DNA Isolation Kit (Roche Diagnostics GmbH, Mannheim, Germany)

Bone grafts were fixed with 2 mm bioresorbable screws (Inion CPS system, Inion OY, Tampere, Finland). Statistical analysis sub-heading must be included as the last paragraph of this section. Authors should provide the name of the statistical software, report which types of descriptive statistics were used to summarize the data, indicate how the distribution of the data was tested for normality assumptions (if applicable), which tests were employed to answer each hypotheses, the confidence interval and p values to determine the level of significance. Consult SAMPL guidelines for more detailed information on statistical reporting in biomedical journals: http://www.equator-network.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/SAM-PL-Guidelines-6-27-13.pdf

Provide Name, Version, Company, City, (state abbreviation for USA), Country for statistical software:

GraphPad Prism version 3.0 statistical analysis software (GraphPad Software Inc., San Diego, CA, USA)

The following paragraph is a sample for statistical analysis section; please alter the paragraph so that it fits your study:

The collected data from all groups were imported to Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) for Windows software, version 16.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). The standard descriptive methods such as the mean, standard deviation, median, frequency, minimum and maximum were applied to determine the characteristics of the sample. The chi-square test was used to compare the categorical demographic variables among the groups. Because the distribution of the data did not meet the requirements for normality and homogeneity of variances assumptions, the nonparametric Kruskal-Wallis one way analysis of variance by ranks and Mann-Whitney U tests were used for the multiple and pairwise comparisons, respectively. The correlations between at least two continuous variables were examined using Pearson's correlation coefficient. Stepwise regression analysis was performed to understand the statistical dependence of the DFS and MDAS scores in the general population. Covariance analysis was used to determine whether the difference between the mean DFS and MDAS



Official Publication of Istanbul University Faculty of Dentistry

scores of the groups was statistically significant under a predefined effect. The confidence interval was set to 95% and p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

**Results** should be written clearly without subjective interpretation and be supported with tables and figures when necessary. Text should complement any figures or tables but it should not repeat the same information. When reporting your findings, follow the same order you have used in "Materials and Methods" section.

Use a maximum of two digits after the decimal point for descriptive statistics such as mean and standard deviation: " $45.66\pm23.48$ ". If the last digit is 0 then use : " $45.6\pm23.4$ ".

Provide p values between parentheses at the end of the sentence before the period. if p value is lower than 0.05 or 0.01 or higher than 0.05 (not significant) then provide its exact value using a maximum of three digits after the decimal point. If it is lower than 0.001, then use only less-than sign, e.g. (p=0.078), (p=0.048), (p=0.009), (p<0.001).

In the **Discussion** section, authors should state major findings, their meanings and clinical relevance, present any contrasts with the results of similar studies, describe unavoidable limitations in the study design and make suggestions for further research within the limits of their data. When discussing your findings, use the same logical order as in the Results section.

**Conclusion** should be supported by results and must be consistent with the objectives of the research.

#### Case reports/Case series

Case reports/Case series should not exceed 7 pages and a maximum of 6 tables or figures. They should make a significant contribution by presenting unusual occurrences of rare entities and/or highlight the need for revision of current therapeutic options. This type of manuscript should be organized as follows:

- Title page
- Abstract & Keywords

- Introduction
- Case report (or case series)
- Discussion
- Conclusion
- Acknowledgements (optional)
- Source of funding
- Conflict of Interest
- References

### Narrative or systematic reviews and meta-analyses

Narrative review articles are limited to 10 pages including the main text, references, tables and figures. The manuscripts should summarize the current state of understanding on a particularly important topic in dentistry based on previously published data, preferably written by authoritative figures of that field. A minimum of 50 references must be cited. Authors are encouraged to use headings of their own choosing between Introduction and Conclusion sections.

This type of manuscript should be organized as follows:

- Title page
- Abstract & Keywords
- Introduction
- Conclusion
- Acknowledgements (optional)
- Source of funding
- Conflict of Interest
- References

Authors who are willing to submit a systematic review or a meta-analysis may use the same manuscript design as for the original research articles.

#### Letter to the Editor

Letters to the Editor are short articles (limited to 500 words and 5 references) in which readers can share their opinions and comment on articles published in the past 12 months. Authors should clearly cite the article to which they are referring. Letters will be evaluated by the Editor-in-Chief and, if accepted for publication, the author(s) of the original paper will be invited to submit a reply.

#### Acknowledgements

This section is optional. Authors must acknowledge all individuals who do not fulfill the requirements for authorship but who had contributed to the preparation of the manuscript by providing assistance in writing, literature search, data analysis and/or supply of materials.

#### Source of funding

This section is mandatory to be filled out. Financial support from any institutional, private or corporate sources must be disclosed. Clearly state the name of the funding organization, year and the project number:

"This study has been supported by a research grant from XXX foundation, university, government etc.. (project number: 2012/828128)

If you have no source of funding declaration to make, please write "None declared".

#### **Conflict of Interest**

This section is mandatory to be filled out. Any financial or personal activities (royalties, grants, consultancy fee, patent registration, ownership, employment) that could be perceived as potential conflicts of interests must also be disclosed.

Clearly state the names of the author(s) and organization(s) and the type of payment(s):

"Dr. Smith is a consultant for the company X / receives a consultancy fee from the company X." or "Until recently, Dr. Smith was in an employment relationship with the company Z.".

If you have no declaration to make, please write "None declared".

#### References

Eur Oral Res recommends the use of reference management software to ensure that the references are correctly formatted. All authors must be included in this section, in contrast to the in-text citations. Journal abbreviations should be formatted according to the PubMed - NLM Journal Title Abbreviations (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/journals). Au-



Official Publication of Istanbul University Faculty of Dentistry

thors are advised to consult a recent issue of the journal. Use single line spacing for this section. Please do not cite unpublished articles, abstracts, personal communications, non-scientific websites or documents such as pamphlets.

AUTHORS ARE RESPONSIBLE FOR SENDING THE FULL TEXT VERSIONS OF ANY CITED PA-PER OR TEXTBOOK AS PER THE REQUEST OF THE EUR ORAL RES EDITORIAL BOARD AND/ OR THE REVIEWERS.

AUTHORS ARE RESPONSIBLE FOR SENDING THE PROFESSIONAL ENGLISH TRANSLATION OF ANY NON-ENGLISH PAPER OR TEXTBOOK AS PER THE REQUEST OF THE EUR ORAL RES EDITORIAL BOARD AND/OR THE REVIEWERS.

#### **Journal Article in Print**

1. Burrow MF, Tagami J, Negishi T. Early tensile bone strengths of several enamel and dentin bonding systems. J Dent Res 1994; 74: 522-8.

#### Journal Article Electronic Publication Ahead of Print

 McKeage K. Tobramycin inhalation powder: a review of its use in the treatment of chronic pseudomonas aeruginosa infection in patients with cystic fibrosis. Drugs 2013; [Epub ahead of print] Available from: http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2 Fs40265-013-0141-0

#### Book

 Mueller HJ, Freeman D. FT-IR spectrometry in materiolography. 2nd Ed., Ohio: American Society for Metal 1994, p.51-56.

#### Chapter in a book

- 4. Alexander RG. Considerations in creating a beautiful smile. In: Romano R, editor. The art of the smile. London: Quintessence Publishing, 2005, p.187-210.
- Hudson FB, Hawcroft J. Duration of treatment in phenylketonuria. In: Seakins J, Saunders R, editors. Treatment of inborn errors of metabolism. London: Churchill Livingstone, 1973, p.51-56.

#### Thesis

6. Maden I. Effect Of Nd:YAG Laser Treatment In Addition To Scaling And Root Planning. Doctoral Dissertation, Istanbul University Institute of Health Sciences Periodontology Department, 2009.

#### **Tables, Figures and Legends**

Please set table format to custom borders, no vertical lines, no shades, no background colors, 3 pt line for top and bottom borders, 1 pt horizontal row lines, cell alignment center. Tables should be numbered consecutively with Arabic numerals in the order mentioned in the text. All tables must be included in the main body of the article and be placed near their first mention in the text. All tables should be self-explanatory. Please provide full explanation for abbreviations even if they were presented in the main text. Legends should be written in Times New Roman Italic font and be positioned right above the table.

Figures (photographs, graphs, charts, drawings, pictures, etc.) should be numbered consecutively with Arabic numerals in the order of mention in the text. High quality pictures with 300 dpi resolution in JPEG JPG, BMP, TIFF, PNG or PSD file formats are generally acceptable for publication. Drawings and shapes should be in vector format. All figures must be included in the main body of the article and be placed near their first mention in the text. Legends should be written in Times New Roman Italic font and be positioned below the figure.

Figure 1. Panoramic radiograph of the patient taken 6 months after surgery, note irregular borders of the lesion.

#### Submission checklist

- 1. "Manuscript Submission Form" signed by the corresponding author.
- "Copyright Transfer Agreement Form" signed by all authors.
- 3. "Disclosure of Potential Conflict of Interest Form" signed by all authors.
- 4. Title page
- 5. Abstract & Keywords page

- 6. Main text
- Tables, figures and their legends should be embedded in the main text and are not to be sent separately.

#### How to submit?

Eur Oral Res is only accepting electronic submissions. Manuscripts may be submitted by registering at https://mc04.manuscriptcentral.com/eores

#### Need assistance ?

Please contact editorial office by sending an e-mail to: dentistryeditor@istanbul.edu.tr or disdergi@istanbul.edu.tr

Postal address: İstanbul Üniversitesi Diş Hekimliği Fakültesi Dergisi İstanbul Üniversitesi Diş Hekimliği Fakültesi Kütüphanesi Dergi Yayın Kurulu Odası 34093 Çapa-Fatih, İSTAN-BUL/TURKEY

Phone: +90 212 414 20 20 (extension 30348) Fax: +90 212 414 25 70

#### What's next ?

If you have successfully submitted your forms and manuscript, please continue reading this document to know about the Eur Oral Res editorial process.

#### **General information**

Peer-review evaluation and publishing of articles submitted to Eur Oral Res are managed electronically through the online system via e-mail correspondence. Corresponding authors will be notified by e-mail upon receipt of a new manuscript and will have further information regarding the editorial process. It is the responsibility of the corresponding author to communicate with the other participants of the study about the submission of the manuscript, its content and authorship requirements.

#### Who makes the decisions ?

Eur Oral Res Editorial Board oversees the manuscript evaluation process. The Editor-in-Chief is the only person who can officially accept a paper.



Official Publication of Istanbul University Faculty of Dentistry

#### **Initial examination**

Editor-in-Chief and editorial assistants check the submission files to confirm the availability of the required documents. Please note that the Manuscript Submission Form, Copyright Transfer Agreement Form and Conflict of Interest Disclosure Form must be included in the original submission. Corresponding authors of incomplete submissions will be notified via e-mail. Editorial process cannot proceed until all relevant documents are signed and submitted electronically.

Careful manuscript preparation is the crucial part of peer-review process. Editorial assistants will evaluate the manuscript to ascertain conformity to the following standards: consistency to journal style, clear and concise writing, proper use of English grammar and spelling, technical quality, correct formatting of references and documentation of ethical conduct. All eligible manuscripts will also be scanned with anti-plagiarism software.

Manuscripts that fail to conform to journal expectations in any of the above mentioned issues will be returned to authors without review. This is a frequent cause of delay in the publication of articles and may even result in immediate rejection. All issues regarding the outline of the manuscript should be resolved before further evaluation. Manuscripts which pass the initial examination are presented to the Editorial Board by the Editor-in-Chief.

#### **Peer-review**

Eur Oral Res operates a double-blind peer review system. Identities of the Editorial Board members who perform the initial examination and those of the reviewers who evaluate the manuscript remain unknown to the authors. All manuscripts are treated as privileged information. Editorial Board members and reviewers are instructed to exclude themselves from reviewing any manuscripts that might involve a conflict of interest.

Editorial Board requests the opinion of, at least, two independent expert reviewers. Those who accept the invitation are expected to provide written critical reviews of the submission within 21 days of receipt. If one of the reviewers gives a negative feedback while the other's response is positive, Editor-in Chief or Editorial Board invites a third reviewer. Editor-in-Chief and Editorial Board reserve the right to obtain reports from biostatistics experts of their choosing at any time during the process, who might also suggest corrections in the manuscript.

21 day time limit will apply for the correction of the manuscript, at the end of which the corresponding author must return a revised version of the documents. Changes should be highlighted in red in the revised manuscript to facilitate reading. Authors should also provide itemized, point-by-point responses to reviewers' comments in a separate file. The manuscript will be automatically rejected if no answer has been received from the authors. If authors submit the revised paper after the time limit is reached, it will be treated as a new submission. Revised manuscripts will be re-evaluated by Editor-in-Chief and Editorial Board and will be sent back to reviewers.

Acceptance for publication requires at least, but not limited to, final positive responses from two reviewers. In light of their recommendations, the Editor-in-Chief and the Editorial Board members choose between the following options: "accept submission",

Table 1. Concise explanation of the table contents (SD: standard deviation, CTA: cartilage tissue           area, NBA: new bone area ).					
	Control group (Mean % ± SD %)	First group (Mean % ± SD %)	Second group (Mean % ± SD %)		
СТА	21.41 ± 4.2	2.5 ± 2.4	11.42 ± 4.2		
NBA	11.48 ± 0.2	21.41 ± 14.22	11.41 ± 4.2		

"revisions required", "resubmit for review" or "decline submission".

"Accept submission" indicates that the manuscript can be published as is. If there are "revisions required", all major changes in the manuscript must be confirmed by the reviewer who had originally suggested the revisions. In some cases, editorial team may think that your manuscript deserves re-evaluation after substantial changes which cannot be completed within reasonable time limits. Therefore, the editor may encourage authors to re-submit their manuscript by selecting "resubmit for review". Such conditions include, but not limited to, increasing the sample size, performing more statistical tests or correcting multiple errors that impede understanding. Re-submitted manuscripts will be treated as new submissions. On the other hand, if the "decline submission" decision has been reached, your manuscript has been found unsuitable for publication and you cannot submit the same manuscript to this journal.

An e-mail notification that includes the formal letter of approval will be sent to the corresponding author. Rejection e-mail will include reviewers' comments and suggestions. Accepted manuscripts will be forwarded to the publisher.

#### After acceptance

Production department transforms the manuscript files into an article and sends the galley proofs to the corresponding author via e-mail. All authors should carefully check the final PDF proof version of the article for minor punctuation or spelling errors, correct presentation and positioning of the tables, figures and their captions. Corrected page proofs should be returned via e-mail within 7 days of receipt. Major changes such as adding new paragraphs, changing the title or the name order of the authors and modifying visual elements will not be allowed at this stage.

#### Publication

Articles will normally appear in the order in which they were accepted as publication,



Official Publication of Istanbul University Faculty of Dentistry

however, Editor-in-Chief and Editorial Board reserve the right to modify this schedule in the presence of critical scientific issues.

To speed up the process, articles will be first published online, followed by the print version of the journal. Both versions will have identical page numbers. Therefore, no change can be made in the article in between the online and in print publication steps.

#### DOI number

Digital Object Identifier (DOI) number is a unique alphanumeric identifier assigned by a registration agency. Once it is assigned to an article, the DOI will never change, therefore, it is ideal for citing and linking electronic documents. Your article will be assigned a DOI number provided by the CrossRef registration agency, immediately after it is published online.

#### **Changes to authorship**

This statement concerns the addition, deletion, or rearrangement of author names in the authorship of accepted manuscripts. Requests to add or remove an author or to rearrange the author names must be sent to the Editor-in-Chief from the corresponding author of the accepted manuscript. This document must include: the reason the name should be added or removed, or the author names rearranged and written confirmation (e-mail, fax, letter) from all authors that they agree on the addition, removal or rearrangement. In the case of addition or removal of authors, written confirmation from the author being added or removed must be included. Requests that are not sent by the corresponding author will be forwarded by the Editor-in-Chief to the corresponding author, who must follow the procedure as described above. Production of the accepted manuscript is suspended until authorship has been agreed. The name and the order of the authors cannot be changed once the article is published online or in print.

#### Data access and retention

Authors may be asked to provide the raw data of their investigations during the editorial process or after publication of the article. Such materials include, but not limited to, original submission files, unedited versions of the printed and/or digital radiographs, unedited versions of the printed and/or digital photographs, histologic slides, original outputs from clinical and/or experimental diagnostic and/or interventional devices, original data sheets of statistical software and technical data sheets of any substance used in the research project. Authors should retain such materials for a reasonable period of time after the publication of their paper.

#### **Correction, Retraction & Removal**

A formal correction will be issued in the journal by the Editor-in-Chief, if only a small portion of otherwise reliable article is flawed in a way that does not severely affect the findings reported in it (such as mistakes in the spelling of a drug, miscalculation of a formula, mismatch between images and their captions or incorrect author list). Online articles will not be corrected directly. An erratum (for publishing error) or a corrigendum (for author error) will be published in the next issue of the journal.

Articles may be retracted by its authors or by the Editor-in-Chief under the advice of the scientific community. If authors are willing to retract an article before it is published (accepted or under review), requests must be sent to the Editor-in-Chief from the corresponding author of the manuscript. This document must include: the reason the article should be retracted and written confirmation (e-mail, fax, letter) from all authors that they agree on the retraction. Reasons for editorial retraction include, but not limited to, unreliable publications as a result of misconduct or honest error, redundant publication, major plagiarism, copyright infringement and unethical research. A formal retraction announcement written by the Editor-in-Chief will be published in the print edition of the journal. For online articles, the PDF pages remain with a watermark on each page to notify it is retracted.

In rare circumstances, an article can be completely removed from the online database. Such conditions include, but not limited to, defamation, infringement of legal rights, court orders and claims in the article that might pose serious health risks. Title and author names will remain in the web page while the text will be replaced by a notification indicating that the article has been removed for legal reasons.



Official Publication of Istanbul University Faculty of Dentistry

#### Contents

Original Research Articles
Clinical success rate of fissure sealants: One-year follow-up
Mine Koruyucu, Dilara Bektaş, Cengiz Aydınoğlu, Pelin Barlak, Figen Seymen
Effect of fixed dental prosthesis on the brain functions of partially edentulous patients – pilot study with power spectrum density analysis114 <i>Uddipta Prafulla Saikia, N. Gopi Chander, Muthukumar Balasubramanian</i>
A new dental casting technique for production of void-free dental models
Quality of communicating design features for cobalt chromium removable partial dentures in Riyadh, Saudi Arabia
Turkish adaptation and implementation of the modified infection control questionnaire in intraoral digital imaging130 <i>Melih Ozdede, Zuhre Akarslan, Bulent Altunkaynak, Ilkay Peker</i>
Evaluation of third molar agenesis associated with hypodontia and oligodontia in turkish pediatric patients
The effect of pain intensity levels and clinical symptoms on the treatment preferences of patients with endodontically involved teeth: A preliminary cross-sectional study
The effect of the Er: YAG laser on the clinical success of hydrophilic fissure sealant: a randomized clinical trial



Eur Oral Res 2020; 54(3): 109-113



Official Publication of Istanbul University Faculty of Dentistry

#### **Original research**

### Clinical success rate of fissure sealants: One-year follow-up\*

#### Purpose

The aim of this study is to evaluate clinical success rate of resin-based fissure sealants applied at Istanbul University, Department of Pediatric Dentistry after 1 year of application.

#### **Materials and Methods**

Children with at least one pair of caries-free permanent first molars with deep pits and fissures were included in the study. The ages of children ranged from 7-13 (mean age: 9.2±1.22). Resin-based fissure sealant was applied to the 322 fissures of the first permanent molars in 100 children. 12 months after the application, children were recalled for examination. Recall examinations were carried out by the same dentist. Fissure sealants were evaluated at 12th month by using Ryge criteria: Retention (R), precence of caries (PC), marginal adaptation (MA), marginal discoloration (MD) and cracking (C).

#### Results

12 months after the application, all of the children were recalled and fissure sealants were examinated. Our findigs are: R: Alpha 95 (29.5%), Bravo: 143 (44.4%), Charlie: 84 (26%); PC: Alpha 274, Bravo 48 (14.9%); MD: Alpha 322; MA: Alpha 279, Bravo 43 (13.3%); C: Alpha 321, Bravo 1 (0.3%).

#### Conclusion

The preventive effects of the sealant are only maintained as long as it remains completely intact and bonded in place. After applying fissure sealants, patients must be recalled and sealants must be checked to provide retention and marginal adaptation.

Keywords: Fissure sealant, Ryge criteria, Marginal adaptation, Retention

#### Introduction

The caries is a serious problem in dental health and researchers are still studying on preventive treatment of tooth decay formation. It is indicated that pits and fissures are the best preventive applications for dental caries (1,2).

A few years following eruption has the highest risk for the caries. Teeth are not in contact with their opposite along eruption, so it makes plaque accumulation. This period is about 1.5 years for first and second molar teeth and it is up to 1-2 months for premolar teeth. Molar teeth locate backward in mouth so it is difficult to brush them. All of these factors increase the rate of caries in molar teeth fissures and pits (3). As long as teeth contact with saliva, spit in calcium, magnesium, fluoride and other trace elements enable calcification by entering the enamel structure by diffusion. Therefore, it is more susceptible to decay after eruption for 2 years permenant teeth (4).

Tooth morphology is important to 'plaque formation and accumulation', 'clearance capability of saliva', 'dental hygiene'. Pit and fissure type are individualized. Decay susceptibility depends on verticality of tubercul bevel and depth of fissure (5,6). Because of these reasons, researchers are studying on capping these areas. Pit and fissure sealants are improved,

*How to cite:* Koruyucu M, Bektas D, Aydinoglu C, Barlak P, Seymen F. Clinical success rate of fissure sealants: one-year follow-up. Eur Oral Res 2020; 54(3): 109-113.

Mine Koruyucu<sup>1</sup> <sup>(</sup>), Dilara Bektaş<sup>1</sup> <sup>(</sup>), Cengiz Aydınoğlu<sup>2</sup> <sup>(</sup>), Pelin Barlak<sup>2</sup> <sup>(</sup>), Figen Seymen<sup>1</sup> <sup>(</sup>)

> ORCID IDs of the authors: M.K. 0000-0002-2077-5095; D.B. 0000-0002-0427-0679; C.A. 0000-0002-9172-0550; P.B. 0000-0001-8426-764X; F.S. 0000-0001-7010-2035

\* This research has been presented at the FDI Annual World Dental Congress, 28-31 August 2013 Istanbul, Turkey

<sup>1</sup> Istanbul University, Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Pedodontics, Istanbul, Turkey

<sup>2</sup>Private Practice, Istanbul, Turkey

Corresponding Author: Mine Koruyucu

E-mail: mine.yildirim@istanbul.edu.tr

Received: 15 January, 2018 Revised: 12 April, 2018 Accepted: 24 September, 2018

DOI: 10.26650/eor.20200572



This work is licensed under Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International License and some materials are used as polyurethane, cyanoacrylate, polycarboxcylate cements, glass ionomer cements and BIS-GMA based resin cement (7).

Fissure sealants prevent accumulation of food borne debris in fissures and pits which are prone to decay. Fissur sealants are classified according to their content, whether they have filler, their color, fluoride content and polymerization features (6,8).

Although occlusal surfaces are clothing the 12.5% area of tooth surface, it is seen that tooth decays occur in 50% rate on that surfaces among the school age children (1,2). About 1/3 rate of total amount of caries are in fissure and pits, 2/3 rate of them are seen in interfaces. Fissure color changes in occlussal caries. Enamel becomes more opaque and tooth color becomes darker. It is hard to see decay on radiograph before it becomes a deep dentine decay (8).

According to Nagano definition (9): U type: anatomically cleanable, so resistant to caries (a); I type: some types can come up to dentine so high risk for caries (b); V type: not deep like I type and less risk for caries (c); K type: high risk for caries (d) (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Morphological forms of fissures.

It is hard to clean deep fissures from food remnant and bacterias and fissure base line is near to dentinoenamel junction. Although in shallow fissure, enamel thickness is about 1.5-2 mm, this number may change to 0.2 mm. Remineralisation with fluoride can occur at pH 6.7-7.3. But in fissure it is more acidic through plaque. Remineralisation cannot occur at low pH.<sup>8</sup> This explains that occlusal surfaces are susceptible to decay (10,11).

The purpose of this study is to evaluate the clinical success of fissure sealants at the end of 12th month.

#### **Materials and Methods**

In our study, we evaluated 100 children between the ages 7-13 (mean 9.2±1.22) years and their completely erupted 322 first molars with fissure sealants which are applied in Istanbul University Faculty of Dentistry of Pediatric Dentistry Department students' clinics. The protocol of this study is approved by İstanbul University Faculty of Dentistry Medical Research Ethics Board (No:2013/104) and parents of children participating in the study were informed about the study and written informed consents were taken.

Fissure sealant applications were done by İstanbul University Faculty of Dentistry student clinic under the control of one pediatric dentist. Before the application of fissure sealants, each tooth was brushed with pumice-water slurry with polishing brush. After washing, the surface was dried with air-water spray, and was isolated with cotton rolls and saliva enjector insulation. Occlusal surface up to the tubercule hill was etched with 37% phosphoric acid (3M<sup>™</sup> ESPETM Scotchbond<sup>tm</sup> Etching Gel) for 30 seconds and then washed with water 30 seconds and dried with air freshener until it was obtained as chalky enamel image. After the enamel surface was prepared, fissure sealant material (3M<sup>™</sup> Sealant ESPE Clinpro<sup>Tm</sup>) were applied with disposable brush and polymerized 40 seconds with 40 seconds using a conventional visible light-curing unit (HILUX<sup>Tm</sup> 250 Halogen curing light). Occlusion was checked using articulation paper, the contact points on teeth were corrected under water cooling with grany diamond milling cutter to prevent overload formation and to ensure the durability of fissure sealants.

After 12 months, patients were called for follow-up and applied fissure sealants were controlled by mirror and sond. Teeth were dried lightly with air spray and occlusal surface were examined carefully. One year previously applied fissure sealants on the teeth with deep pit and fissures at the high risk which did not have caries or restorations were examined according to the Ryge criterias (Table 1) and the form was filled out for each patient.

Table 1. Clinical evaluation by Ryge Criterias.				
	ALPHA	Full retention		
Retention	BRAVO	Half retention		
	CHARLIE	Loss of full restoration		
Caries	ALPHA	No diagnosed caries		
presence	BRAVO	Diagnosed caries		
Ridge	ALPHA	Full ridge adaptation		
adaptation	BRAVO	Existance of space		
	ALPHA	No fracture		
Fracture	BRAVO	fractured		
	CHARLIE			
	ALPHA	No coloration between restoration and tooth		
Edge Coloration	BRAVO	Less than half of edge environment coloration		
	CHARLIE	More than half of edge environment coloration		

#### Results

The 12th month clinical value of the fissure sealants that were applied to the permenant first molars in study are shown in Table 2.

In this study, 322 fissure sealants were applied to 100 children and clinical evaluation of all sealants were made in compliance with Ryge criterias. The results of clinical examination were recorded separately for each tooth.

At the end of the 12th month, retention rate was determined; 95 (29.5 %) teeth had complete retention, 143 (44.4%) teeth had half retention and 84 (26%) teeth had completely lost the sealants. The presence of caries and tooth resto-

Table 2. 12-month clinical follow-up data according to the Ryge Criteria						
	Retention	Presence of caries	Marginal adaptation	Marginal coloration	Fracture	
	A-B-C	A-B	A-B	A-B-C	A-B	
N	95-143-84	274-48	279-43	322-0-0	321-1	
%	29.5-44.4-26	85.1-14.9	86.7-13.3	100-0-0	99.7-0.3	
A:Aplha B:Bravo C:Charlie N:Number of fissure sealants						

ration were observed in 48 (14.9%) teeth. 43 (13.3%) of 322 fissure sealants were observed with marginal adaptation disorder, only 1 (0.3%) was cracked (Figure 2, Figure 3).

In our study, no marginal discoloration of sealants is observed and recorded as Alpha all the teeth.



Figure 2. Appearance of datas as a percentage.



*Figure 3a,b.* A: ALPHA retantion B: BRAVO retantion C: CHARLIE retantion.

#### Discussion

Today, it is seen that light cure resin-based materials are widely used as a pit and fissure sealant. In this study, the light cure resin fissure sealant material is used.

It is reported that the most important criteria of the evaluation of the success of fissure sealant material are micromechanical connection between enamel surface and material and long-term retention. This retention depends on isolation of working area, material viscosity, preparation of enamel surface and using of adhesive systems (12). In assessment of the retention of fissure sealant, as we did in our study, the degree of the material's structural integrity; whether it is full retention, half retention or full loss is important (13,14).

At the beginning, partial retention of fissure sealants on occlusal surface was accepted as clinical success. During the period when the adhesive dentistry had started it was an optimistic approach, but two decades later studies showed that it was not true. It is shown that both the tooth which has partial retention and not applied fissure sealant have same susceptibility to caries (15,16). Conry *et al.* (17) reported that the sufficient fissure sealant material leaving deep fissure out or fissure sealant sharp fringe because of material breakage cause plaque involment and caries.

In a study by Simonse (18), the longest clinical follow-up study, fissure sealants are applied to permenant first molars, after 5 years 82% of them, after 10 years 57%, after 15 years 28%, provide full retention. After 15 years, 35% of fissure sealants continue as half retention. In 31% of teeth that fissure sealants are applied, decay or tooth restoration presence is observed and the decay rate of the teeth without fissure sealant is 83%. In this study, fissure sealants are applied only once and it is considered that decay rate can be brought close to zero by making regular checks and repairing of partial losses. When the researches examined, it is reported that the first permenant molars with fissure sealants are observed with failure rate of 5-10% per annum.

The study by Dennison *et al.*(19) reports that the highest failure of fissure sealants is observed in first six months so they should be followed at least six months. In this study the retention rates were compared to previous studies, the success of the resin materials was found to be at lower values.

Majere and Major (20), using resin-based fissure sealants in clinical studies, reported that they observed approximately 90% rate of complete retention at the end of five years. In a study by Elbay *et al.* (21) the time of retention of seven different fissure sealants followed by a year, they observed that resin-based sealants stated in a retention rate of at least 85%. In this study, after one-year follow-up full retention rate was found as 29.5%.

In a study Gazi University Faculty of Dentistry concluded in 2012, it is evaluated the 1st,3rd,6th,12th,24th month clinical success of resin-based and glass ionomer-based fissure sealants done by grade 5 students are evaluated. The result of an annual review, 57 (38.5%) of 143 resin-based fissure sealants are observed with full retention, 66 (46.1%) with partial retention and 20 (13.5%) with total loss. In glass ionomer-based 145 fissure sealants are observed as 47 (35.1%) with full retention, 58 (40%) with partial retention, 40 (27%) with total loss. The presence of decay or restoration are detected in only 5 (3.3%) of the 143 resin-based fissure sealants and in 3 of the glass ionomer-based sealants (2%) are identified with decay or restoration (22). The retention rate we have achieved as a result of this study are similar to these rates.

Adequate moisture control is known to be crucial to the success of making a fissure sealant application. Controlling the humidity is releated to the eruption level of teeth, the patient's ability to cooperation, material and isolation method. To provide isolation for non-full-erupted tooth is difficult and possibility of communication with noncoopere children is considered. Resin-based materials exhibit more technical

precision than polyacid based materials because of its hydrophobic structure (5,9).

The acidified and washed adhesive systems are commonly used in the fissure sealant application. Phosphoric acid is accepted as a standard method for etching enamel surface. However, it is no longer possible to remove microbial dental plaque and remnants, washing after etching to remove acid forms an unpleasant taste in the mouth, and so it is reported that it may cause undesired behavior in pediatric patients (23). Therefore, fissure sealants that do not require isolation or washing during the process and with less technique sensitivity are developed to ensure retention (24).

In a study by Bendinskaite *et al.* (25), they reported that no significant difference was found in 5 years follow-up between etching used in enamel preparation and air abrasion technique. In another study, it is evaluated that the fissure sealants applied following acid etching, ER, Cr:YSGG laser application showed similar retention value in 18 months follow-up. It also focused on how effective etching duration for clinical success. Duggal et al. (26) conducted a study of 264 permenant first molars. The application of fissure sealants was done with different etching duration as 15,30,45,60 seconds. After 6 months and 1 year follow-up, they concluded that different etching duration did not affect the retention of fissure sealants.

To achieve ideal penetration, covering the pit and fissures, and marginal adaptation for fissure sealants, another required factor is material viscosity. In a study by Irinoya *et al.* (27), they evaluated the effect of viscosity and they reported that low viscosity fissure sealant had better penetration compared to high viscosity. However, Barnes *et al.* (28) concluded that viscosity was not important for covering success of material, so instead of modification of the material the surface energy of enamel can be changed for clinical success.

#### Conclusion

To achieve success in the clinical application of fissure sealants, besides right diagnosis, it is important to apply manifacturer's instructions and be careful in every stage. Good isolation must especially be provided, regular dental examination should be done and appliance should be repeated to the teeth which do not show full retention so that the effectiveness of fissure sealant continues. It should especially be emphasized for parents that it is important to bring their children to control appointments for their oral dental health.

Türkçe Özet: Fissür Örtücülerin Klinik Başarısı: 1 Yıllık Takip. Amaç: Bu çalışmanın amacı İstanbul Üniversitesi Diş Hekimliği Fakültesi Pedodonti Anabilim Dalı kliniğinde uygulanan fissür örtücülerin bir yıl sonundaki klinik başarısının değerlendirilmesidir. Gereç ve Yöntem: Bu çalışma derin pit ve fissürlere sahip, fissürlerinde herhangi bir restorasyon ya da çürük bulunmayan, yaşları 7 ile 13 (ort. 9.29.2±1.22).) arasında değişen 100 çocuk üzerinde gerçekleştirilmştir. 322 adet birinci büyük azı dişine fissür örtücü uygulanmıştır. Fissür örtücüler tek bir hekim tarafından ayna ve sond yardımıyla 12. ayın sonunda değerlendirilmiştir. Her bir fissür örtücünün değerlendirilme kriterleri, Ryge kriterleri kulanılarak retansiyon (R), çürük varlığı (PC), kenar uyumu (MA), kenar renkleşmesi (MD) ve çatlak (C) olarak belirlenmiştir. Bulgular: Tüm çocuklar kontrollere çağrılarak fissür örtücülerin tamamı aşağıdaki şekilde incelenmiş, elde edilen bulgulara göre: R: Alpha 95 (%29.5), Bravo 143 (%44.4), Charlie 84 (%26); PC: Alpha 274; Bravo 48 (14.9) ; MD: Alpha 322; MA: Alpha 279, Bravo 43 (%13.3); C: Alpha 321 Bravo 1 (%0.3) olarak değerlendirilmiştir. Sonuç: Fissür örtücülerin klinik başarısı, uygulandığı yüzeye retansiyonunu kaybetmediği sürece sağlanmaktadır. Fissür örtücü uygulamasından sonra hastalar düzenli aralıklarla muayene edilmeli, fissür örtücüler retansiyon ve kenar uyumu açısından değerlendirilmelidir. Anahtar Kelimeler: Fissür örtücü, Ryge kriterleri, marjinal adaptasyon, retansiyon

**Ethics Committee Approval:** The protocol of this study is approved by İstanbul University Faculty of Dentistry Medical Research Ethics Board (No:2013/104) and parents of children participating in the study were informed about the study and written informed consents were taken.

**Informed Consent:** The informed consents were provided by the parents and/or guard,ans of the participants.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

**Author contributions:** MK and FS participated in design of the study. MK, CA and PB participated in generating the data for the study. MK and PB participated in gathering the data for the study. CA and PB participated in the analysis of the data. MK and DB wrote the majority of the original draft of the paper. MK and DB participated in writing the paper. All authors approved the final version of this paper.

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors had no conflict of interest to declare.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that they have received no financial support.

#### References

- Brown LJ, Kaste LM, Selwitz RH, Furman LJ. Dental Caries and Sealant Usage In U.S.Children. 1988–1991:selected findings from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. J Am Dent Assoc 1996;127(3):335-343. [CrossRef]
- Kaste L, Selwitz R, Oldakowski R, Brunelle J, Winn D, Brown L. Coronal caries in the primary and permanent dentition of children and adolescents 1– 17 years of age. United States. 1988–1991. J Dent Res 1996;75:631-641. [CrossRef]
- 3. Dennison JB, Straffon LH, Smith RC. Effectiveness of sealant treatment over five years in an insured population. JADA 2000;131(5):597-605. [CrossRef]
- 4. Mcdonald R. E; Avery D. R; Dentistry for the Child and Adolescence, 5. Ed, Mosby/ St Louis 1988;226-227.
- 5. Welbury R, Raadal M, Lygidakis NA. EAPD guidelines for the use of pit and fissure sealants. Eur J Pediatr Dent 2004;5:179-184.
- 6. Bodreau GE, Jerge CR. The efficacy of sealant treatment in the prevention of pit and fissure dental caries. J Am Dent Assoc 1976;92(2):383-387. [CrossRef]
- 7. Symons AL, Chu CY, Meyers IA. The effect of fissure morphology and pretreatment of the enamel surface on penetration and adhesion of fissure sealants. J Oral Rehabil 1996;23:791798. [CrossRef]
- 8. Hicks MJ, Flaitz CM. Occlusal Caries Formation in-vitro: Comparison on resin mod GIC with Flouride-Releasing Sealant. J Clin Pediatr Dent 2000;24(4):309-314. [CrossRef]
- 9. Cekemoğlu B: Ankara İlinde Daimi Birinci Büyük Azı Dişlerinin Oklüzal Yüzeylerinin Sağlık Durumunu Yansıtan Bulguların Sürme Düzeyi, Plak Miktarı ve Fissür Morfolojisi ile İlişkisinin Değerlendirilmesi. Doctorate Thesis Ankara University, Ankara 2007.
- Benham AW, Campbell PM, Buschang PH. Effectiveness of pit and fissure sealants in reducing white spot lesions during orthodontic treatment. Angle Orthod 2009;79(2):338-345. [CrossRef]
- 11. Oong EM, Griffin SO, Kohn WG, Gooch BF, Caufield PW: The effect of denatl sealants on bacteria levels in caries lesions: a review of the evidence. J Am Dent Assoc 2008;139:271278. [CrossRef]
- 12. Yazici AR, Karaman E, Baseren M, Tuncer D, Yazici E, Unluer S. Clinical evaluation of a nanofilled fissure sealant placed

with different adhesive systems: 24-month results. Oper Dent 2009;34:642-647. [CrossRef]

- Morphis TL, Toumba KJ. Retention of two fluoride pit and fissure sealants in comparison to a conventional sealant. Int J Paediatr Dent 1998;8(3):203-208. [CrossRef]
- 14. Poulsen S, Beiruti N, Sadat N. A comparison of retention and the effect on caries of fissure sealing with a glassionomer and a resin-based sealant. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol 2001;29:298-301. [CrossRef]
- Horowitz HS, Heifetz SP, Poulson S. Retention and effectiveness of a single application of an adhesive sealant in preventing occlusal caries: Final report after five years of study in Kalispell, Montana. J Am Dent Assoc 1977;95(6):1133-1139. [CrossRef]
- Mertz-Fairhurst EJ, Fairhurst CW, Williams JE, Della- Giustina VE, Brooks JD: A comparative clinical study of two pit and fissure sealants: 7-year results in Augusta, Georgia. J Am Dent Assoc 1984;109:252-255. [CrossRef]
- 17. Conry JP, Pintado MR, Douglas WH. Quantitative changes in fissure sealant six months after placement. Pediatr Dent 1990;12(3):162-167.
- 18. Simonsen RJ. Pit and fissure sealant: Review of the literature. Pediatr Dent 2002;24(5):393-414.
- 19. Dennison JB, Straffon LH, More FG. Evaluating tooth eruption on sealant efficacy. J Am Dent Assoc 1990;121(5):610-614. [CrossRef]
- 20. Mejare I, Mjör IA. Glass ionomer and resin-based fissure sealants; a clinical study. Scand J Dent Res 1990;98:345-350. [CrossRef]

- Elbay M, Şener Y, Tosun G. Yedi farklı fissür örtücünün retansiyon süreleri: Bir yıllık klinik takip SÜ Dişhek Fak Derg 2009;18:259-264.
- 22. Odabaş M. E. The succes rates of a glass ionomer cement and a resin-based fissure sealant placed by fifth-year undergraduate dental students. Eur Arc Paedi Dent 2012;13:94-97. [CrossRef]
- 23. Burrow MF, Makinson OF. Pits and fissures: remnant organic debris after acid-etching. ASDC J Dent Child 1990;57(5):348-351.
- 24. Moshonov J, Stabholz A, Zyskind D, Sharlin E, Peretz B. Acid etched and erbiumyttrium aluminium garnet laser-treated enamel for fissure sealants: a comparison of microleakage. Int J Paediatr Dent 2005;15:205-209. [CrossRef]
- 25. Bendinskaite R, Peciuliene, Brukiene V. A five years clinical evaluation of sealed occlusal surfaces of molars. Stomatologija 2010;12(3):87-92.
- 26. Duggal MS, Tahmassebi JF, Toumba KJ, Mavromati C. The effect of different etching times on the retention of fissure sealants in second primary and first permanent molars. Int J Paediatr Dent 1997;7(2): 81-86. [CrossRef]
- 27. Irinoda Y, Matsumura Y, Kito H, Nakano T, Toyama T, Nakagaki H, Tsuchiya T. Effect of sealant viscosity on the penetration of resin into etched human enamel. Oper Dent 2000;25(4):274-282.
- 28. Barnes DM, Kihn P, von Fraunhofer JA, Elsabach A. Flow characteristics and sealing ability of fissure sealants. Oper Dent 2000;25(4):306-310.



Eur Oral Res 2020; 54(3): 114-118



Official Publication of Istanbul University Faculty of Dentistry

### **Original research**

# Effect of fixed dental prosthesis on the brain functions of partially edentulous patients – pilot study with power spectrum density analysis

#### Purpose

This study was done to analyse the influence of fixed dental prosthesis (FDP) on brain function by analysing power spectral density of partially edentulous patients.

#### **Materials and Methods**

The study included unilateral missing mandibular molar replacement patients. The patients were restored with three-unit metal ceramic FDP restorations. The cognitive function was analysed with a mental state questionnaire. Power spectral density (PSD) analysis of EEG alpha waves was made pre- treatment, post treatment and 3 months after FDP treatment to analyse the brain function. The data in various phases were obtained before and after chewing. The results were statistically analysed.

#### Results

The mean pre and post treatment PSD was 0.0175 (SD  $\pm$ 0.0132) and 0.0178 (SD  $\pm$ 0.0135). The mean post treatment PSD after three months was 0.024 (SD $\pm$  0.019). The results were analysed with repeated ANOVA and were statistically significant. (p<0.01).

#### Conclusion

The study displayed improvement in brain function of partially edentulous patients with FDP rehabilitation.

*Keywords:* Brain activity; Electroencephalogram; Fixed dental prosthesis; Power spectral density; Cognition; Fast Fourier Transform

#### Introduction

Efficient health care systems equipped with reliable diagnostic and treatment measures have improved the quality of life (QOL) (1). Average life expectancy of individuals has increased over the years and this occurrence is identified as "population ageing (2,3).

There are many underlying causes of neurodegenerative diseases, Alzheimer's disease (AD) being the most common one. Pathology of AD according to strong genetic and clinical evidence is due to cumulative neurotoxicity. In patients, symptoms start gradually but eventually develop severe enough to interfere with activities of daily life (4). Electroencephalographic (EEG) signals of neurodegenerative disease patients are generally less synchronous than in age matched control subjects. Researchers have described that tooth loss can be a risk factor for brain function deterioration and mild memory impairment which could progress to dementia in later life (5).

Researches had been done to analyse the effect of complete denture and dental implant on brain function improvement (6, 7, 8). But the effect of brain function on early interventional replacement of the missing teeth

*How to cite:* Saikia UP, Chander GN, Balasubramanian M. Effect of fixed dental prosthesis on the brain functions of partially edentulous patients – pilot study with power spectrum density analysis. Eur Oral Res 2020; 54(3): 114-118.

Uddipta Prafulla Saikia<sup>1</sup><sup>®</sup>, N. Gopi Chander<sup>1</sup><sup>®</sup>, Muthukumar Balasubramanian<sup>1</sup><sup>®</sup>

ORCID IDs of the authors: U.P.S. 0000-0002-5683-5715; N.G.C. 0000-0002-2040-4550; M.B. 0000-0002-4022-6456

<sup>1</sup>Department of Prosthodontics, SRM Dental College, Ramapuram, Chennai, Tamilnadu, India

Corresponding Author: N. Gopi Chander

E-mail: drgopichander@gmail.com

Received: 19 October 2018 Revised: 26 March 2019 Accepted: 25 May 2019

DOI: 10.26650/eor.20200032



This work is licensed under Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International License with fixed dental prosthesis (FDP) has not been analysed. It is important to interpret the effect of FDP on brain function and to verify if early rehabilitation of missing teeth could depict any significant change in electro encephalographic reading. This study evaluated the effectiveness of FDP on brain function by studying its power spectral density (PSD).

#### **Materials and Methods**

The study proposal was approved by Institutional Review Board. The study was conducted in the Department after obtaining the patient consent. The study had a definitive inclusion and exclusion criteria in recruiting the participants. Power of the study was determined to be 95% power with 5% alpha error. 15 Healthy individuals between 25 to 35 years with missing right first molar in mandible for duration of two months with completely healed socket, requiring dental prosthesis for the first time were considered. On examination subjects were excluded if they demonstrated any prior systemic conditions with oral manifestations, already existing fixed dental prosthesis, complete edentulism, temporo-mandibular disorder, bruxism and prior use of removable partial denture. Patients suffering from diabetes, any neuromuscular disorder affecting the chewing efficiency and patients already suffering from cognitive disorders were also excluded from the study. EEG recordings had to be made for each patient before and after the prosthetic treatment. After the explanation of research procedure, fifteen patients were selected for the study and an informed consent was collected from each patient.

Before EEG recording hair-wash was advised for the patients with shampoo to keep the hair dry for EEG recording. Patients were advised sufficient sleep of at least 8 hours the night before the procedure. Patients were asked to maintain abstention from caffeinated product for eight hours before the test. Recordings were done with the subjects seated in a resting position. "10-20 electrode placement system" was employed for the procedure which is a standardisation for electrode placement. This standardisation was provided by the international federation in electroencephalography (IFCN) and clinical neurophysiology (9). EEG recordings were made in three stages. First part of EEG was taken before the treatment; second part one day after the cementation of the FDP and final EEG was recorded three months after the treatment completion. The subjects were seated in a resting position with their hands resting on the thighs and eyes closed. Stable EEGs were detected and recordings were made for 20 minutes. Each time same procedure was followed for all patients. EEG recordings were taken after chewing paraffin gum (saliva-check kit, GC Corporation, Japan) for three minutes followed by one minute of rest. Signal sampling was done at 256 samples per second with 16-bit resolution. The data obtained with this procedure was compared with the data attained one day after the FDP cementation and three months post cementation to analyse presence of any difference (8). (Figure 1 and 2)

3 Unit FDP with metal ceramic restoration was cemented for each patient. Algorithm testing was done using single channel (C3-P3) recording alpha waves of the greatest amplitude. The data were pre-processed computing average spectrum with 50% overlap in the epoch signal to find the peak





Figure 1. Flow chart of study procedure.

Placement of electrodes on

previously prepared site



Figure 2. Procedure of EEG data acquisition.

of the spectrum. Power line noise and movements during EEG recording resulted in artefacts requiring filtration of the acquired data. EEG signal baseline wanders was corrected in the LAB VIEW platform and signal amplitude was quantified to micro volts. A digital low pass finite impulse response (FIR) filter was used to filter the EEG signal. Power line noises were removed using hamming window technique and filtered EEG segments were selected for analysis. Spectral analysis was approximation of power from the observation of the signal over time. Fast Fourier transformation (FFT) was used for every two second window with an overlap of one second

of the signal to achieve the power spectrum of the signal.

PSD portrays the signal power distribution over frequency. It expresses the variations of strong and weak frequency. The establishment of strong frequency in relation to time aids in further computation analysis. The computation of PSD is done through Fourier transformation. The equation for FFT is given in equation formula

X (k) = 
$$\sum_{k=1}^{N-1} x(n) W_N^{kn}$$
: k = 0,..., N-1

As,

$$W_{N} = e^{-j\frac{2\pi}{N}}$$

For one value of 'k' observe that the multiplication of x(n)and wkn as done for 'N' times, since n=0 to N-1. That is there are 'N' complex multiplications for one value of k. since, 'k' also has 'N' values (since k=0,1,...,N-1)

Spectral analysis is the distribution of power over frequency. EEG signals obtained from the patients provided for the spectral analysis of various signals. This resulted in useful materials for diagnosis. A random signal had finite average power and, therefore, could be characterized by an average power

spectral density as in Eqn.  $PSD_f(u) = \lim_{T \to \infty} \frac{|F|}{|F|}$ 

where F (w) XT represent the FFT output. T is the total duration of the input signal.

Digitalisation of the recorded EEG was done to collect the EDF (European data format) for further investigation. The data was transferred to the software (eeglab software, for pre-processing followed by selection of the suitable segment which was analysed to obtain the power spectral density value (PSD). For each patient three PSD values were made before treatment, one day after cementation of the FDP and three months after treatment. The PSD values were compared to observe the difference (Figure 3-8).

#### Result

The values for power spectral density were categorized as, "Pre-treatment EEG PSD value", "Post-treatment EEG PSD value one day after FDP cementation" and "Post-treatment EEG PSD Value after three months". The values increased with the post treatment phase in many patients (Table 1). The mean pre-treatment PSD was 0.0175 and post treatment PSD was 0.0178. The three months post-treatment PSD measure was 0.024. The mean PSD values increased with the post treatment with FDP treatments (Table 2).

A repeated measures ANOVA was conducted to analyse the influence of FDP on brain function by analysing power spectral density of partially edentulous patients. There was a significant effect of FDP on brain function, Wilks' Lambda =0.517, F (2,13) = 6.065, p=0.014 (Table 3). The Mauchly's test of sphericity showed that assumptions were met,  $\chi$ 2(2) = 66.313 (Table 4). There was a significant effect with post **Table 1.** Pre and Post treatment PSD values obtained from EEG analysis (relative units)

SI. No.	Pre- treatment PSD Value	Post-treatment PSD Value one day after Cementation	Post-treatment PSD Value three months after FPD Cementation
1	0.004	0.003	0.005
2	0.004	0.004	0.006
3	0.010	0.010	0.011
4	0.010	0.012	0.013
5	0.021	0.022	0.041
6	0.010	0.010	0.012
7	0.012	0.013	0.015
8	0.014	0.014	0.016
9	0.013	0.013	0.015
10	0.046	0.047	0.058
11	0.010	0.010	0.013
12	0.028	0.029	0.045
13	0.045	0.047	0.060
14	0.012	0.012	0.013
15	0.021	0.021	0.045

#### Table 2. Descriptive statistics

	Mean	Standard Deviation	Ν
Pre restorative EEG PSD Value	0.175	0.013	15
Post restorative EEG PSD Value one month after FDP Cementation	0.178	0.013	15
Post restorative EEG PSD Value three month after FDP Cementation	0.0245	0.018	15

#### Table 3. Multivariate Tests

Multivariate Tests							
Value	F	Hypothesis df	Error df	Sig.			
0.483	6.065a	2.000	13.000	0.014			
0.517	6.065a	2.000	13.000	0.014			
0.933	6.065a	2.000	13.000	0.014			
0.933	6.065a	2.000	13.000	0.014			
	Value           0.483           0.517           0.933	Wultivation           Value         F           0.483         6.065a           0.517         6.065a           0.933         6.065a           0.933         6.065a	Value         F         Hypothesis df           0.483         6.065a         2.000           0.517         6.065a         2.000           0.933         6.065a         2.000	Value         F         Hypothesis of         Error of           0.483         6.065a         2.000         13.000           0.517         6.065a         2.000         13.000           0.933         6.065a         2.000         13.000           0.933         6.065a         2.000         13.000			

treatment FDP on brain function, Greenhouse-Geiser (F (2, 28) = 11.729, p = .004) (Table 5). The tests showed significant effect of brain function in post treatment (mean = 0.245, SD = 0.018) compared to pre- treatment (mean = 0.175, SD= 0.013). However, 1-month post treatment showed less significant effect (mean = 0.178, SD= 0.013) in comparison with

Table 4. Mauchly's Test of Sphericity							
Mauchly's Test of Sphericity							
Within	Mauchly/c	0			Epsilon		
Subjects Effect	W	Chi-Square	df	Sig.	Greenhouse- Geisser	Huynh- Feldt	Lower-bound
factor 1	0.006	66.313	2	0.000	0.502	0.502	0.500

 Table 5. Tests of Within-Subject Effects

#### **Tests of Within Subjects Effects**

Source	Type III Sum of squares	Df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
factor 1 Sphericity Assumed	0.000	2	0.000	11.729	0.000
Greenhouse-Geisser	0.000	1.003	0.000	11.729	0.004
Huynh-Feldt	0.000	1.004	0.000	11.729	0.004
Lower-bound	0.000	1.000	0.000	11.729	0.004
Error (factor 1) Sphericity Assumed	0.001	28	2.003E-5		
Greenhouse-Geisser	0.001	14.043	3.994E-5		
Huynh-Feldt	0.001	14.053	3.991E-5		
Lower-bound	0.001	14.000	5.006E-5		

pre-treatment. The results displayed improved brain function with FDP treatment in partially edentulous situation.

#### Discussion

Prosthodontic treatment and outcome have a direct influence on patient's satisfaction and expected to lay an impact for entire life time (10). Weijenberg et al (2) stated that index for QOL has a direct correlation between masticatory capability and cognitive disorder. The studies have revealed evidence of tooth loss and interference in mastication leading to memory loss, learning inability and eventual decline in QOL.

Morphological and physiological studies have proven that early tooth loss have greatly resulted in chronic stress and elevated levels of corticosterone. This eventually results alteration in the hippocampus and in due course leads to reduced capacity in spatial learning and memory. Tucha et al (11) observed the effect of gum chewing improved the cognitive functions, skill and memory. Allen et al suggested that duration of chewing could be a key moderator on health, attentiveness and reduction of chronic stress (12). Kamiya et al proposed that that prolonged rhythmic gum chewing causes improved function by suppressed nociceptive flexon reflex via serotonergic (5-HT) descending inhibitory pathway (13). Edentulous or partially edentulous state has a direct effect on cognitive impairment and early rehabilitation of defective teeth is required (14). Epidemiological data implicate a positive correlation between masticatory deficit and neurological diseases. Improved chewing capability has important implications for the mechanisms underlying certain cognitive abilities (15). The mean PSD in this study was 0.0175, 0.0178, and 0.024. It increased with pre to post treatment with FDP. The result of the study is indicative of improved brain function with the restoration of missing teeth with FDP.

Electroencephalographic (EEG) measurements are commonly used for brain function research. Loss of EEG synchronicity can be interpreted as early onset of AD (16). Tamura et al (17) studies with fMRIs resulted in major artefacts. Valipour et al (18), Vialatte et al (19) displayed the use of EEG and PSD in obtaining improved data when compared to other methods . PSD is an established method of evaluating EEG (9,19,20) and spectral parameters can be achieved from all available EEG machines. The use of spatial filters, canonical correlation analysis (CCA) and blind source separation technique (BSS) can effectively reduce the artefacts that might arise with this technique (21).

Hosoi et al (22) observed a positive connection between improved occlusal function and enhanced brain activity in complete denture. The analysis stated the brain functional activity improved of complete and partial denture prosthesis. De Cicco et al (23) explained that the implant-prosthesis therapy can reduce the unbalance of trigeminal proprioceptive afferents and the asymmetry in pupil's size, improving performance in a complex sensor motor task. Kamiya et al (24) elucidated that intrinsic prefrontal activation during chewing with a denture may prevent prefrontal depression induced by tooth loss in edentulous patients. This study had increase in post treatment PSD values in partially edentulous patients. Similar changes of increase were observed by Praveen et al (8) in brain function post treatment in edentulous patients with complete denture prosthesis. This study was supportive in accordance to earlier studies that the replacement of teeth can improve the PSD and the brain function activity.

This study makes a positive impact on QOL with teeth replacement (25). The importance of early replacement of teeth can be stressed with the result of this study. This study was limited to localised population, larger sample size and evaluation of multi-centric population is necessary to legitimate the findings. Rehabilitation of single missing molar with FDP followed in this study can be considered as initial benchmark for comparative evaluation on brain. Additional investigations and studies in terms of multiple missing teeth rehabilitation with FDP, implants and removable prosthesis are required in future.

#### Conclusion

Within the limitations of the study, it can be concluded that, the mean power spectral density value of post treatment alpha waves recorded is higher in comparison with pre-treatment mean value. Early rehabilitation of missing teeth with FDP facilitate improved brain function.

Türkçe Özet: Sabit dental protezlerin parsiyel dişsiz hastalardın beyin fonksiyonlarına etkisi- spektral güç yoğunluğu analizi ile pilot çalışma. Amaç: Bu çalışma, sabit dental protezlerin (SDP) parsiyel dişsiz hastalardın beyin fonksiyonlarına etkisini analiz etmek için yapılmıştır. Gereç ve Yöntem: Çalışmaya tek taraflı alt çene azı eksikliği olan hastalar dahil edilmiştir. Hastalar, üç üye metal seramik SDP restorasyonları ile tedavi edilmiştir. Kavramsal fonskiyon mental durum anketi ile analiz edilmiştir. EEG alfa dalgalarınon spektral güç yoğunluğu (SGY) analizi tedaviden önce, tedaviden sonra v eve tedavişden 3 ay sonra beyin fonksiyonlarını analiz etmek için yapılmıştır. Değişik fazlardaki data, çiğneme öncesi ve sonrası elde edilmiştir. Sonuçlar istatistiksel olarak analiz edilmiştir. Bulgular: Tedavi öncesi ve sonrası ortalama SGY 0.0175 (SS  $\pm$ 0.0132) and 0.0178 (SS  $\pm$ 0.0135) bulunmuştur. Üç ay sonraki ortalama SGY 0.024 (SS± 0.019) bulunmuştur. Sonuçlar tekrar eden ANOVA ile analizedilmiştir ve istatistiksel olarak anlamlı bulunmuştur (P < 0.01). Sonuç: Bu çalışmada sabit dental protezlerin (SDP) parsiyel dişsiz hastalardın beyin fonksiyonlarını arttırdığı tespit edilmiştir. Anahtar kelimeler: Beyin aktivitesi, Elektroensefalogram, Sabit dental protez, spektral güç yoğunluğu, kavramsal, hızlı forier dönüşüm

**Ethics Committee Approval:** The study proposal was approved by Institutional Review Board.

Informed Consent: Participants provided informed constent.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

**Author contributions:** Author contributions: UPS and NGC designed the study. UPS and NGC participated in generating the data for the study. UPS and NGC participated in gathering the data for the study. UPS, NGC and MB participated in the analysis of the data. UPS and NGC wrote the majority of the original draft of the paper. UPS participated in writing the paper. All authors approved the final version of this paper.

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors had no conflict of interest to declare.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that they have received no financial support.

**Acknowledgements:** The authors thanks Dr. J. Ramesh Reddy, SRM Dental College, Ramapuram, Chennai, for his support.

#### References

- 1. Chanana HB, Talwar PP. Aging in India: Its socioeconomic and health implications. Asia Pac Popul J 1987;2(3):23-38. [CrossRef]
- 2. Weijenberg RA, Scherder EJ, Lobbezoo F. Mastication for the mind— The relationship between mastication and cognition in ageing and dementia. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 2011;35(3):483-97. [CrossRef]
- 3. Bandodkar KA, Aras M. Psychological considerations for complete denture patients. J Indian ProsthodontSoc 2007;7:71-6. [CrossRef]
- Backman L, Jones S, Bergere AK, Laukka J, Small BJ. Multiple cognitive deficits during the transition to Alzheimer's disease. J Intern Med 2004;256:195–204. [CrossRef]

- Okamoto N, Morikawa M, Okamoto K, Habu N, Iwamoto J, Tomioka K, Saeki K, Yanagi M, Amano N, Kurumatani N. Relationship of tooth loss to mild memory impairment and cognitive impairment: findings from the fujiwara-kyo study. Behav brain funct 2010;6(1):1. [CrossRef]
- Masakazu. Influence of the Functional Improvement of Complete Dentures on Brain Activity. J Jpn Prosthet Soc 2008; 52:194-199. [CrossRef]
- 7. Okamoto N. Effect of occlusal support by implant prostheses on brain function. J prosthodont Res 2011;55(4):206-13. [CrossRef]
- Acharya JN, Hani A, Cheek J, Thirumala P, Tsuchidak TN. American Clinical Neurophysiology Society Guideline 2: Guidelines for Standard Electrode Position Nomenclature. J ClinNeurophysiol 2016;33: 308–311. [CrossRef]
- 9. Perumal P, Chander GN, Anitha KV, Reddy JR, Muthukumar B. Power spectrum density analysis for the influence of complete denture on the brain function of edentulous patients - pilot study. J Adv Prosthodont 2016;8(3):187-93. [CrossRef]
- Sangappa SB. Patient satisfaction in prosthodontic treatment: multidimensional paradigm. J Indian Prosthodont Soc 2012;12(1):21-6. [CrossRef]
- 11. Tucha L, Koerts J. Gum chewing and cognition: an overview. NeurosciMedi 2012;3(03):243. [CrossRef]
- 12. Allen AP, Smith AP. A review of the evidence that chewing gum affects stress, alertness and cognition. J BehavNeurosci Res 2011;9(1):7-23.
- Kamiya K, Fumoto M, Kikuchi H, Sekiyama T, Mohri-Lkuzawa Y, Umino M, Arita H. Prolonged gum chewing evokes activation of the ventral part of prefrontal cortex and suppression of nociceptive responses: involvement of the serotonergic system. J Med Dent Sci 2010;57(1):35-43.
- Hioki Y, Iinuma M, Kurata C, Ichihashi Y, Tamura Y, Kubo KY. Effects of early tooth loss on the hippocampus in senescenceaccelerated mice. Pediatr Dent J 2009;19(2):196-205. [CrossRef]
- Iinuma M, Kondo H, Kurahashi M, Ohnishi M, Tamura Y, Chen H, Kubo KY. Relationship between the early toothless condition and hippocampal functional morphology. Anat&Physiol: Current Research 2014;18;2014. [CrossRef]
- Teixeira FB, Fernandes LD, Noronha PT, dos Santos MA, Gomes-Leal W, Maia CD, Rodrigues R. Masticatory deficiency as a risk factor for cognitive dysfunction. Int J Med Sci 2014;11(2):209-14. [CrossRef]
- Tamura T, Kanayama T, Yoshida S, Kawasaki T. Functional magnetic resonance imaging of human jaw movements. J Oral Rehabil 2003;30(6):614-22. [CrossRef]
- Valipour S, Shaligram AD, Kulkarni GR. Spectral analysis of EEG signal for detection of alpha rhythm with open and closed eyes. Int J Eng Innovative Technol 2013;3:1-4.
- Vialatte FB, Dauwels J, Maurice M, Musha T, Cichocki A. Improving the specificity of EEG for diagnosing Alzheimer's disease. Int J Alzheimers Dis 2011 May 30. [CrossRef]
- 20. Dressler O, Schneider G, Stockmanns G, Kochs EF. Awareness and the EEG power spectrum: analysis of frequencies. Br J Anaesth 2004;93(6):806-9. [CrossRef]
- Ille N, Berg P, Scherg M. Artifact correction of the ongoing EEG using spatial filters based on artifact and brain signal topographies. J ClinNeurophysiol 2002;19(2):113-24. [CrossRef]
- Hosoi T, Morokuma M, Shibuya N, Yoneyama Y. Influence of denture treatment on brain function activity. Jpn Dent Sci Rev 2011;47(1):56-66. [CrossRef]
- De Cicco V, Barresi M, Fantozzi MP, Cataldo E, Parisi V, Manzoni D. Oral Implant-Prostheses: New Teeth for a Brighter Brain. PloS ONE 2016;11(2):e0148715. [CrossRef]
- 24. Kamiya K, Narita N, Iwaki S. Improved Prefrontal Activity and Chewing Performance as Function of Wearing Denture in Partially Edentulous Elderly Individuals: Functional Near-Infrared Spectroscopy Study. PloS ONE 2016;11(6):e0158070. [CrossRef]
- 25. Dhingra S, Rajesh G, Rao A, Pai UY, Shenoy R, Pai M. Impact of occlusal support and perceived chewing ability on oral healthrelated quality of life among patients attending a private dental institution in India. J Indian Prosthodont Soc 2017;17(1):15-21.



Eur Oral Res 2020; 54(3): 119-122



Official Publication of Istanbul University Faculty of Dentistry

Nuran Özyemisci<sup>1</sup> 🝺,

Mehmet Yorulmaz<sup>2</sup>

#### **Original research**

# A new dental casting technique for production of void-free dental models

#### Purpose

An essential of successful dental prosthesis is dental models. Voids present in dental models decreases accuracy and strength. This study investigates void formation in models fabricated by a new technique. The technique described in the study was based upon increasing soaking time of gypsum powder in water.

#### **Materials and Methods**

Voids in hand mixed, hand mixed after a soaking time of 1.5 minutes and vacuum mixed samples were examined. The voids were counted via a stereomicroscope and diameters of voids were recorded in 2 categories (0.01-0.05mm, 0.051-0.1mm). The amounts of voids were compared between the samples prepared with 3 methods.

#### Results

The samples prepared by conventional hand mixing method had the highest total number of voids and smaller voids. There was no significant difference between the amount of voids in the samples prepared by soaking powder in water and by mixing under vacuum.

#### Conclusion

Soaking gypsum powder in water for 1.5 minutes before mixing may be an alternative to mixing gypsum under vacuum to avoid void formation in dental models.

Keywords: Dental model, Dental prosthesis, Void, Microscopy, Dental casting technique

#### Introduction

Gypsum products has been the most widely material to produce diagnostic cast, working cast and dies. Desirable qualities for instance hardness, strength, accuracy, detail reproduction, resistance to abrasion, minimal solubility, stability, ease of handling, cost and color depend on the utilization of the product. Gypsum powder used in dentistry consists of calcium sulfate hemihydrate and forms a viscous material after being mixed with water. After the chemical reaction occurs, calcium sulfate hemihydrate turns into calcium sulfate dehydrate. The amount of water required to mix with powder is greater than the amount required for the reaction. This excess water vaporizes during stiffening and a mass of interlocking gypsum crystals is formed. Voids occur between these crystals after evaporation of the water. Strength, resistance to abrasion and hardness are affected from the amount and size of the voids (1). In addition to product of the reaction, voids are formed by the incorporation of air during mixing process and pouring mixture into an impression material.

Mixing dental stone with a motorized vacuum mixer that simultaneously extracts air and spatulates the mixture at a constant rate, minimizes air incorporation (2, 3). The impression pouring technique consists of carrying and placing the gypsum slurry to the impression. Carrying the ORCID IDs of the authors: N.Ö. 0000-0001-5445-9771; M.Y. 0000-0002-3036-1363

<sup>1</sup> Hacettepe University, Dental Prosthesis Technology Program, Vocational School of Health Services, Ankara, Turkey

<sup>2</sup>Canakkale Onsekiz Mart University, Faculty of Dentistry, Çanakkale, Turkey

Corresponding Author: Nuran Özyemişci

E-mail: nozyemisci@yahoo.com

Received: 13 August, 2019 Revised: 16 January, 2020 Accepted: 02 April, 2020

DOI: 10.26650/eor.20200098



This work is licensed under Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International License

*How to cite:* Ozyemisci N, Yorulmaz M. A new dental casting technique for production of void-free dental models. Eur Oral Res 2020; 54(3): 119-122.

slurry can be performed by using a spatula or a syringe (4). A mechanical vibrator is suggested to enable the slurry to flow and spread into the impression. The rate of flow and spread depends on the frequency and amplitude adjustment of the vibrator (5,6). Excessive speed can incorporate air bubbles into the mixture. Gathering small increments of the slurry and placing at a posterior region of the impression, adding the increments till the anatomic indentations critical for the restoration are filled are the tips advised to avoid void formation (1). Type of impression material is another determinant of void formation. As the wettability of the impression material increases, the size and number of voids decrease (6-8).

In this study, a new technique of cast fabrication has been described. The purpose of this research was to compare number and size of voids in the models prepared by using this new technique with hand and vacuum mixed models.

#### **Materials and Methods**

A total of 18 dental stone specimens were prepared by pouring gypsum slurry into silicone model former molds by an experienced dental technician. Water/powder ratio was 0.26 and soaking time before mixing was 30 seconds as recommended by the manufacturer (Type III, Alston, Ata Alçı Sanayi ve Ticaret AŞ, Ankara, Turkey). The specimens were divided into 3 groups regarding mixing methods; hand mixed (H), powder soaked in water (S) and vacuum mixed (V). For group H, room temperature distilled water was placed in a rubber bowl and dental stone powder was added to water. After soaking time of 30 seconds, the slurry was mixed for 1.5 minutes with a steel blade spatula. For group S; room temperature distilled water and powder were placed in a bowl, waited for 1.5 minutes, and then spatulated for 30 seconds with a spatula. For group V, the slurry was mixed under vacuum for 1 minute by using vacuum mixing machine (EasyMix, BEGO Gmbh & Co KG, Bremen, Germany). All mixtures of dental stone was poured to the molds on a mechanical vibrator (Rotaks-Dent Discilik San. ve Tic. A.Ş. İstanbul, Turkey) for 25 seconds at a vibration frequency of 3000cycles/minute.

All casts were separated from the molds after a waiting time of 1 hour for setting. Thereafter, 2 mm thicknesses was cut from middle region of the casts by the use of a model trimmer (Rotaks Dent, İstanbul, Turkey). Four regions 7 mm to edge and 4 regions 10 mm to centre of the samples were marked on every 2 mm thick specimens and numbered (Figure 1). The marked regions of the specimens were examined with a stereomicroscope (Leica EZ4 HD, Leica Microsystems GmbH, Wetzlar, Gemany) under x35 magnification and x10 eyepieces for detection of air voids. Examples of the images captured with the microscope are shown in Figures 2-4. The voids having diameter 0.01-0.05 mm and 0.051-0.1 mm were counted and recorded. Localizations of voids were also recorded as edge or centric region to examine the relation between voids and localization.

#### Statistical analysis

The tendency of quantitative variables was determined using centralization and variance measures. Kruskal-Wallis H Test was used to compare the differences between the amounts of voids counted in 3 groups. The differences between the amounts of voids found in 2 different regions (center, edge) were compared using Mann-Whitney U Test. All hypotheses were tested at 0.05 significance level. All analyzes were performed using IBM SPSS (Statistical Package for Social Sciences for Windows, Version 21.0, Armonk, NY, IBM Corp.).



Figure 1. Landmarking of a sample.



Figure 2. Microscopic image of a hand mixed sample.



Figure 3. Microscopic image of a soaked sample.



Figure 4. Microscopic image of a vacuum mixed sample.

#### Results

A statistically significant difference was found between the groups in terms of total number of voids (p<0.001). The number of voids in group H was higher than that of group S and group V. There was no statistically significant difference between total voids of the group S and V (Table 1, Figure 5).

Table 1. Kruskal Wallis table						
_	Med	lian (Min–Ma	к)			
Group	H (48)	S (48)	V (48)	p-value		
Total void –	9.4±4.52	4.67±1.94	4.17±2.68	<0.001		
	9 (2-21)	5 (1-11)	4 (0-11)	<0.001		
Largewoid	0.44±0.8	0.52±0.71	0.35±0.84	0 1 9 5		
Large volu	0 (0-3)	0 (0-2)	0 (0-4)	0.165		
Small void –	8.96±4.24	4.15±1.73	3.81±2.29	<0.001		
	9 (2-20)	4 (1-10)	4 (0-8)	<0.001		



Figure 5. Comparison of total voids.

Difference between the amount of 0.051-0.1 mm voids were not significant (p=0.185). The groups showed significant difference with regard to smaller voids (0.01-0.05 mm, p<0.001). It was observed that the total number of small voids in group H was higher than that of group S and group V. There was no statistically significant difference between small voids of the group S and V (Table 1, Figure 6).

The number of total, large and small voids for 3 groups was compared by localization and no significant difference w found (Table 2).



Figure 6. Comparison of small voids.

#### Table 2. Mann Whitney U table

Mean ± SD			
	Median		
Localization	Edge (72)	Center (72)	p-value
Tatal void	6.21±3.84	5.94±4.16	0.604
	5 (1-18)	5 (0-21)	0.004
	0.47±0.9	0.4±0.64	0.704
Large volu	0 (0-4)	0 (0-2)	0.794
Cmallwoid	5.74±3.51	5.54±4.03	0.49
	5 (1-16)	5 (0-20)	0.48

#### Discussion

Amount and size of voids effect mechanical properties of casts. One of the reasons of void formation is the gypsum mixing method (2). Soaking dental stone powder in water for 30 seconds before mixing is recommended for allowing particles to get wet (1). In this study wetting time was increased to 1.5 minutes. The amount and size of voids were compared with conventional hand mixing method and vacuum mixing method.

Mixing gypsum under vacuum is a known fact that it reduces air trapped in the mixture (9). Results of the study showed that dental stone samples fabricated with soaking method had same amount of voids with that of vacuum method and less voids than hand mixed group. Spatulation disrupts precipitation centers forming new nuclei. Nuclei act as centers of crystalline growth (3). In the study, hand mixed group had longer spatulation time. Longer spatulation probably caused more crystalline growth forming more voids. The other possibility is that less spatulation caused less air incorporation in the soaked group.

Considering large pores causes less accuracy and strength for casts than small ones, the study included 2 categories of void size. Although there were no significant difference between the groups by means of 0.051-0.1 mm voids, amount of 0.01-0.05 mm voids were found higher in Group H than other groups. Small pores may result in decreased strength as large pores do if the amount is high.

In the literature, recent researches about pores of dental models seems to be limited with wettability of impression materials (10), effect of pre-impression procedures (11), comparison of dental stone types (12). There only few studies about the effect of mixing method on void formation after the superiority of the vacuum mixer had been proved. Akpınar et al. described a new method to decrease voids of the casts (13). They compared the amount of voids between mixed with hand, vacuum mixer and a vacuum cabin designed for the research. The vacuum cabin described in the study decreased the void formation.

Computer-aided design/computer-aided manufacture (CAD-CAM) system enables the fabrication of a prosthesis without a working model. However, a model is still required to carry out the fit test and modify the prosthesis. In addition to this, diagnosis and manufacture of orthodontic devices and surgical guides require models (14,15). Altough working models can be produced with CAD-CAM, low financial capability of dental laboratories and state dental clinics especially in developing countries may not enable to have a CAD-CAM equipment. In these circumstances, the technique of model fabrication described in this study may be used instead of conventional hand mixing or as an alternative to mixing under vacuum.

The amount of voids in the models produced with this new method may be compared with the ones produced with CAD-CAM in another study. This study was limited only with the models made of Type III dental stone. Another research should be carried out using Type IV dental stone which is used mostly for fixed partial denture. A further study testing compressive strength and hardness of the casts produced with this new method would support the results of this research.

#### Conclusion

According to the results of the present study, soaking powder in water for 1.5 minutes before mixing dental stone may be an alternative method to the vacuum mixing method especially in low financial conditions.

**Türkçe Özet:** Boşluksuz dental model yapımında yeni bir model elde etme tekniği. Amaç: Dental modeler başarılı dental protezlerin bir gerekliliğidir. Dental modellerde bulunan boşluklar hassasiyet ve dayanıklılığı azaltmaktadır. Bu çalışma yeni bir teknik ile üretilen modellerde boşluk oluşumunu araştırmıştır. Çalışmada tarif edilen teknik, alçı tozunun suda bekletilme süresinin arttırılmasını temel almaktadır. Gereç ve Yöntem: Elle karıştırılmış, 1.5 dakika beletme sonrası elle karıştırılmış ve vakum ile karıştırılmış örneklerdeki boşluklar incelenmiştir. Bir stereomikroskop yardımıyla boşluklar sayılmış ve boşluk çapları 2 kategori altında (0.01-0.05mm, 0.051-0.1mm) kaydedilmiştir. Üç yöntem ile hazırlanan örnekler arasında boşluk miktarları karşılaştırılmıştır. Bulgular: Geleneksel el ile karıştırma yöntemi kullanılarak hazırlanan örneklerin en fazla toplam boşluk ve küçük boşluğa sahip olduğu belirlenmiştir. Tozun suda bekletilmesi ve vakum altında karıştırma yöntemleri ile hazırlanan örneklerdeki boşluk miktarları arasında istatistiksel olarak anlamlı fark saptanmamıştır. Sonuç: Dental modellerde boşluk oluşumunu önlemek için; karıştırma öncesi alçı tozunun suda 1.5 dakika bekletilmesi, alçının vakum altında karıştırılmasına alternatif olabilir. Anahtar Kelimeler: Dental model, Dental protez, Boşluk, Mikroskop, Dental model elde etme tekniği

Ethics Committee Approval: Not required.

Informed Consent: Not required.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

**Author contributions:** NO and MY designed the study. NO and MY participated in generating and gathering the data for the study. NO participated in the analysis of the data. NO wrote the majority of the original draft of the paper. NO participated in writing the paper. All authors approved the final version of this paper.

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors had no conflict of interest to declare.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that they have received no financial support.

#### References

- Eakle WS, Hatrick. Dental Materials: Clinical Applications for Dental Assistants and Dental Hygienists. Missouri: Elsevier, 2016.
- 2. Reisbick MH, Garrett R, Smith DD. Some effects of device versus handmixing of irreversible hydrocolloids. J Prosthet Dent 1982;47:92-94. [CrossRef]
- Soğancı G, Cebeci NÖ, Yağcı F. Ed. Cebeci NÖ. Diş Hekimliğinde Maddeler Bilgisi. Ankara: Atlas Kitapçılık, 2015.
- 4. Schelb E. Using a syringe to make void-free casts from elastomeric impressions. J Prosthet Dent 1988;60:121-122. [CrossRef]
- Abdullah MA. Effect of frequency and amplitude of vibration on void formation in dies poured from polyvinyl siloxane impressions. J Prosthet Dent 1998;80:490-494. [CrossRef]
- Reddy NK, Aparna I. Effect of frequency and amplitude of vibration and role of a surfactant on void formation in models poured from polyvinyl siloxane impressions. J Conserv Dent 2011;14:151-155. [CrossRef]
- Reddy GV, Reddy NS, Itttigi J, Jagadeesh KN. A comparative study to determine the wettability and castability of different elastomeric impression materials. J Contemp Dent Pract 2012;13:356-363. [CrossRef]
- Arora N, Arora M, Gupta N, Agarwal M, Verma R, Rathod P. Clinical Evaluation of Different Pre-impression Preparation Procedures of Dental Arch. J Int Oral Health 2015;7:80-84.
- 9. Sakaguchi RL, Ferracane J, Powers JM. Craig's Restorative Dental Materials. Missouri: Elsevier, 2019.
- Reddy GV, Reddy NS, Itttigi J, Jagadeesh KN. A comparative study to determine the wettability and castability of different elastomeric impression materials. J Contemp Dent Pract 2012;13:356-363. [CrossRef]
- 11. Arora N, Arora M, Gupta N, Agarwal M, Verma R, Rathod P. Clinical Evaluation of Different Pre-impression Preparation Procedures of Dental Arch. J Int Oral Health 2015;7:80-84.
- 12. Jassim TK. Comparison of Some Properties between Commercially Available Gypsum Products TJDS 2012;1:63-69.
- Akpinar YZ, Aslan MA, Tatar N, Yilmaz B. A vacuum cabin technique in the production of master model. Selcuk Dent J 2015;2: 17-121. [CrossRef]
- 14. Jeong YG, Lee WS, Lee KB. Accuracy evaluation of dental models manufactured by CAD/CAM milling method and 3D printing method. J Adv Prosthodont 2018;10:245-251. [CrossRef]
- Kim WT. Accuracy of dental models fabricated by CAD/CAM milling method and 3D printing method. J Oral Res 2018;7:127-133. [CrossRef]



Eur Oral Res 2020; 54(3): 123-129



Official Publication of Istanbul University Faculty of Dentistry

#### **Original research**

# Quality of communicating design features for cobalt chromium removable partial dentures in Riyadh, Saudi Arabia

#### Purpose

This survey aimed to investigate quality of communicating design features for the construction of cobalt chromium removable partial dentures (RPDs) among dentists in Riyadh, Saudi Arabia.

#### **Materials and Methods**

A survey of nine commercial dental laboratories located in Riyadh was carried out. In each visit, master casts for cobalt chromium RPDs and dentists' prescriptions were examined. A quality score for the provided instructions was developed and ranged from 0 to 4. A zero score means that no instructions were sent from the dentist for the design of the RPD. A score of 4 means that instructions were provided for the design of four main elements of the RPD, i.e., shape of major connector, type of direct retainers, position of direct retainers, position of dental rests.

#### Results

162 dentists' prescriptions for RPDs and related casts were assessed. The majority of RPD cases were designed by the dental technician alone (64.2%). Shape of the major connector was the most frequent element in dentists' prescriptions (35.8%). The mean quality score of dentists' instructions was 0.96 (sd=1.54). 18% of the provided instructions achieved quality score equal to 4. Prescriptions for Kennedy Class III cases achieved significantly higher mean quality score compared to Kennedy Class II cases (p<0.05). 16.7% of the evaluated casts had clearly defined rest seat preparation.

#### Conclusion

The results of this survey indicate inadequate quality of communicating the design features of cobalt chromium RPDs among practicing dentists in Riyadh, Saudi Arabia. The reliance on the dental technician to design the cast RPDs seems to be high.

**Keywords:** Quality; Design; Cobalt chromium; Removable; Partial dentures; Saudi Arabia

#### Introduction

Although tooth/implant-supported fixed dental restorations are usually more preferred for the restoration of edentulous spaces, the removable partial denture (RPD) remains a viable treatment option for the replacement of missing teeth in partially edentulous mouths (1). This is mainly related to economic and technical factors (2). The RPD is, relatively, a conservative, simple and inexpensive type of treatment. It does not require high clinical or technical skills nor advanced technologies compared to implant-supported prostheses (3). Moreover, it is a reversible treatment option so in case of denture failure or patient's dissatisfaction a dentist in agreement with the patient can switch to tooth/implant-supported fixed dental restorations to restore the dental spaces. In addition, the RPD can be the single restoration option when various contraindications preclude the use of tooth/implant-supported fixed dental restorations (4). Furthermore, the findings of epidemiologi-

*How to cite:* Nassani MZ, AlOtaibi MS. Quality of communicating design features for cobalt chromium removable partial dentures in Riyadh, Saudi Arabia. Eur Oral Res 2020; 54(3): 123-129.

Mohammad Zakaria Nassani<sup>1</sup> <sup>(1)</sup>, Mazen Saeed AlOtaibi<sup>2</sup> <sup>(1)</sup>

ORCID IDs of the authors: M.Z.N. 0000-0003-0927-895X; M.S.A. 0000-0003-3719-5879

<sup>1</sup>Department of Restorative and Prosthetic Dental Sciences, College of Dentistry, Dar Al Uloom University, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia

> <sup>2</sup>Dental Department, Ministry of Health, Jeddah, Saudi Arabia

Corresponding Author: Mohammad Zakaria Nassani

E-mail: mznassani@hotmail.com

Received: 09 October 2019 Revised: 20 January 2020 Accepted: 14 April 2020

DOI: 10.26650/eor.20200117



This work is licensed under Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International License cal studies support the speculations of continuing demand for the RPDs in the upcoming future (5-10). Current adult dental health surveys have shown growing trend of retaining teeth later in life than ever before (5-7). The proportion of completely edentulous patients is in decline and the number of partially edentulous patients is in raise (8, 9). This comes in line with an increasing number of the elderly populations who are in need for dental and prosthodontic care (10).

In Saudi Arabia, the available epidemiological data cannot provide clear view regarding prevalence of partial edentulism and the need for RPD treatment on a national level. However, the existing evidence suggests that the proportion of partially edentulous subjects among the Saudi population is considerable and the need for treatment with RPDs should not be underestimated (11-16).

An essential step in the construction of the RPD is to evaluate the status of the oral and dental supporting structures and to plan the design features of the denture based on the clinical and radiological findings. Afterwards and following mouth preparation final impressions should be made. At this stage the dentist has to communicate the design features of the planned RPD to the dental technician so as to fabricate a prosthesis that has the potential to function in harmony with the soft and hard oral structures without causing damage to the surrounding/underlying tissues. Careful design of the RPD and writing adequate prescription pave the way for a successful outcome of treatment with RPDs. Such professional behavior is also a mark of standard care and quality practice (17). This issue was stressed by many international dental associations and health authorities. According to the Medical Devices Directive of the European Union (18) and the guidelines of the British Society for the Study of Prosthetic Dentistry (19), it is the responsibility of the dentist to design the RPD and to provide the dental technician with clear written instructions for the fabrication of the prosthesis. Provision of a standard dental care should be an inherent part of modern dental education and contemporary dental practice. Dental practitioners worldwide should recognize the ethical and legal implications of malpractice and its negative impact on oral health and patient's well-being. While quality of communicating design elements of RPDs has been investigated in many countries worldwide (20-29), the picture is not yet clear in Saudi Arabia. The aim of this survey is to investigate the quality of prescription and communicating design features for the fabrication of cobalt chromium RPDs among dentists in Riyadh, Saudi Arabia.

#### **Materials and Methods**

Twelve commercial dental laboratories located in Riyadh city, the capital of Saudi Arabia, were contacted and invited to take part in this survey. Two laboratories declined participation; one laboratory apologized due to lack of facility to construct cobalt chromium RPDs and 9 laboratories approved to participate. The geographical location of participating laboratories comprised the different sectors of Riyadh. Five laboratories were in the northern sector and one in each of the remaining sectors of Riyadh, i.e., east, west, middle and south. Five laboratories provide work for both private and governmental dental centers/hospitals and 4 laboratories provide work for only the private dental sector.

The nine participating commercial dental laboratories

were surveyed over a period of more than 6 months. The aim of the survey was to target partially edentulous cases that were sent from dentists working in Riyadh for the fabrication of clasp-retained cobalt chromium RPDs. Arrangements were made with the designated laboratories to keep records for the all constructed RPDs and frequent visits were made by the second author to examine the collected cases. During each visit dentists' prescriptions were scrutinized, targeted casts were examined and a special data collection form was completed. The data collection form was a modified version of the one that was used in a previous investigation (30). Before the outset of the survey, the developed form was also distributed among 6 dental technicians to provide feedback about the clarity and feasibility of the contents. The noted remarks were considered in the final draft of the research form.

The study form sought information relating to:

- Laboratory address and location in Riyadh.
- Dental center address and location in Riyadh.
- Type of practice (governmental or private).
- Type of the examined cast (maxillary or mandibular).
- Kennedy classification (Class I, Class II, Class III and Class IV).
- Number of standing teeth.
- Number of dental spaces.
- Who made the RPD design? (the dentist alone, the technician alone, both the dentist and the technician).
- Methods of communicating the RPD design (verbal instructions, written instructions, diagram, drawing on the cast, none).
- Whether the design features of each component of the RPD was provided by the dentist (i.e. major connectors, direct retainers and rests)?
- Type of the major connector as provided by the dentist.
- Evidence of preparation of rest seats.

Prescriptions were examined following the fabrication of the metal framework. This is to ensure that no further design instructions could be provided by the dentist and one could be certain that no relevant information was missed. Photographs and digital records were made for the examined cases. When needed, dental technicians at the designated laboratories were consulted to clarify any confusing points upon scrutinizing dentists' prescriptions and associated casts. Both authors discussed and agreed the collected data.

#### Statistical analysis

Survey data were analyzed using the SPSS statistical package (IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 20.0, Released 2011, IBM Corp, Armonk, New York, USA). Descriptive statistics presented the characteristics of the examined cases and frequency tables were generated to illustrate the used methods for communicating design features of the prescribed RPDs as provided by the dentists. Also, a frequency table was made to demonstrate the quality of rest seat preparation among the surveyed cases.

In order to quantify the quality of instructions for the RPD design as provided by the dentist to the dental technician, a quality score was developed. The quality score was calculated according to the number of prescribed design elements as shown in Table 1.

**Table 1.** Quality score of the provided instructions according to number of prescribed design elements of the RPD

Number of prescribed elements	Quality score
None	0
Any one	1
Any two	2
Any three	3
All four	4

**Quality scores:** 0 = No instructions were provided by the dentist for the design of any element of the RPD. 1, 2 or 3= One, two or three elements of the RPD was/were prescribed by the dentist. 4 = Instructions were provided by the dentist for the design of the four main elements of the RPD, i.e. shape of the major connector, type of the direct retainer, position of the direct retainer, and position of the dental rests.

The quality scores were presented according to type of cast and Kennedy classification. T-test for independent samples and the one-way ANOVA were utilized to examine the association between mean score of the quality of the provided instructions and type of cast/Kennedy classification. The significance level was set at p < 0.05.

#### Results

Over the period of this survey, a total of 162 dentists' prescriptions for RPDs and associated casts were examined. The collected cases came from a variety of dental centers that were located in the different geographical areas of Riyadh city. The vast majority of the surveyed cases came from the private sector (92.6%). Number of mandibular casts slightly exceeded that of maxillary ones (52.5% compared to 47.5%). Kennedy Class I cases were the most frequent (53.7%) and Kennedy Class IV cases were the least frequent (3%). Characteristics of the examined cases are presented in Table 2.

Examination of dentists' prescriptions and related casts showed that most of the RPD cases were designed by the dental technician alone (64.2%). In these cases, the dentists did not send any instructions about the design of the requested RPD. Only 16% of the RPDs were designed by the dentist alone. The dentist and dental technician shared the design of the partial denture in almost 20% of the examined cases. Methods of communicating the design of RPD varied between dentists. Almost 12% of the dentists provided verbal instructions, a minority sent written instructions (8.6%) and 5.6% provided a diagram about the proposed design of the RPD. The design of the denture was drawn on the cast in 10% of the cases. Shape of the major connector was indicated by the dentist in 58 cases (35.8%). Type and position of the direct retainers were determined in about 20% of the cases and denture rests were prescribed by the dentist in 21% of the examined casts and prescriptions. The former results are illustrated in Table 3.

The mean quality score of dentists' instructions was approximately 1. Only 18% of the provided instructions achieved quality score equal to 4. The quality score was 0 among the majority of the examined cases (64.2%) and in 18% of the cases the quality score ranged between 1 and 3 indicating insufficient instructions for the design of RPD. No association was identified between type of cast, i.e. max**Table 2.** Characteristics of the examined cases (No = 162)

Variable		Number	Percent
	North	86	53.1
	South	1	0.6
Laboratory location in Rivadh	Centre	19	11.7
nyuun	West	28	17.3
	East	28	17.3
	North	39	24.1
	South	3	1.9
Practice location in Rivadh	Centre	10	6.2
nyuun	West	28	17.3
	East	82	50.6
Turno of presetico	Governmental	12	7.4
Type of practice	Private	150	92.6
Turne of each	Maxillary	77	47.5
Type of cast	Mandibular	85	52.5
	Class I	87	53.7
Konnodu elegeification	Class II	44	27.2
Kenneay classification	Class III	26	16
	Class IV	5	3.1
		Mean	SD
Number of standing teeth		7.7	3
Number of edentulous den	2.1	0.7	

**Table 3.** Methods of communicating RPD design and design features as provided by the dentist

#### **RPD** design

		Number	Percent					
	The dentist alone	26	16					
Who made the	The technician alone	104	64.2					
design?	Both dentist and technician	32	19.8					
Mathada of	Verbal instructions (via phone or face to face)	19	11.7					
communicating	Written instructions	14	8.6					
RPD design	Diagram	9	5.6					
	Drawing on the cast	16	9.9					
	None	104	64.2					
Design features as p	rovided by the dentist							
Shape of major conne	ector	58	35.8					
	Туре	31	19.1					
Direct retainers	Position	32	19.8					
Rests		34	21					
Total number of the examined cases = 162, RPD: Removable partial								

denture

illary or mandibular, and quality scores of the instructions (p>0.05). On the contrary, an association was found between Kennedy classification of the restored dentition and quality

scores of the provided instructions as Kennedy Class III cases achieved significantly higher mean quality score compared to Kennedy Class II cases (p<0.05) (Table 4).

When a major connector was prescribed by the dentist, the horseshoe design followed by the palatal plate design, were the most prescribed connectors for the maxillary RPDs. On the other hand, the lingual bar and lingual plate designs were the dominant connectors for the mandibular RPDs (Table 5).

The working casts of the RPDs were examined for an evidence of rest seats preparation. The results indicated that rest seat preparation was unpopular practice as only 16.7% of the evaluated casts had clearly defined rest seat preparation (Table 6).

#### Discussion

Research to investigate quality of current dental practice on an international level is still limited (17). Extensive research to underline the status of today's dental practice and development of guidelines for quality dental care is highly recommended. In Saudi Arabia, over the last three decades there has been wide expansion in dental education and growing number of dental graduates (31). This was coupled with rapid growth in the delivery of oral health services (32-33). Despite these facts, information about quality of present dental care in Saudi Arabia is quite scarce. So far, only few attempts have

Table 4. Quality of instructions for RPD design according to type of cast and Kennedy classification											
Quality Score	Туре	of Cast		Kennedy Classification							
	Maxillary	Mandibular	Class I	Class II	Class III	Class IV	Total				
0	52(67.5%)	52(61.2%)	53(61%)	35(79.5%)	14(53.8%)	2(40%)	104(64.2%)				
1	9(11.7%)	13(15.3%)	16(18.4%)	4(9.1%)	0(0%)	2(40%)	22(13.6%)				
2	1(1.3%)	3(3.5%)	3(3.4%)	0(0%)	1(3.8%)	0(0%)	4(2.5%)				
3	2(2.6%)	1(1.2%)	3(3.4%)	0(0%)	0(0%)	0(0%)	3(1.9%)				
4	13(16.9%)	16(18.8%)	12(13.8%)	5(11.4%)	11(42.4)	1(20%)	29(17.9%)				
Total	77(100%)	85(100%)	87(100%)	44(100%)	26(100%)	5(100%)	162(100%)				
Mean (SD)	0.9(1.53)	1.01(1.56)	0.91(1.43)	0.55(1.28)	1.77(1.99)	1.2(1.64)	0.96(1.54)				
p	*0	).634		**0.0	13						

\* *p*-value of the t-test for independent samples indicating no significant difference (p>0.05). \*\* *p*-value of the one-way ANOVA indicating significant difference at p<0.05. **Quality scores:** 0 = No instructions were provided by the dentist for the design of any element of the RPD. 1, 2 or 3 = One, two or three elements of the RPD was/were prescribed by the dentist. 4 = Instructions were provided by the dentist for the design of the four main elements of the RPD, i.e. shape of the major connector, type of the direct retainer, position of the direct retainer, and position of the dental rests.

<b>Table 5.</b> Major connectors as provided by the dentist								
Upper major connector	Number	Percent						
Palatal plate	7	9.1						
U-shaped or horseshoe	10	12.9						
Anterior and posterior palatal bars	2	2.7						
Anterior and posterior palatal strap	4	5.2						
Single Palatal strap	1	1.3						
Single palatal bar	0	0						
Dentist did not design any major connector	53	68.8						
Total number of examined maxillary casts	77	100						
Lower major connector								
Lingual plate	10	11.8						
Lingual bar	24	28.2						
Sublingual bar	0	0						
Double lingual bar	0	0						
Cingulum bar	0	0						
Labial bar	0	0						
Dentist did not design any major connector	51	60						
Total number of examined mandibular casts	85	100						

Total number of the examined cases = 162 (77 Maxillary casts and 85 Mandibular)

**Table 6.** Rest seats preparation (information derived from the mastercasts)

Availability of rest seat preparation	Number	Percent
Cast with clearly defined rest seats preparation	27	16.7
Cast with no rest seats preparation	124	76.5
Cast with rest seats that are difficult to ascertain whether they have been prepared	8	4.9
Cast is not available	3	1.9

been made to address this important issue (34-35). While this study evaluates the quality of communicating design features for RPDs, it can be considered a starting point and call for researcher to investigate the standard of current dental services in Saudi Arabia on all levels. This is in order to achieve a national goal of standard dental care for all people.

The RPD is one of the prosthodontic treatment options for the replacement of missing teeth. Although RPDs have their limitations and contraindications, the RPDs have also certain advantages and indications (4, 36). General dental practitioners worldwide are still expected to possess the required clinical skills to offer their patients such simple treatment option. The superiority and attractiveness of tooth/implant-supported fixed partial dentures do not justify low interest in learning the topic of RPDs or poor management of this treatment modality. Principles of construction RPDs should be respected to maximize the chance of success and any negligence on this part is, professionally and ethically, not accepted.

In a survey of commercial dental labs in Athens, Greece (37), the constructed RPDs were mostly for Kennedy Class I dentitions. In a recent Saudi study for the prevalence of missing teeth and type of provided prosthetic treatment (16), most of the patients with Kennedy class I or class II were treated with RPDs. In this survey, characteristics of the examined cases reveal clear predominance for Kennedy Class I and Class II in the study sample (Table 2). It appears that the higher need/ demand for treatment with RPDs is associated with the presence of free-end saddles or missing posterior support.

Overall, the results indicate poor quality of communicating design features for RPDs among dentists in Riyadh, Saudi Arabia. This is consistent with the findings of previous international studies (24, 27, 28, 38-40). The quality scores of the provided instructions for RPD design were very low among the majority of the examined cases (Table 4). The reliance on dental technicians to perform the design of the RPD seems huge. This means a production of RPDs with no account to the clinical and biological findings. The final likely outcome, could be, a provision of faulty dentures with damaging effect and poor prognosis. This is clearly a mark of malpractice (17). In the UK and Ireland, the poor quality of written instructions for the design of cobalt chromium RPDs was attributed to educational factors (41). Major problems in teaching the design and construction of cobalt chromium RPDs during the vocational training of dental graduates were identified (41). Dental educators in Saudi Arabia should take the results of this survey into account when planning dental curricula and prosthodontic courses of continuing professional development. Further research, perhaps of qualitative nature, is warranted to understand the reasons behind such inappropriate professional behavior among practicing dentists in Riyadh, Saudi Arabia.

In an Irish survey (39), the authors used very similar criteria to that used in our survey to quantify the level of prescription for cobalt chromium RPDs. Four design variables were scrutinized in dentists' written instructions (39). These include: configuration of denture base, retention (design of clasps, material and position), support (position and distribution of rests), and design of the major connector. The four design variables were found in 10% of the examined written instructions. In 7% of the prescriptions there were three design variables, in 13% two design variables were found, in 17% one design variable was identified and 53% of the prescriptions were lacking any design variables (39). In the current survey the aforementioned figures are compared to 17.9%, 1.9%, 2.5%, 13.6% and 64.2% respectively (Table 4).

While no relation was established between quality of the provided instructions and type of dental cast for the treated case, an association was determined between Kennedy classification and quality of prescription (Table 4). The reliance of the surveyed dentists on the technicians to design cases with Kennedy Class II appears to be greater than the other Kennedy Classes. An explanation for this finding cannot be provided and it is recommended to search this point in future studies.

In this investigation, the design of cobalt chromium RPDs

was delegated entirely to the dental technician in 64.2% of the examined cases. This number is compared to 57% in the neighboring Kingdom of Bahrain (23) and 89.5% in the United Arab Emirates (26). However, this comparison cannot be claimed to be accurate as the examined samples for cobalt chromium RPDs in Bahrain and UAE were very small (n =14 and 19 respectively). In an earlier study in Saudi Arabia, a self-administered questionnaire was used to collect information about quality of written instructions in the work authorization form and the level of communication between dentists and dental technicians for fixed and removable prosthodontics (34). Data was obtained from dental technicians working in the Dental College at King Saud University. The results indicated that 49.6% of the examined written instructions were judged as clear and in 34% of the fixed and removable cases the dental technician had to communicate with the dentist to obtain more clarification regarding certain written instructions. With RPDs, the author reported that the design was made by the dentist in 95% of the evaluated work authorization. However, all these cases were made in a University environment by a specialist, a demonstrator, a postgraduate student, an intern or a dental student. As the design of that survey was different from the design of our survey, no valid comparison can be made between their findings.

Using a diagram or a drawing on the cast to communicate the design of the RPD seems to be uncommon method of communication among dentists in Riyadh, Saudi Arabia (Table 3). This also was the case in Ireland as only 7% of the dentists provided a diagram in their prescriptions for cobalt chromium RPDs (39). In the Kingdom of Bahrain, the proportion of dentists who provided a diagram in their prescriptions for the cobalt chromium RPDs was 43% (23). This is compared to 5.6% in the current survey. In the UAE, 36.85% of the dentists sometimes use a drawing for the RPD design and 63.2% never/rarely do that (26). In this survey, 10% of the dentists communicated the design of the RPD through a drawing on the cast. It should be remembered again that the number of the examined cases in Bahrain and UAE was very small and the validity of any comparison with the results of this survey can be questioned.

Table 3 illustrates that when instructions were provided, the shape of the major connector was the most frequent element to be prescribed by the surveyed dentists (35.8%). This is similar to the outcome of a UK survey where the design of the major connector was the most common component in dentists' prescriptions (59%) (30). The reason why dentists in this survey give more attention to the design of the major connector in comparison with the other elements of the cobalt chromium RPDs is not clear.

Despite the shortcomings of the horseshoe connector in terms of flexibility and wide coverage of dental and gingival tissues, this design of a major connector was the most prescribed for the maxillary RPDs (Table 5). This is in agreement with the results of a Greek survey (37). Unfortunately; the design of this study does not allow us to identify the reasons behind such practice. In the mandible, only two types of major connectors were noted in dentists' prescriptions. These comprise the lingual bar and lingual plate. Similarly, these types of mandibular major connectors were found to be popular among dentists in the UK (30, 38, 42). The biological and hygienic merits of the lingual bar are well-known

to practitioners (38). Although the lingual plate is the most rigid mandibular connector, it may encourage plaque accumulation and risk the health of the supporting dental and gingival tissues (43). However, the lingual plate is well tolerated by a majority of patients and may contribute to indirect retention of the RPD (38, 44).

The dependence of the surveyed dentists on the dental technician to design the direct retainers of the RPD is alarming. Prescription of the type and position of the denture clasps was recorded in almost 20% of the cases (Table 3). This is compared to 47.7% in an Iranian survey (28).

Preparation of rest seats is an essential part of mouth rehabilitation to receive a metal RPD. Adequate rest seat preparation is important for denture support and effective indirect retention. Nonetheless, the results of this survey underline poor practice with respect to rest seat preparation. Evidence of rest seat preparation was missing in the majority of the examined master casts (Table 6). In the UAE survey (26), rest seat preparation was identified in 13 out of the 19 assessed cast RPD cases (68.4%). However, such small sample may not reflect the current practice among UAE dentists in this respect. In the UK, Nassani et al., (30) reported that preparation of rest seats was encountered in 23% of the studied RPD cases and Rice et al., (45) recognized rest seat preparation in 30% of the assessed casts for cobalt chromium RPDs.

A limitation for this survey is related to the surveyed dental laboratories. The choice of the laboratories was on the basis of practicality and availability of facilities for the fabrication of cobalt chromium RPDs. However, an account was made for the participation of laboratories from the different sectors of Riyadh.

It can be noted that the surveyed cases present a random sample of the constructed RPDs in Riyadh city and were included in the study due to their presence in the participating laboratory at the time of the study. Moreover, the examined cases in this survey came from the different geographical areas of Riyadh and probably present the current practice of general dental practitioners working in Riyadh with regard to communicating design features of cobalt chromium RPDs. However, the results cannot necessarily be generalized to the whole Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. Nevertheless, Riyadh city is the capital of the Kingdom. It hosts the largest turnover of medical and dental services across the country (32). Hence, one could argue that the outcome of this survey provide considerable insight on the current status of prescription for the construction of metal RPDs among dentists working in Saudi Arabia. A future national survey is recommended to confirm the findings.

#### Conclusion

The final outcome of this survey indicates poor quality of communicating the design features of cobalt chromium RPDs among practicing dentists in Riyadh, Saudi Arabia. The reliance on the dental technician to perform the design of the cast RPDs seems to be high. This finding is a sign of malpractice with ethical, legal and clinical implications. Further research, perhaps of qualitative nature, is recommended to understand the reasons behind such inappropriate professional behavior. Türkçe Özet: Suudi Arabistan Riyad'da kobalt krom hareketli parsiyel protezlerin dizayn özelliklerinin yaylaşılma kalitesi. Amaç: Bu araştırmada, kobalt krom hareketli parsiyel protezlerin (HPP) dizayn özelliklerinin Suudi Arabistan Riyad'daki diş hekimleri arasında paylaşılmasının incelenmesi amaçlanmıştır. Gereç ve Yöntem: Riyad'daki dokuz ticari dental laboratuvar araştırılmıştır. Her ziyarette, kobalt krom HPP için hazırlanmış ana modeler ve diş hekimlerinin yönergeleri incelenmiştir. Belirtilen yönergelerin kalite skoru 0-4 arasında notlanmıştır. Sıfır skor diş hekiminden laboratuvara hiçbir yönerge gelmediği anlamına gelmektedir. Skor 4 ise ana bağlayıcının şekli, direk tutucu elemanların tipi, direk tutucuların poziyonu ve tırnakların yeri gibi HPP'nin ana elemanlarının dizaynı için talimatlar verildiği anlamına gelmektedir. Bulgular: 162 diş hekimi talimatı ve ilgili modeler incelenmiştir. Vakaların büyük çoğunluğunun diş teknisyenleri tarafından planlandığı tespit edilmiştir (%64,2). Diş hekimlerinin talimatlarında en sık olarak ana bağlayıcı şekli belirtilmiştir (%35,8). Diş hekimlerinin kalite sokr ortalaması 0,96'dır (SS=1,54). Talimatların %18'inde 4 skoru belirlenmiştir. Kennedy Sınıf III vakalarda, Kennedy Sınıf II vakalara oranla daha yüksek kalite skorlarına rastlanmıştır (p<0.05). İncelenen modellerin %16,7'si açıkça tırnak yeri hazırlamayı belşrtmiştir. Sonuç: Bu araştırmanın bulguları Suudi Arabistan Riyad'da kobalt krom HPP dizayn özelliklerinin paylaşılmasında yetersiz bir kalite göstermektedir. Diş teknisyenlerinin HPP modeler üzerinde yaptıkları planlamalara olan güven büyüktür. Anahtar kelimeler: Kalite, dizayn, kobalt krom, hareketli, parsiyel protezler, Suudi Arabistan

Ethics Committee Approval: Not required.

**Informed Consent:** The informed consents were provided by the participants.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

**Author contributions:** MZN and MSA designed the study. MZN and MSA participated in generating the data for the study. MSA participated in gathering the data for the study and MZN participated in the analysis of the data. MZN wrote the majority of the original draft of the paper. MSA participated in writing the paper. All authors approved the final version of this paper.

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors had no conflict of interest to declare.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that they have received no financial support.

**Acknowledgements:** The authors would like to express their deep gratitude to the managers and staff of the surveyed dental laboratories for their invaluable assistance over the period of this survey. Many thanks and gratitude for the Deanship of Graduate Studies and Scientific Research at Dar Al Uloom University for the assistance in publication of this research.

#### References

- Wöstmann B, Budtz-Jørgensen E, Jepson N, Mushimoto E, Palmqvist S, Sofou A, Owall B. Indications for removable partial dentures: a literature review. Int J Prosthodont 2005;18:139-45.
- 3. Nassani MZ, Tarakji B, Baroudi K, Sakka S. Reappraisal of the removable partial denture as a treatment option for the shortened dental arch. Eur J Dent 2013;7:251-6. [CrossRef]
- Xie Q, Ding T, Yang G. Rehabilitation of oral function with removable dentures--still an option? J Oral Rehabil 2015;42:234-42. [CrossRef]
- Kleinman ER, Harper PR, Gallagher JE. Trends in NHS primary dental care for older people in England: Implications for the future. Gerodontology 2009;26:193-201. [CrossRef]
- White DA, Tsakos G, Pitts NB, Fuller E, Douglas GV, Murray JJ, Steele JG. Adult Dental Health Survey 2009: common oral

health conditions and their impact on the population. Br Dent J 2012;213:567-72. [CrossRef]

- Watt RG, Steele JG, Treasure ET, White DA, Pitts NB, Murray JJ. Adult Dental Health Survey 2009: Implications of findings for clinical practice and oral health policy. Br Dent J 2013; 214:71-5. [CrossRef]
- 8. Carlsson GE, Omar R. Trends in prosthodontics. Med Princ Pract 2006;15:167-79. [CrossRef]
- 9. Müller F, Naharro M, Carlsson GE. What are the prevalence and incidence of tooth loss in the adult and elderly population in Europe? Clin Oral Implants Res 2007;18:2-14. [CrossRef]
- Petersen PE, Kandelman D, Arpin S, Ogawa H. Global oral health of older people-call for public health action. Community Dent Health 2010; 27:257-67.
- 11. Al-Shammery AR. Demand for Dental Care in Saudi Arabia. Ann Saudi Med 1987;7:327-9. [CrossRef]
- Al-Fawaz, A. Needs and demands for dental treatment among Saudi female patients in the dental school in Riyadh. Saudi Dent J 1999;11:120-3.
- 13. Al-Ghannam NA, Al-Shammery AR, Wyne AH, Khan NB. Prosthetic dental treatment needs in Eastern Saudi Arabia. Saudi Med J 2002;23:975-80.
- 14. Al-Shehri SAM. Oral health status of older people in residential homes in Saudi Arabia. Open J Stomatol 2012;2:307-13. [CrossRef]
- 15. Peeran SA, Al Sanabani F, AL-Makramani BM, Elamin El. Dental prosthetic status and treatment needs of adult population in Jizan, Saudi Arabia: A survey report. Eur J Dent 2016;10:459-63. [CrossRef]
- Fouda SM, Al-Harbi FA, Khan SQ, Virtanen JI, Raustia A. Missing teeth and prosthetic treatment in patients treated at College of Dentistry, University of Dammam. Int J Dent 2017; 2017:7593540. [CrossRef]
- 17. Nassani MZ. Aspects of malpractice in Prosthodontics. J Prosthodont 2017;26:672-81. [CrossRef]
- EC Medical Devices Directive No 10. Guidelines to Medical Devices Directive 93/42/EEC for Manufacturers of Custom-Made Dental Devices. Dublin: Department of Health and Children; 1997.
- British Society for the Study of Prosthetic Dentistry. Guidelines in Prosthetic and Implant Dentistry. Quintessence Publishing Company, 1996.
- Vult von Steyern P, Widolf-Kroon R, Nilner K, Basker RM. Removable partial denture design habits in general dental practice in Sweden. Swed Dent J 1995;19:205-11.
- 21. Sykora O. Removable partial denture design by Canadian dental laboratories: a retrospective study. J Can Dent Assoc 1995;61:615-21.
- 22. Carneiro LC. Specifications provided by practitioners for the fabrication of removable acrylic prostheses in Tanzania. J Oral Rehabil 2006;33:660-5. [CrossRef]
- Radhi A, Lynch CD, Hannigan A. Quality of written communication and master impressions for fabrication of removable partial prostheses in the Kingdom of Bahrain. J Oral Rehabil 2007;34:153-7. [CrossRef]
- Kilfeather GP, Lynch CD, Sloan AJ, Youngson CC. Quality of communication and master impressions for the fabrication of cobalt chromium removable partial dentures in general dental practice in England, Ireland and Wales in 2009. J Oral Rehabil 2010;37:300-5. [CrossRef]
- Avrampou M, Kamposiora P, Papavasiliou G, Pissiotis A, Katsoulis J, Doukoudakis A. Design of removable partial dentures: a survey of dental laboratories in Greece. Int J Prosthodont 2012;25:66-9.
- Haj-Ali R, Al Quran F, Adel O. Dental laboratory communication regarding removable dental prosthesis design in the UAE. J Prosthodont 2012;21:425-8. [CrossRef]

- 27. Sui L, Wu X, Wu S, Gao P, Li R. The quality of written instructions for dental prostheses in China. J Prosthodont 2014; 23:602-9. [CrossRef]
- 28. Koodaryan R, Hafezeqoran A. The Quality of written prescriptions received at dental laboratories in Tabriz, Iran. Glob J Health Sci 2016;8:266-75. [CrossRef]
- 29. Ali SA, Khalifa N, Alhajj MN. Communication between dentists and dental technicians during the fabrication of removable partial dentures in Khartoum State, Sudan. Acta Stomatol Croat 2018;52:246-53. [CrossRef]
- Nassani MZ, Devlin H, Tarakji B, McCord JF. Designing cobalt chromium removable partial dentures for patients with shortened dental arches–a pilot survey. J Oral Rehabil 2011;38:608-14. [CrossRef]
- Al-Hallak KR, Nassani MZ, Heskul MM, Doumani MD, Darwish M. Reasons for choosing dentistry as a career among dental students in Saudi Arabia. Eur J Dent 2018;12:275-80. [CrossRef]
- Saudi Ministry of Health, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, Statistical Year Book 2017. https://www.moh.gov.sa/en/Ministry/ Statistics/Book/Pages/default.aspx. pdf Accessed Aug 11, 2018.
- Alshahrani AM, Raheel SA. Health-care system and accessibility of dental services in Kingdom of Saudi Arabia: An update. J Int Oral Health 2016;8:883-7.
- 34. Al-AlSheikh HM. Quality of communication between dentists and dental technicians for fixed and removable prosthodontics. King Saud Univ J Dent Sci 2012;3:55–60. [CrossRef]
- Tulbah H, AlHamdan E, AlQahtani A , AlShahrani A , AlShaye M. Quality of communication between dentists and dental laboratory technicians for fixed prosthodontics in Riyadh, Saudi Arabia. Saudi Dent J 2017;29:111-6. [CrossRef]
- Campbell SD, Cooper L, Craddock H, Hyde TP, Nattress B, Pavitt SH, Seymour DW. Removable partial dentures: The clinical need for innovation. J Prosthet Dent 2017;118:273-80. [CrossRef]
- Polychronakis N, Sotiriou M, Zissis A. A survey of removable partial denture casts and major connector designs found in commercial laboratories, Athens, Greece. J Prosthodont 2013;22:245-9. [CrossRef]
- Basker RM, Harrison A, Davenport JC, Marshall JL. Partial denture design in general dental practice – 10 years on. Br Dent J 1988;165:245–9. [CrossRef]
- 39. Lynch CD, Allen PF. A survey of chrome-cobalt RPD design in Ireland. Int J Prosthodont 2003;16:362–4. [CrossRef]
- Lynch CD, Allen PF. Quality of written prescriptions and master impressions for fixed and removable prosthodontics: a comparative study. Br Dent J 2005;198:17-20. [CrossRef]
- 41. Lynch CD, Allen PF. Why do dentists struggle with removable partial denture design? An assessment of financial and educational issues. Br Dent J 2006;200:277-81. [CrossRef]
- Basker RM, Davenport JC. A survey of partial denture design in general dental practice. J Oral Rehabil 1978;5:215–22. [CrossRef]
- 43. Bates JF, Addy M. Partial dentures and plaque accumulation. J Dent 1978;6:285–93. [CrossRef]
- Tomlin HR, Osborne J. Cobalt-chromium partial dentures. A clinical survey. Br Dent J 1961;110:307–10.
- Rice JA, Lynch CD, McAndrew R, Milward PJ. Tooth preparation for rest seats for cobalt-chromium removable partial dentures completed by general dental practitioners. J Oral Rehabil 2011;38:72–8. [CrossRef]



Eur Oral Res 2020; 54(3): 130-135



Official Publication of Istanbul University Faculty of Dentistry

### **Original research**

# Turkish adaptation and implementation of the modified infection control questionnaire in intraoral digital imaging

#### Purpose

There are very few studies evaluating the knowledge of dentists about infection precautions in oral radiology. The aim of this study was to assess the psychometric properties of the Turkish version of the modified form of a developed questionnaire and to apply this questionnaire to Turkish dentists.

#### **Materials and Methods**

The questionnaire was applied to a sample of 250 dentists for the scale development [200 for confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) and 50 for control] and 173 dentists for the implementation of the scale. The scale was applied to 200 dentists and construct validity was examined with CFA. For model fit; chi square to df ratio, RMSEA (Root Mean Square Error of Approximation), TLI (Tucker-Lewis Index), CFI (Comparative Fit Index), GFI (goodness of fit index), AGFI (adjusted goodness of fit index) and NFI (normed fit index) were obtained. Also, reliability analysis was applied and itemtotal correlations and Cronbach's alpha values were given. Adapted scale scores using a different sample of 173 dentists were compared according to demographic characteristics.

#### Results

CFA showed good fit statistics (X<sup>2</sup>/df=1.511, RMSEA=0.057, TLI=0.942, CFI=0.953, GFI=0.926, AGFI=0.900, NFI=0.928) for the scale. Item-total correlations were over 0.30 and Cronbach's alpha was calculated as 0.877. In addition, experienced dentists had higher scores in the dimension of personal hygiene (p<0.05).

#### Conclusion

The Turkish version of the modified infection control questionnaire in oral radiology showed adequate psychometric properties. This indicated that it could be a valid and reliable tool for the assessment of infection control in oral radiology among Turkish dentists.

Keywords: Infection control, Cross infection, Dentistry, Radiology, Questionnaires

#### Introduction

The passage of infectious agents from person to person is referred to as 'cross-infection'. Dentists, dental assistants, and patients are faced with various microorganisms in their dental practice, among them hepatitis B virus, hepatitis C virus, *herpes simplex* type 1 and type 2 viruses, human immunodeficiency virus, *streptococcus, cytomegalovirus, mycobacterium tuberculosis* are some of these microorganisms (1-3).

Cross-infection may occur during all dental procedures (4). One of these procedures is intraoral digital imaging (5,6). As radiology clinics see many patients in a short period, infection control precautions must be taken in a strict manner (2). It is emphasized that each patient should be considered to be infected and infection control precautions should be performed for all patients during radiography (2,7).

Due to saliva contamination, dental staff and patients are at high risk for cross-infection in intraoral radiography (2,5). Since saliva is difficult to

*How to cite:* Ozdede M, Akarslan Z, Altunkaynak B, Peker I.Turkish Adaptation and Implementation of the Modified Infection Control Questionnaire in Intraoral Digital Imaging. Eur Oral Res 2020; 54(3): 130-135.

Melih Ozdede<sup>1</sup><sup>®</sup>, Zuhre Akarslan<sup>2</sup><sup>®</sup>, Bulent Altunkaynak<sup>3</sup><sup>®</sup>, Ilkay Peker<sup>2</sup><sup>®</sup>

> ORCID IDs of the authors: M.O. 0000-0002-8783-802X; Z.A. 0000-0001-9237-412X; B.A. 0000-0002-7571-2155; I.P. 0000-0002-2888-2979

<sup>1</sup>Pamukkale University Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Dentomaxillofacial Radiology, Denizli, Turkey

> <sup>2</sup>Gazi University Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Dentomaxillofacial Radiology, Ankara, Turkey

> > <sup>3</sup>Gazi University Faculty of Arts and Sciences, Department of Statistics, Ankara, Turkey

> > > Corresponding Author: Melih Ozdede

E-mail: melihozdede@gmail.com

Received: 11 November, 2019 Revised: 11 March, 2020 Accepted: 25 April, 2020

DOI: 10.26650/eor.20200129



This work is licensed under Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International License discriminate, the risk of infection in intraoral radiography procedures is ever-present (8).

Dental personnel and patients are at high risk of developing tuberculosis, herpes viruses, upper respiratory tract infections, and hepatitis viruses. To prevent cross-infection between dental staff and patients, infection control procedures are performed. During dental radiographic procedures, the performer's hands, the patient's mouth, sensors, tube, exposure button, keyboard, and mouse may be contaminated with saliva. The risk of cross-infection is high in dental radiology. Thus, radiographic infection control precautions must be applied to all patients (3).

To the best of our knowledge, there are very few studies (9,10) in the literature evaluating the knowledge of dentists about infection precautions in oral radiology through the use of a dedicated questionnaire.

The first aim of this study was to assess the psychometric properties (internal consistency and structural validity) of the Turkish version of the modified form of a questionnaire developed by da Costa et al. (9); the second was to apply this questionnaire to Turkish dentists.

#### **Materials and Methods**

Before beginning the study, ethical approval was obtained from Pamukkale University Medical Ethics Committee (Research Code No: 60116787-020/77263, Date of approval: 20/11/2017). This work was done in accordance with the principles defined in the Declaration of Helsinki, including all revisions.

A questionnaire developed by Da Costa et al. (9) was used in our study. In the questionnaire of that study, 31 items in

 Table 1. Modified infection control questionnaire

nine domains were created. The domains were handwashing, gloves, clothing, accessories, radiographic sensors, protection of radiography equipment, overgloves, overgloves (in digital imaging) and cleaning.

For our study, initially, the questionnaire used in the study of Da Costa et al. (9) was translated from English to Turkish and then re-translated into English by a native Turkish and fluent English speaking dentist who did not participate in the other parts of the study. The infection control questionnaire, consisting of 18 items, was formed according to this revision (Table 1). Thus, the validity was obtained, and the adapted questionnaire was finalized.

The dentists who used digital intraoral imaging were invited to answer the translated Turkish version of the modified infection control questionnaire by e-mail. Also, members of the Turkish Dental Association were invited to do so by their e-mail group.

#### Study sample

In scale development studies, it is mentioned that the sample size should not be less than 100 and should be at least five times the number of items (11-13). Thus, the questionnaire was applied to 250 dentists for the scale development [200 for confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) and 50 for control] and 173 dentists for the implementation of the scale. 200 dentists completed the survey for CFA. Fifty others completed the questionnaire to provide a control group.

For the second part of the study, the adapted questionnaire was filled in by 173 dentists. The demographic features of the dentists were documented. The dimensions of the

Questions	1: Never	2: Rarely	3: Sometimes	4: Mostly	5: Always
1: I wear a mask during radiography.					
2: I wash my hands before wearing gloves.					
3: I wash my hands after removing my gloves.					
4: I cover the sensor with a disposable barrier.					
5: I use the disposable barrier (stretch film, aluminum foil, etc.) of the patient's seat used during radiography after each patient.					
6: I cover the x-ray tube head with a disposable barrier.					
7: I cover the exposure button with a disposable barrier.					
8: I cover the computer keyboard with a disposable barrier.					
9: I cover the computer mouse with a disposable barrier.					
10: I use gloves when placing the sensor to the mouth.					
11: I use gloves when dressing the patient lead aprons and thyroid protectors.					
12: I use gloves when setting the x-ray tube head.					
13: I use gloves when pushing the exposure button.					
14: After every patient I disinfect the patient's chair.					
15: After every patient I disinfect the exposure button.					
16: After every patient I disinfect the x-ray tube head.					
17: I regularly disinfect the contact surfaces of the radiographic process.					
18: I disinfect the contact surfaces in the radiography process after individuals with infectious diseases, like hepatitis.					

questionnaire were compared with age, gender, education level (general dentist or specialist dentist) and experience in dentistry (1–5 years, 5–10 years, 10 years and above) with multi-comparison tests. Figure 1 is a flowchart outlining the steps of the method used.



*Figure 1.* Flow-process diagram for the preparation and implementation of the survey.

#### Data analysis

For construct validity, CFA was used. For model fit; X<sup>2</sup>/df ratio, RMSEA (Root Mean Square Error of Approximation), TLI (Tucker-Lewis Index), CFI (Comparative Fit Index), GFI (goodness of fit index), AGFI (adjusted goodness of fit index) and NFI (normed fit index) were obtained. For reliability analysis, item-total correlations and Cronbach's alpha values were given. Adapted scale scores using a different sample of 173 dentists were compared according to demographic characteristics. The normality assumption of the data was examined by the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test before comparing according to demographic characteristics and it was seen that the normal distribution assumption was provided (p>0.05). Therefore, t-test was used to compare the two groups and one-way ANOVA was used to compare more than two groups. Tukey test was used for pairwise comparisons after ANOVA. The upper limit of the significance level was accepted as 0.05 for all analyzes. The LISREL 10.2 (Scientific Software International; Lincolnwood, IL, USA) and SPSS 22 package programs (SPSS, Inc.; Chicago, IL, USA) were used to analyze the data.

#### Results

In total, 423 dentists responded to the survey; 250 for the first part and 173 for the second part of the study.

#### Validity and reliability analysis

A questionnaire consisting of three dimensions was applied to a group consisting of 200 dentists and its validity examined by CFA. As can be seen in Figure 2, the standardized loads were 0.33 and above.

The fact that the chi square to df value is less than 2 in the model fit coefficients indicates a good fit, and that it is between 2 and 3 indicates an acceptable fit. According to Brown (14), TLI and CFI values being 0.90 or above indicate model fit. GFI values between 0.90 and 0.95 are acceptable,



Chi-Square=175.25, df=132, P-value=0.00000, RMSEA=0.057

Figure 2. Confirmatory factor analysis graphic.

and greater than 0.95 indicates a good fit. (15,16). Values greater than 0.85 are acceptable for AGFI values (17-19). Similar ranges are applicable for NFI (20). According to Browne and Cudeck (21), RMSEA value below 0.08 is another indicator for model fit. In our study, model fit indexes were calculated as:  $X^2/df=1.511$ , RMSEA=0.057, TLI=0.942, CFI=0.953, GFI=0.926, AGFI=0.900 and NFI=0.928.

Item-total statistics belonging to the items are given in Table 2. Total correlations of the items were over 0.30. The reliability coefficient for the complete questionnaire was  $X^2/df = 0.877$ .

#### Comparison of the scales in the questionnaire

For the second part of the study, 173 dentists (86 females and 87 males) with a mean age of 36.4 responded to the survey. Table 3 shows the details of the demographic features and comparison of three dimensions. There was no statistically significant difference according to age, gender and education level in the 95% confidence level (p>0.05). On the other hand, it was observed that the mean averages were not the same according to professional experience (p<0.05). Multi-comparison test results showed that the mean for the first dimension of the individuals with more experience was significantly higher than the others. Besides, it can be said that the averages of the second and third dimensions did not show a significant difference according to age, gender, education level, and experience, at 95% confidence level (p>0.05).

#### Table 2. Item-total statistics of the 18 items

Dimension	ltems	Mean	SD	Corrected Item-Total Correlation	Cronbach's Alpha if Item Deleted
	M1	3,29	,973	,595	,867
	M2	3,73	1,401	,411	,874
Dimension 1	M3	3,53	,834	,400	,874
(personal hygiene)	M10	2,33	1,474	,525	,869
(α=0.824)	M11	1,88	1,344	,556	,863
	M12	2,27	1,543	,581	,860
	M13	1,99	1,404	,559	,868
D:	M4	3,55	1,548	,521	,865
Dimension 2 (precautions	M5	1,92	1,497	,504	,870
during	M6	3,90	,450	,519	,864
radiographic	M7	3,35	1,534	,501	,865
(q=0.876)	M8	3,25	1,384	,494	,871
(u=0.070)	M9	3,93	1,599	,481	,872
Dimension 3	M14	3,33	1,503	,572	,861
(precautions	M15	3,28	1,507	,688	,854
after radiographic	M16	3,16	1,541	,625	,857
procedures)	M17	3,91	1,361	,522	,869
(α= 0.859)	M18	3,69	,911	,464	,872

#### Discussion

Digital imaging in dentistry is rapidly spreading (6). Despite the advantages of lower radiation doses by comparison with conventional film-based radiography – the elimination of chemical processing and the need for storage, for instance – traditional methods remain the norm, and infection control has become a substantial problem (22). According to a Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) report, digital imaging sensors are categorized as semi-critical devices (5). These devices come into contact with the oral mucosa and should be covered with a barrier and cleaned after each x-ray exposure, in order to reduce cross-contamination.

Few studies (9,10) have been carried out into infection control in oral radiology. In Da Costa et al.'s first study (9), the researchers aimed to create a valid questionnaire for the assessment of infection control in oral radiology. The final version of the questionnaire of Da Costa et al (9), consisting of 31 items in 9 domains, showed good psychometric properties for determining infection control. There were 18 items in our modified version of the Turkish guestionnaire. There were three dimensions in our study, compared to nine in the other (9). In our study, item-total correlations were found to be greater than 0.30 and Cronbach's alpha was calculated as 0.877, as in the other study. In construct validity, all the questions in our study had good agreement, while in the other study, most of the questions had a good agreement. The reason for achieving better agreement in our study may be the lower number of questions, compared to Da Costa et al.'s study (9).

After Da Costa et al.'s study (9) of the development and validation of the infection control questionnaire in oral radiology, the researchers applied that questionnaire to 1,006 dentists and 1,203 dental students (10). According to the results of that study, there was no significant association

**Table 3.** Demographic features and comparison of the dimensions in terms of the demographic characteristics of the 173 dentists who participated in the second part of the study.

					Dime	nsion 1			Dimer	nsion 2			Dimen	ision 3	
Variable	Category	f	%	Mean	SD	Test	р	Mean	SD	Test	р	Mean	SD	Test	р
	20-29	61	35,3	4,17	,69			2,08	,96			3,72	,81		
	30-39	56	32,4	4,09	,66			2,07	1,14			3,70	1,00		
Age	40-49	27	15,6	4,28	,76	1.69 <sup>⊧</sup>	0.17	2,07	1,31	1.87⁵	0.32	3,70	,96	0.01 <sup>F</sup>	0.99
	50 and above	29	16,8	4,35	,68		1,67	,82			3,69	,97			
Candar	Female	87	50,3	4,20	,65	0 77t	0.771 0.44	2,00	1,06	0.101 0.0	0.02	3,79	,94	1 <b>2</b> 5t	0.21
Gender	Male	86	49,7	4,12	,68	0.77 <sup>t</sup> 0.44 -	2,02	1,07	-0.10	-0.10 <sup>°</sup> 0.92	3,62	,89	1.25	0.21	
Education	General dentist	140	80,9	4,17	,64	0.72 <sup>t</sup>	0.47	1,94	1,05	-1.78 <sup>t</sup>	0.08	3,69	,87	-0.44 <sup>t</sup>	0.66
level	Specialist	33	19,1	4,08	,75			2,30	1,09			3,77	1,10		
	1–5 years	56	32,4	4,06ª	,58			1,97	,90			3,66	,76		
Experience	5–10 years	39	22,5	4,02ª	,69	3.06 <sup>F</sup>	0.04*	2,17	1,09	0.62 <sup>F</sup>	0.54	3,74	,97	0.11 <sup>F</sup>	0.90
·	10 years and above	78	45,1	4,29 <sup>b</sup>	,68			1,95	1,16	-		3,72	1,00	-	
*p<0.05; <sup>F</sup> F val	p < 0.05: <sup>F</sup> F value: <sup>1</sup> t value: Different letters at mean indicate statistical significance at $p < 0.05$ .														

with respect to experience in the profession, age, specialty, or working institution, although male dentists had lower scores in infection control than females (10). In the present study, experienced dentists had higher scores regarding personal hygiene. However, no differences were detected according to age, gender and education level. In Da Costa et al's study, infection control of the keyboard and mouse was found to be poor (10). Controversially, the results of our survey showed that the barrier protection of the keyboard and mouse had high scores. Also, the protection of the patient chair and radiographic equipment had higher scores in our study. The number of our respondents was lower than in Da Costa et al's study (10). This may be explained by the inclusion criteria of our study: we only invited the dentists who took intraoral x-rays themselves.

Gamoh et al. (8) published a survey study about the infection control awareness of dentists and dental hygienists in a university hospital in Japan. According to the results of that study, nearly half of the dentists stated that they washed their hands before putting on gloves. One in four said that they washed their hands sometimes, and one in four that they did not wash them at all. In Gamoh et al.'s study (8), hand hygiene before donning gloves was found to be better in males than in females. Our results were different in this respect, with no significant difference between the genders being found for the personal hygiene dimension.

To the best of our knowledge, our questionnaire-based study is the first systematic attempt to investigate the infection control of Turkish dentists in oral radiology. However, the perceptions and attitudes of 135 Turkish dentists about cross-infection in general dental procedures had previously been studied by Yuzbasioglu et al. (23). According to the results of that study, almost all participants reported that all patients should be considered infectious, and precautions taken in every patient (23). However, they found that only 18.5% of the participants favored barrier protection or cleaning of the dental radiographic equipment. In that study, it was not reported whether the radiographic systems were conventional or digital, intraoral or extraoral imaging systems (23).

#### Conclusion

The results of the present study showed that the Turkish version of the modified infection control questionnaire in oral radiology showed adequate psychometric properties. This indicated that it could be a valid and reliable tool for the assessment of infection control in oral radiology among Turkish dentists. The study also showed that experienced dentists had higher scores in the dimension of personal hygiene.

**Türkçe Özet:** İntraoral Dijital Görüntülemede Modifiye Enfeksiyon Kontrol Anketinin Türkçe'ye Uyarlanması ve Uygulanması. Amaç: Oral radyolojinde enfeksiyon kontrol önlemleri konusunda diş hekimlerinin bilgilerini değerlendiren çok az çalışma vardır. Bu çalışmanın amacı, geliştirilmiş bir anket formunun Türkçe versiyonunun psikometrik özelliklerini değerlendirmek ve bu anketi Türk diş hekimlerine uygulamaktır. Gereç ve Yöntem: Anket, ölçek geliştirme için 250 diş hekimine [doğrulayıcı faktör analizi (CFA) için 200, kontrol grubu için 50 hekim], ölçeğin uygulanması için ise 173 diş hekimine uygulanmıştır. Ölçek, 200 diş hekiminden oluşan örnekleme uygulanmış ve yapı geçerliği CFA ile incelenmiştir. Model uyumu için, x<sup>2</sup>/df oranı, RMSEA (ortalama karesel yaklaşım hatası), TLI (Tucker-Lewis indeksi), CFI (karşılaştırmalı uyum indeksi), GFI (uyum iyiliği indeksi), AGFI (ayarlanmış uyum indeksi) ve NFI (normlu uyum indeksi) ölçüleri elde edilmiştir. Ayrıca güvenirlik analizi uygulanmış ve madde-toplam korelasyonları ve Cronbach alfa değerleri verilmiştir. Daha sonra, 173 diş hekiminden oluşan farklı bir örneklem kullanılarak uyarlanmış ölçek puanları demografik özelliklere göre karşılaştırılmıştır. Bulgular: CFA, ölçek için model uyum iyilikleri (x²/ df=1.511, RMSEA=0.057, TLI=0.942, CFI=0.953, GFI=0.926, AGFI=0.900, NFI=0.928) göstermiştir. Madde-toplam korelasyonları 0.30'un üzerindedir ve Cronbach alfa 0.877 olarak hesaplanmıştır. Ayrıca, kişisel hijyen boyutunda tecrübeli diş hekimleri daha yüksek puanlara sahipti (p<0.05). Sonuc: Oral radyolojide modifiye edilmiş enfeksiyon kontrol anketinin Türkçe versiyonu yeterli psikometrik özellikler göstermiştir. Bu sonuçlar, anketin Türk diş hekimleri arasında oral radyolojide enfeksiyon kontrolünün değerlendirilmesi için geçerli ve güvenilir bir araç olabileceğini göstermiştir. Anahtar Kelimeler: Enfeksiyon kontrolü, Çapraz enfeksiyon, Diş hekimliği, Radyoloji, Anketler

**Ethics Committee Approval:** Ethical approval was obtained from Pamukkale University Medical Ethics Committee (Research Code No: 60116787-020/77263, Date of approval: 20/11/2017). This work was done in accordance with the principles defined in the Declaration of Helsinki, including all revisions.

**Informed Consent:** The informed consents were provided by the participants.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

**Author contributions:** MO, ZA, BA, and IP participated in design of the study. MO and IP participated in generating the data for the study. MO and IP participated in gathering the data for the study. BA participated in the analysis of the data. MO and IP wrote the majority of the original draft of the paper. MO, ZA, BA, and IP participated in writing the paper. All authors approved the final version of this paper.

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors had no conflict of interest to declare.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that they have received no financial support.

**Acknowledgments:** We are grateful to the Turkish Dental Association (TDB) for increasing the number of respondents in this study.

#### References

- 1. Araujo MW, Andreana S. Risk and prevention of transmission of infectious diseases in dentistry. Quintessence Int 2002;33:376–82.
- Peker I, Ozdede M. Intraoral dijital görüntülemede enfeksiyon kontrolü. Turkiye Klinikleri J Oral Maxillofac Radiol-Special Topics 2016;2:55–60.
- 3. White SC, Pharoah MJ. Oral radiology, principles and interpretation. 7th ed. St. Louis: Missouri: Mosby; 2014.
- 4. Ozsevik S, Cicek E, Bodrumlu E, Guney AK. Bacterial survival in the radiographic processes. Minerva Stomatol 2012;61:135–40.
- Kohn WG, Collins AS, Cleveland JL, Harte JA, Eklund KJ, Malvitz DM et al. Guidelines for infection control in dental health-care settings-2003. MMWR Recomm Rep 2003;52:1–61. [CrossRef]
- 6. Charuakkra A, Prapayasatok S, Janhom A, Verochana K, Mahasantipiya P. Infection control and patient discomfort with an alternative plastic barrier in intraoral digital radiography. Dentomaxillofac Radiol 2017;46:20160253. [CrossRef]
- Recommended infection-control practices for dentistry, 1993. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. MMWR Recomm Rep 1993;42:1–12.
- Gamoh S, Akiyama H, Maruyama H, Ohshita N, Nakayama M, Matsumoto K et al. Compliance with infection control practices when taking dental x-rays: Survey of a Japanese dental school. Clin Exp Dent Res 2018;4:158–66. [CrossRef]

9.

- Dentomaxillofac Radiol 2017;46:20160338. [CrossRef]
  10. da Costa ED, da Costa AD, Lima CAS, Possobon RF, Ambrosano GMB. The assessment of adherence to infection control in oral radiology using newly developed and validated questionnaire (QICOR). Dentomaxillofac Radiol 2018;47:20170437. [CrossRef]
- 11. Comrey AL, Lee HL. A first course in factor analysis. 2nd ed. Hillsdale, New Jersey: Erlbaum; 1992.
- 12. Guilford JP. Psychometric methods. 2nd ed. New York: McGraw Hill; 1954.
- 13. Tavsancil E. Tutumların olculmesi ve spss ile veri analizi. 1st ed. Ankara: Nobel Yayıncılık; 2002.
- 14. Brown TA. Confirmatory factor analysis for applied research. 1st ed. NY: Guilford Press; 2006, p.1-412.
- Hooper D, Coughlan J, Mullen MR. Structural equation modelling: Guidelines for determining model fit. Elect J Bus Res Methods 2008;6:53–60.
- 16. Miles J, Shevlin M. A time and a place for incremental fit indices. Pers Individ Dif 2007;42:869–74. [CrossRef]

- Raykov T, Marcoulides GA. A first course in structural equation modeling. 2nd ed. London: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates; 2006, p.1-43.
- Schermelleh-Engel K, Moosbrugger H, Müller H. Evaluating the fit of structural equation models: Tests of significance and descriptive goodness-of-fit measures. Methods Psychol Res Online 2003;8:23-74.
- 19. Vieira AL. Interactive LISREL in practice. 1st ed. London: Springer; 2011, p.1-4. [CrossRef]
- Hu LT, Bentler PM. Cutoff criteria for fit indexes in covariance structure analysis: Conventional criteria versus new alternatives. Struct Equ Modelling 1999;6,1–55. [CrossRef]
- Browne MW, Cudeck R. Alternative ways of assessing model fit. In: Bollen KA, Long JS, editors. Testing structural models. Newbury Park: Sage, 1993, p.136-162.
- 22. Choi JW. Perforation rate of intraoral barriers for direct digital radiography. Dentomaxillofac Radiol 2015;44:20140245. [CrossRef]
- 23. Yuzbasioglu E, Sarac D, Canbaz S, Sarac YS, Cengiz S. A survey of cross-infection control procedures: knowledge and attitudes of Turkish dentists. J Appl Oral Sci 2009;17:565–9. [CrossRef]



Eur Oral Res 2020; 54(3): 136-141



Official Publication of Istanbul University Faculty of Dentistry

#### **Original research**

# Evaluation of third molar agenesis associated with hypodontia and oligodontia in turkish pediatric patients

#### Purpose

To evaluate the association between third molar (M3) agenesis and hypodontia and oligodontia in pediatric patients by using panoramic radiography.

#### **Materials and Methods**

Panoramic radiographs of 1,471 patients (899 females; 572 males) and 5,884 teeth were retrospectively evaluated. The age and gender of the patients were recorded. Patients ages 9-15 years old were included in the study. The mean age was 12.76. The agenesis of M3 teeth and the relationship between M3 agenesis and hypodontia and oligodontia were recorded according to findings from the upper and lower jaw, in both the right and left locations, along with the number of M3 with agenesis. Data were analyzed using chi-square and McNemar tests (p<0.05).

#### Results

A total of 1,319 (89.7%) patients had all M3 teeth present in the mouth, while the other 152 (10.3%) had congenital agenesis in one or more teeth. The number of teeth in which M3 agenesis was seen, in order of the number of missing M3 teeth, the percentages were 2.6% for one, 2.4% for two, 1.0% for three and 4.3% for four missing teeth.Hypodontia was detected in 37 patients and oligodontia was detected in 3 patients.

#### Conclusion

The prevalence of M3 agenesis varies from one population to another. Two of the dental anomalies associated with M3 agenesis are hypodontia and oligodontia. In this study, M3 agenesis varied in terms of region and gender; hypodontia was also significantly higher in patients with missing mandibular M3.

**Keywords:** Hypodontia; Oligodontia, Panoramic radiography, Third molar agenesis, Tooth loss

#### Introduction

Tooth agenesis is defined as congenitally missing one or more teeth in deciduous or permanent dentition. These teeth are unerupted and radio-logically invisible (1). Currently, about 50% of the third molar (M3) teeth have some form of anomaly that may be impacted or partially erupted. However, they may be absent in the oral cavity (2). Formation time, crown and root morphology of each are widely variable (3).

Tooth agenesis is one of the dental anomalies that is most commonly observed in dentition. Hypodontia is defined as the absence of one to five teeth, excluding the M3. Oligodontia is defined as the absence of six or more teeth, excluding the M3. Anodontia is an extraordinary situation presenting the total absence of teeth (4-6). The most commonly observed tooth agenesis is M3 agenesis which can occur idiopathically or with a syndrome (7). Habitual eating changes in human evolutionary development can cause structural changes to the teeth and jaw (8). To explain the congenital absence of different tooth groups, several hypotheses have been proposed for many years. Meltem Tekbas Atay<sup>1</sup> <sup>(D)</sup>, Neslihan Ozveren<sup>2</sup> <sup>(D)</sup>, Gozde Serindere<sup>3</sup> <sup>(D)</sup>

ORCID IDs of the authors: M.T.A. 0000-0002-1762-830X; N.Ö. 0000-0002-1090-5415; G.S. 0000-0001-7439-3554

<sup>1</sup>Trakya University, Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Restorative Dentistry, Edirne, Turkey

<sup>2</sup>Trakya University, Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Paediatrics Dentistry, Edirne, Turkey

<sup>3</sup>Hatay Mustafa Kemal University, Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Dentomaxillofacial Radiology, Hatay, Turkey

Corresponding Author: Gozde Serindere

E-mail: gozdeserindere@mku.edu.tr

Received: 03 December, 2019 Revised: 15 February, 2020 Accepted: 08 May, 2020

DOI: 10.26650/eor.20200134



This work is licensed under Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International License

*How to cite:* Tekbas-Atay M, Ozveren N, Serindere G. Evaluation of Third Molar Agenesis Associated with Hypodontia and Oligodontia In Turkish Pediatric Patients. Eur Oral Res 2020; 54(3): 136-141.

However, in the etiology of congenital tooth absence, environmental, local, systemic and genetic factors can be efficient (9). Reports have been made about mutations in some genes which are effective in the growth and development process; reports have also been made about non-syndromic or familial cases of congenital tooth agenesis (10).

The time of development, calcification and eruption of M3 are highly variable. The minimum age of the development germ formation of M3 teeth is 6 years according to the literature although the mean age of development is 8 or 9 years (11,12). Calcification can begin at the age of 7 years in some cases and up to 16 years. The formation of enamel is generally finalised between the age of 12 and 18 years while root formation is generally finalised between the age of 18 and 25 years (13).

In most of studies, the eruption criteria was the emergence of any crown part through the oral cavity. This can reveal incorrect results because many of the M3 don't continue to erupt but remain impacted as a partially erupted situation (14). However, the M3 is the last to erupt and is seen in the intra-oral cavity within the permanent dentition. Additionally, it is reported that the most common congenital tooth agenesis is detected in M3 in about 15-20% of cases (15).

On the other hand, the agenesis of M3 may be associated with some numerical dental and morphological anomalies (16). In the literature there are widely variable results about the frequency of M3 agenesis. It was reported that the agenesis of other teeth was observed 13 times more with the agenesis of M3 (17).

There may also be characteristic differences in societies as well as individuals in terms of congenital dental anomalies. Tooth agenesis varies from one continent to another and between genders. In this context, given the large population of young individuals who live in the Thrace region of Turkey, detection of whether there are significant deficiencies with respect to the development of M3' germs and identification is important. This is especially true regarding the association of M3 agenesis with other permanent teeth that are missing and the variations of agenesis localizations. The use of radiological evaluations is important for gaining epidemiological insights. The aim of this study was to evaluate the prevalence and distribution of M3 agenesis and the relationship between M3 agenesis and hypodontia and oligodontia in a population of Turkish pediatric patients.

The null hypotheses investigated were (1) the prevalence of M3, hypodontia and oligodontia, regardless of the distributions of teeth, would present with significantly different rates in terms of gender and (2) there would not be a significant relationship between M3 and other congenital permanent tooth agenesis.

#### **Materials and Methods**

After the ethical committee approval of the Trakya University Medical Faculty (Protocol number: TÜTF-BAEK 2018/134), the study was started. The patients who were referred to the Faculty of Dentistry for various reasons during the years 2015 through 2017 were randomly selected. Panoramic radiographs of 1,471 patients (899 females; 572 males) were retrospectively evaluated. Patients' gender and age were noted. Patients over 15 years old, patients with systemic and congenital disease, or any pathology in the jaws and poor quality of radiographs were excluded from this study. M3 agenesis, hypodontia and oligodontia were evaluated as missing teeth that had no detectable germs on panoramic radiographs. The panoramic radiographs of healthy children who presented for routine dental examinations were obtained. All radiographs were taken using a panoramic radiography machine (PaX-Flex; Vatech Inc., NJ) (50–90 kV, 4–10 mA and 10.1 s exposure time) by the same technicianfor standardization.

Each radiograph was digitally analyzed. One observer was responsible for evaluation of the panoramic radiographs. One observer checked 50 radiographs twice during a period of two weeks to estimate Intraclass Correlations (ICC).

#### Statistical analysis

The Statistical Package for Social Science (SPSS) 20.0 software program (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) was used for evaluation of the study data. The percentage distribution, mean (±) and standard deviation were studied for the descriptive statistics. The chi-square test was applied for the analysis of categoric variables, but for comparisons of maxilla-mandible and right-left side agenesis, chi-square test was not suitable because these groups belonged to same patients, so they were dependent. For these comparisons the McNemar test was applied. Independent samples T-test was used to test the relationships of hypodontia and oligodontia with the number of missing M3 teeth. A p value above 0.05 was considered as not significant.

#### Results

The reliability was estimated by ICC for all observations. ICC indicated excellent reliability for intra-observer evaluations.

In this study, 1,471 patients in the age range of 9 to 15 (12.76±1.72) years and the panoramic radiographs of 5,884 teeth were examined; 899 of the patients (61.1%) were females and 572 (38.9%) were males. As shown in the panoramic radiography, 1,319 (89.7%) patients had all M3 teeth present in the mouth, while the other 152 (10.3%) had congenital agenesis in one or more teeth. The number of teeth that M3 agenesis was seen in, in order of the number of missing teeth, was one (2.6%), two (2.4%), three (1.0%) and four (4.3%) (Graph 1). When M3 missing teeth were analyzed by gender, despite congenital agenesis being seen more in males than females, the difference was not significant



**Figure 1.** Distribution of M3 agenesis by gender according to the number of missing teeth.

(p=0.076). Also, when analyzed separately for the number of missing M3 teeth (one, two, three or four) by gender, the differences were not significant (p=0.943) (Table 1).

The most common M3 tooth agenesis was observed in the upper left region (7.2%), followed by the lower-right (7.1%), upper-right (6.9%) and lower-left (6.5%). With regard to the relationship between gender and these teeth, the differences were not significant (p>0.05) (Table 2).

**Table 1.** Distribution of M3 tooth agenesis according to teeth,gender, and age. The numbers in parentheses indicate percentages

#### M3 teeth agenesis n(%)

Age	Gender	18	28	38	48	Total number of M3 teeth agenesis
	Male	5	5	5	5	20
6	Female	7	8	7	7	29
	Total	12 (24.5)	13 (26.5)	12 (24.5)	12 (24.5)	49 (12)
	Male	3	3	3	3	12
10	Female	2	2	2	2	8
	Total	5 (25.0)	5 (25.0)	5 (25.0)	5 (25.0)	20 (4.9)
	Male	6	4	3	5	18
1	Female	4	5	6	6	21
	Total	10 (25.6)	9 (23.1)	9 (23.1)	11 (28.2)	39 (9.6)
	Male	3	2	2	2	9
12	Female	11	10	13	12	46
	Total	14 (25.5)	12 (21.8)	15 (27.2)	14 (25.5)	55 (13.5)
	Male	6	8	10	9	33
13	Female	20	21	17	21	79
	Total	26 (23.2)	29 (25.9)	27 (24.1)	30 (26.8)	112 (27.5)
	Male	6	6	8	6	26
14	Female	16	15	11	13	55
	Total	22 (27.2)	21 (25.8)	19 (23.5)	19 (23.5)	81 (19.9)
	Male	3	4	1	3	11
15	Female	9	13	8	10	40
	Total	12 (23.5)	17 (33.3)	9 (17.7)	13 (25.5)	51 (12.6)
	Male	32 (24.8) <sup>a</sup>	32 (24.8) <sup>b</sup>	32 (24.8) <sup>c</sup>	33 (25.6) <sup>d</sup>	129 (31.7)
9-15	Female	69 (24.8)ª	74 (26.6) <sup>b</sup>	64 (23.0) <sup>c</sup>	71 (25.6) <sup>d</sup>	278 (68.3)
	Total	101 (24.8)	106 (26.0)	96 (23.6)	104 (25.6)	407
a,b,c,c	Difference	s between a	ender. pª=0.	124. p <sup>b</sup> =0.0 <sup>4</sup>	57. p <sup>c</sup> =0.248.	p <sup>d</sup> =0.121

The state of missing M3 teeth was examined according to maxilla and mandible; agenesis was slightly higher in the maxilla compared to the mandible. The difference was not statistically significant (p=0.640) (Table 2).

The total numbers of missing teeth in the maxilla and mandible were found 207 (7.0%) and 200 (6.8%), respectively. The total number of missing M3 teeth was 205 (7.0%) in the lower and upper-right side of the jaws, while it was 202 (6.9%) in the lower and upper-left side. The difference was not statistically significant (p=0.871).

One-hundred fifty-two patients who had congenital agenesis of M3 teeth were evaluated for hypodontia and oligodontia (Figures 1, 2). Hypodontia was detected in 37 (24.3%) pa-



Figure 1. Hypodontia with M3 agenesis on panoramic radiographs.



Figure 2a,b. Oligodontia with M3 agenesis on panoramic radiographs.

**Table 2.** The rates of M3 agenesis in the maxilla–mandible and on the right-left sides of the jaws. The numbers in parentheses indicate percentages

Gender	Maxillary	v (18-28)	Mandibular (38-48)		Right side	e (18-48)	Left side (28-38)		
n (%)	Present	Absent	Present	Absent	Present	Absent	Present	Absent	
Male	1080 (36.7)	64 (2.2)	1079 (36.7)	65 (2.2)	1079 (36.7)	65 (2.2)	1080 (36.7)	64 (2.2)	
Female	1655 (56.3)	143 (4.8)	1663 (56.5)	135 (4.6)	1658 (56.3)	140 (4.8)	1660 (56.4)	138 (4.7)	
Total	2735 (93.0)	207ª (7.0)	2742 (93.2)	200ª (6.8)	2737 (93)	205 <sup>b</sup> (7)	2740 (93.1)	202 <sup>b</sup> (6.9)	
<sup>ab</sup> Differences between total number of absence of M3. 'a' for maxilla and mandibula, 'b' for right and left side. $p^a=0.640$ , $p^b=0.871$									

tients and oligodontia was detected in 3 (2%) patients. We didn't find a significant relationship between oligodontia and missing individual (18,28,38,48), maxillary (18-28), mandibular (38-48), right (18-48) or left (28-38) M3 teeth (p>0.05).

There was no significant relationship between hypodontia and missing upper left or upper right M3 teeth (p>0.05) but we found that hypodontia was significantly higher in patients with missing lower left (p=0.003) or lower right (p<0.001) M3 teeth.

There was no significant relationship between hypodontia and missing right (18,48), left (28,38), maxillary(18,28) M3 teeth (p>0.05). However, we found that hypodontia was significantly higher in patients with missing mandibular (38,48) M3 teeth (p=0.001) (Table 3).

The percentages on how many hypodontia/oligodontia cases were observed when one, two, three or four M3 were congenitally absent were shown in Table 3. As the number of missing M3 teeth increased, the probability of hypodontia increased as expected (p = 0.004), but no significant relationship was found with the presence of oligodontia (p = 0.653).

Table 3. The rates of hypodontia and oligodontia according to M3

tooth agenesis. The numbers in parentheses indicate percentages								
	Hypodontia	Oligodontia						
Missing 18	25 (24.8)	2 (2)						
Missing 28	27 (25.5)	3 (2.8)						
Missing 38	31 (32.3)*	2 (2.1)						
Missing 48	34 (32.7)**	3 (2.5)						
Missing Maxillary (18-28)	28 (23.7)	2 (1.8)						
Missing Mandibular (38-48)	35 (31.0)***	1 (2.6)						
Missing Right side (18-48)	35 (26.5)	2 (1.5)						
Missing Left side (28-38)	35 (26.1)	3 (2.2)						
1 missing M3	4 (10.5)	1 (2.6)						
2 missing M3	7 (19.4)	0 (0)						
3 missing M3	5 (33.3)	0 (0)						
4 missing M3	21 (33.3)	2 (3.2)						
*(p=0.003), **p<0.001, ***p=0.001.								

#### Discussion

In this study based on panoramic radiographs, we attempted to describe the prevalence of M3 agenesis and to evaluate the relationship between M3 agenesis and hypodontia and oligodontia. Different results were found in the literature about the prevalence of M3 agenesis (Table 4).

Contrary to the findings from our study, in the studies of Mishra et al. (18), Kaur et al. (19) and Upadhyaya et al. (20), M3 agenesis was found more frequently in males. The female predilection was similar to that reported by Sandhu and Kaur (21) and Sujon et al. (16). There was no statistically significant difference between genders and this finding from our study is in concordance with other reports (22-26). Therefore, the first null hypothesis could be rejected regarding M3 agenesis.

Celikoglu et al. (27) and Mishra et al. (18) reported that the missing of all M3 teeth was more frequently found than the

presence of M3 teeth, similar to the findings of this study. In the study of Mishra et al. (18), upper right M3 agenesis had the highest prevalence while lower left M3 agenesis had the lowest prevalence. But, in this study, lower right M3 agenesis had the highest prevalence. Sujon et al. (16) reported the frequency order of M3 agenesis as 1>2>4>3 while Endo et al. (28) reported the number order of M3 agenesis as 2>1>4>3. Moreno et al. (29) reported that the frequency order of M3 agenesis as 1>2>3>4. In our study, the frequency of number of M3 agenesis were noted as 4>1>2>3.

Sandhu and Kaur (21), Kaur et al. (19), Sujon et al. (16), John et al. (7) and Singh et al. (30) reported that M3 agenesis was significantly more frequent in the maxilla than in the mandible. Singh et al. (30) reported that instances of M3 agenesis were more frequent on the right side. In our study, maxillary M3 agenesis was slightly frequent. Slightly lower than the results from our study (right: 13.9%; left: 13.7%), Kilinç et al. (31) reported that the rate of M3 tooth agenesis was 12.7% and 11.2% on the right side and left side, respectively and M3 agenesis was more frequently observed in the upper-right tooth (15.1%), followed by the upper left (13.5%), lower-right (10.2%) and lower-left (8.9%) M3 teeth. It can be said that these rates were higher than those of this study. In the study of Mishra et al. (18), there were higher results compared to our study. It was reported that upper right, lower right, upper left and lower left M3 agenesis was 57.8%, 64.1%, 62.5% and 68.1%, respectively.

In the study of Sujon et al. (16), hypodontia prevalence was reported as 3.1%. This result was lower than ours. Garn et al. (17) reported that one or more instances of M3 agenesis increased the incidence of other missing teeth by 13 times. Endo et al. (28) also reported a study presenting significant increases in the occurrence of oligodontia and M3 teeth agenesis except only one M3 agenesis compared with the control group. Contrary to this study, in our study, no significant increase was observed between oligodontia and the number of missing M3 teeth.

Tompson et al. (32) found that M3 agenesis in females is significantly associated with the agenesis of the hypodontia. Endo et al. (28) reported that the prevalence rates of hypodontia cases were increased as the severity of M3 agenesis increased. Celikoglu et al. (27) also observed that the prevalence of hypodontia cases was significantly higher in patients with agenesis of three or four M3 teeth. Our study supports the idea of higher number of missing M3 teeth was associated with the presence of hypodontia.

Gulati et al. (33) reported that hypodontia cases had a higher prevalence rate in the M3 agenesis than the control group which included the patients without M3 agenesis. Similarly, in our study, hypodontia was significantly higher in patients with missing lower left or lower right and mandibular M3 teeth. But, there was no significant relationship between oligodontia and missing individual (18,28,38,48), maxillary (18-28), mandibular (38-48), right (18-48) or left (28-38) M3 teeth. Therefore, the second null hypothesis could be confirmed only regarding the relationship between M3 agenesis and oligodontia.

Panoramic radiography can exhibit not only the missing and impacted teeth, but also the size and morphologic changes and the other anomalies of the teeth (34). Panoramic radiography is important in the diagnosis of real

Table 4. The previou	s studies about M3 a	agenesis				
Author name	Country	Year	Sample size	Population	Prevalence	Predilection
Nanda (35)	America	1954	200	White women	9.1%	Maxilla
Levesque et al. (36)	Canada	1981	4640	French-Canadian (Only mandibular M3)	9% (bilateral M3 prevalence)	-
Mok and Ho (22)	Singapore	1996	786	Singoporean-Chinese patients aged 12-16	28.5%	Maxilla
Rozkovcová et al. (37)	Czech Republic	2004	1000	Patients aged 12-21	22.5%	Male
Lee et al. (38)	Korea	2009	1129	Patients aged 16-24	41%	Female
Celikoglu et al. (8)	Turkey	2010	351	Orthodontic patients aged 20-26	17.3%	Female
Kazanci et al. (39)	Turkey	2010	2579	East Anatolian patients aged 12-16	23.8%	Maxilla
Celikoglu and Kamak (25)	Turkey	2012	1046	Orthodontic patients aged 13–17	22.7%	Maxilla
John et al. (7)	Malaysia	2012	734	Patients aged 10-19	26.2%	Female/Right maxilla
Kaur et al. (19)	India	2012	500	Patients aged 18-25	35.4%	Male/Right maxilla
Sujon et al. (16)	Malaysia	2016	5923	Patients aged 10-50	38.4%	Female/Maxilla
Kilinç et al. (31)	Turkey	2017	772	Patients aged 12-18	23.3%	Right maxilla
Mishra et al. (18)	India	2017	301	Patients aged 9-15	36.8%	Male/Maxilla
Singh et al. (30)	India	2017	300	Patients aged 18-25	46.7%	Female/Maxilla
Moreno et al. (29)	Chile	2019	535	Patients aged 14 and older	12.89%	Female/Right Maxilla
Gulati et al. (33)	India	2019	472	Patients aged 13-28	19.2%	-
The present study	Turkey		1471	Patients aged 9-15	10.3%	Maxilla

hypodontia and oligodontia cases. At the M3 teeth evaluations, the main advantages of panoramic radiography are easily observed in the situation of developing M3 teeth, the relationship between it and the mandibular canal, impaction type and M3 region (19). So, this modality was preferred because radiographic evaluation provided more accurate results than clinical examination and it could be sufficient by itself. In our study, panoramic radiographs were taken in the routine examination for diagnostic purposes in order to prevent patients from receiving extra doses.

#### Conclusion

There are different results from different populations and also different regions of Turkey about M3 agenesis reported in the literature. With this study, further research may provide significant contributions for the studies involving M3 agenesis and accompanying dental anomalies.

**Türkçe Özet:** Türk Pediatrik Hastalarda Hipodonti ve Oligodonti ile İlişkili Üçüncü Molar Agenezisinin Değerlendirilmesi. Amaç: Pediatrik hastalarda üçüncü molar (M3) agenezisi ile hipodonti ve oligodonti arasındaki ilişkiyi panoramic radyografi kullanarak değerlendirmektir. Gereç ve Yöntemler: 1.471 hastanın (899 kadın; 572 erkek) ve 5.884 dişin panoramic radyografileri retrospektif olarak değerlendirildi. Hastaların yaşları ve cinsiyetleri kaydedildi. Çalışmaya 9-15 yaş arası hastalar dahil edildi. Ortalama yaş 12,76'idi. M3 diş agenezisi ve M3 agenezisi ile hipodonti ve oligodonti arasındaki ilişki, hem sağ hem de sol lokasyonda üstve alt çene bulgularına göre M3 agenezisi olan diş sayısı ile birlikte kaydedildi. Veriler Ki-Kare ve McNemar testleri kullanılarak analiz edildi (p <0.05). Bulgular: Toplam 1.319 (% 89,7) hastanın tüm M3 dişleri ağızda varken, diğer 152 (% 10,3) hastanın bir veya daha fazla dişinde konjenital agenezisi vardı. M3 agenezinin görüldüğü diş sayısı, eksik M3 diş sayısı sırasına göre yüzdelik olarak bir diş için %2,6, iki diş için %2,4, üç diş için %1,0 ve dört diş için %4,3'idi. 37 hastada hipodonti, 3 hastada oligodonti tespit edildi. Sonuç: M3 agenezisinin prevalansı bir popülasyondan diğerine değişmektedir. M3 agenezisi ile ilişkili diş anomalilerinden ikisi hipodonti ve oligodontidir. Bu çalışmada, M3 agenezisi bölge ve cinsiyete gore farklılık göstermektedir; hipodonti, eksik mandibular M3 olan hastalarda anlamlı olarak daha yüksek bulunmuştur. Anahtar Kelimeler: Hipodonti, Oligodonti, Panoramik radyoqrafi, Üçüncü molar agenezis, Diş kaybı

**Ethics Committee Approval:** Ethical approval was obtained from the Trakya University Medical Faculty (Protocol number: TÜTF-BAEK 2018/134).

**Informed Consent:** Informed consent was waived due to the retrospective nature of this study.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

**Author contributions:** MTA participated in designing the study. MTA participated in generating and gathering the data for the study. MTA and NO participated in the analysis of the data. MTA and GS wrote the majority of the original draft of the paper. MTA, NO and GS participated in writing the paper. All authors approved the final version of this paper.

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors had no conflict of interest to declare.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that they have received no financial support.

#### References

- 1. Cameron J, Sampson WJ. Hypodontia of the permanent dentition. Aust Dent J 1996; 41(1): 1–5. [CrossRef]
- 2. Kruger E, Thomson WM, Konthasinghe P. Third molar outcomes from age 18 to 26: findings from a population-based New Zealand longitudinal study. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 2001;92(2):150–5. [CrossRef]
- 3. Gravely JF. A radiographic survey of third molar development. Br Dent J 1965;119(9):397–401.
- Peker I, Kaya E, Darendeliler-Yaman S. Clinic and radiographical evaluation of non-syndromic hypodontia and hyperdontia in permanent dentition. Med Oral Patol Oral Cir Bucal 2009;14:e393-7.
- Kolenc-Fusé FJ. Tooth agenesis: in search of mutations behind failed dental development. Med Oral Patol Oral Cir Bucal 2004;9(5):390-5;385-90.
- Alves-Pereira D, Berini-Aytés L, Gay-Escoda C. Ellis-van Creveld syndrome. Case report and literature review. Med Oral Patol Oral Cir Bucal 2009;14:E340-3.
- John J, Nambiar P, Mani SA, Mohamed NH, Ahmad NF, Murad NA. Third molar agenesis among children and youths from three major races of Malaysians. J Dent Sciences 2012;7:211-7. [CrossRef]
- Celikoglu M, Miloglu O, Kazanci F. Frequency of agenesis, impaction, angulation, and related pathologic changes of third molar teeth in orthodontic patients. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2010;68(5):990–5. [CrossRef]
- Goldenberg M, Das P, Messersmith M, Stockton DW, Patel PI, D'Souza RN. Clinical, radiographic, and genetic evaluation of a novel form of autosomal-dominant oligodontia. J Dent Res 2000;79(7):1469–75. [CrossRef]
- Suda N, Ogawa T, Kojima T, Saito C, Moriyama K. Non-syndromic oligodontia with a novel mutation of PAX9. J Dent Res 2011;90(3):382-6. [CrossRef]
- Jung YH, Cho BH. Radiographic evaluation of third molar development in 6- to 24-year-olds. Imaging Sci Dent 2014;44(3):185–91. [CrossRef]
- 12. Liversidge HM. Timing of human mandibular third molar formation. Ann Hum Biol 2008;35:294–321. [CrossRef]
- 13. Hentisz AY. Master's Thesis, University of Tennessee. 2003. Radiographic Study of Third Molar Agenesis in a Sample from the American Midsouth.
- 14. Shiller WR. Positional changes in mesio-angular impacted mandibular third molars during a year. J Am Dent Assoc 1979;99:460-4. [CrossRef]
- Gelgör IE, Şişman Y, Malkoç S. Daimi Dentisyonda Konjenital Hipodontinin Görülme Sıklığı. Türkiye Klinikleri Journal of Dental Science 2005;11:43-8.
- Sujon MK, Alam MK, Rahman SA. Prevalence of third molar agenesis: Associated dental anomalies in non-syndromic 5923 patients. PLoS One 2016;11:e0162070. [CrossRef]
- 17. Garn SM, Lewis AB, Vicinus JH. Third molar agenesis and reduction in the number of other teeth. J Dent Res 1962;41:717. [CrossRef]
- Mishra A, Pandey RK. Sexual dimorphism, pattern of third molar and mandibular second premolar agenesis in Indian paediatric orthodontic patients. Saudi Dent J 2017;29(2):78-82. [CrossRef]
- 19. Kaur B, Sheik S, Pallagatti S. Radiographic assessment of agenesis of third molars and para-radicular third molar radiolucencies in population of age group 18-25 years old a radiographic survey. Arch Oral Res 2012;8:13-8.
- 20. Upadhyaya C, Adhikari BR, Kafle D, Humagain M. Agenesis of orthodontic patients attending Dhulikhel Hospital,

Kathmandu University Hospital. Dhulikhel, Nepal. Orthod J Nepal 2012;2(1):33–6. [CrossRef]

- 21. Sandhu S, Kaur T. Radiographic evaluation of the status of third molars in the Asian-Indian students. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2005;66:640-5. [CrossRef]
- Mok YY, Ho KK. Congenitally absent third molars in 12–16 years old Singaporean-Chinese patients: a retrospective radiographic study. Ann Acad Med Singapore 1996;25:828-30.
- Endo T, Ozoe R, Kubota M, Akiyama M, Shimooka S. A survey of hypodontia in Japanese orthodontic patients. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2006;129:29-35. [CrossRef]
- 24. Chung CJ, Han JH, Kim KH. The pattern and prevalence of hypodontia in Koreans. Oral Dis 2008;14:620-5. [CrossRef]
- 25. Celikoglu M, Kamak H. Patterns of third-molar agenesis in an orthodontic patient population with different skeletal malocclusions. Angle Orthod 2012;82:165-9. [CrossRef]
- Alam MK, Hamza MA, Khafiz MA, Rahman SA, Shaari R, Hassan A. Multivariate analysis of factors affecting presence and/or agenesis of third molar tooth. PLoS ONE 2014;9(6):e101157. [CrossRef]
- Celikoglu M, Bayram M, Nur M. Patterns of third-molar agenesis and associated dental anomalies in an orthodontic population. Am J Orthod Dentofac Orthop 2011;140:856-60. [CrossRef]
- Endo S, Sanpei S, Ishida R, Sanpei S, Abe R, Endo T. Association between third molar agenesis patterns and agenesis of other teeth in a Japanese orthodontic population. Odontology 2015;103:89–96. [CrossRef]
- Moreno MT, Díaz A, González A, Manríquez-Soto G, Toro-Ibacache V. Is Third Molar Agenesis an Anomaly or Just a Sign of Variation? Prevalence and Manner of Presentation of this Condition in a Sample from the Metropolitan Region of Chile. Int J Morphol 2019;37(4):1382–6. [CrossRef]
- Singh N, Chaudhari S, Chaudhari R, Nagare S, Kulkarni A, Parkarwar P. A radiographic survey of agenesis of the third molar: a panoramic study. J Forensic Dent Sci 2017;9(3):130–134.
- Kilinç G, Akkemik OK, Candan U, Evcil MS, Ellidokuz H. Agenesis of third molars among Turkish children between the ages of 12 and 18 years: A retrospective radiographic study. J Clin Pediatr Dent 2017;41(3):243-7. [CrossRef]
- Thompson GW, Popovigh F, Anderson DL. Third molar agenesis in the Burlington Growth Centre in Toronto. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol 1974;2:187–92. [CrossRef]
- Gulati S, Singla D, Mittal S, Bhullar M, Aggarwal I, Sharma A. Relationship between Third Molar Agenesis and Other Dental Anomalies. Dent J Adv Stud 2019;7:23–7. [CrossRef]
- Akkaya N, Kiremitçi A, Kansu O. Treatment of a patient with oligodontia: a case report. J Contemp Dent Pract 2008;9(3):121– 7. [CrossRef]
- 35. Nanda RS. Agenesis of the third molar in man. Am J Orthod 1954;40:698-706. [CrossRef]
- Levesque GY, Demirijian A, Tanguay R. Sexual dimorphism in the development, emergence, and agenesis of the mandibular third molar. J Dent Res 1981;60:1735-41. [CrossRef]
- 37. Rozkovcová E, Marková M, Lanik J, Zvárová J. Agenesis of third molars in young Czech population. Prague Med Rep 2004;105: 35-52.
- Lee SH, Lee JY, Park HK, Kim YK. Development of third molars in Korean juveniles and adolescents. Forensic Sci Int 2009;188:107-11. [CrossRef]
- Kazanci F, Celikoglu M, Miloglu O, Oktay H. Third-molar agenesis among patients from the East Anatolian region of Turkey. J Contemp Dent Pract 2010;11(4):E033–E040. [CrossRef]



Eur Oral Res 2020; 54(3): 142-147



Official Publication of Istanbul University Faculty of Dentistry

Tan Firat Eyuboglu<sup>1</sup> 🕑,

Fulya Ilcin Gonenc<sup>2</sup> 🕩

**Original research** 

### The effect of pain intensity levels and clinical symptoms on the treatment preferences of patients with endodontically involved teeth: A preliminary cross-sectional study

#### Purpose

This study aimed to evaluate the effect of pain intensity levels and clinical symptoms on the treatment preferences of patients with endodontically involved teeth in a local Turkish population.

#### **Subjects and Methods**

A total of 30 patients with symptomatic teeth requiring non-surgical root canal treatment were included in the study. The patients' demographic (age, gender, and education level) and diagnostic data (tooth type, pain intensity, response to percussion and palpation, presence of referred pain, and diagnosis) were analyzed. Data on the patients' explicit preferences (requested treatment, whether they are willing to accept a proposed extraction, choice of treatment if an anterior tooth was involved, and choice of treatment if the pain was not severe) as well as previous root canal treatment experiences were also analyzed. Pain intensity levels were evaluated using the Visual Analog Scale.

#### Results

Pain intensity levels had a significant effect on the treatment requested by the patient (p=0.001). Among the patients who requested extraction upon referral to the clinic, the rate of those who reported that they would not accept extraction if the pain was located in an anterior tooth was significantly lower than that of patients stating that they would refuse (p=0.039). The presence of referred pain also had a significant effect on the requested treatment (p=0.001).

#### Conclusion

The intensity of pain and the presence of referred pain influence patients' treatment preferences.

*Keywords:* Decision-making, Dental pain, Ethics, Informed consent, Treatment preference

#### Introduction

Dental pain is one of the most prevalent pains affecting social life and is associated with a loss of productive time and treatment costs (1,2). Dental pain may result in peripheral and central sensitization due to an increase in noxious stimuli. The clinical symptoms of peripheral sensitization are a decrease in firing thresholds, which triggers discharges from non-noxious stimuli (allodynia); occurrence of after-discharges, which increases the perceived intensity of pain caused by noxious stimuli (hyperalgesia) (3,4); and spontaneous pain due to spontaneous firing (5,6). Peripheral sensitization is restricted to the injury site and persists only as long as a peripheral pathology is present. Further, it appears to play a major role in altered heat but not mechanical sensitivity, which is a distinctive feature of central sensitization (7,8).

Central sensitization, on the other hand, is the manifestation of changes in the properties of neurons in the central nervous system (CNS) that coORCID IDs of the authors: T.F.E. 0000-0002-0308-9579; F.I.G. 0000-0001-9882-0944

<sup>1</sup> Department of Endodontics, Istanbul Medipol University, Faculty of Dentistry, Istanbul, Turkey

<sup>2</sup>Department of Civil Law, Istanbul Medipol University, Faculty of Law, Istanbul, Turkey

Corresponding Author: Tan Fırat Eyüboğlu

E-mail: tfeyuboglu@yahoo.com

Received: 11 April, 2019 Revised: 02 April, 2020 Accepted: 06 July, 2020

DOI: 10.26650/eor.20200043



This work is licensed under Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International License

*How to cite:* Eyüboglu TF, Gonenc FI. The Effect of Pain Intensity Levels and Clinical Symptoms on the Treatment Preferences of Patients with Endodontically Involved Teeth: A Preliminary Cross-Sectional Study. Eur Oral Res 2020; 54(3): 142-147.

opt novel inputs for noxious stimuli for transduction purposes. By changing the interpretation of normal inputs, central sensitization causes pain hypersensitivity in non-inflamed tissue that persists long after the peripheral pathology or the initiating cause has disappeared. Central sensitization alters the CNS response to sensory inputs and, is therefore, not contingent on ongoing peripheral noxious stimuli. This makes it a distinct aspect of a major functional shift in the somatosensory system (8,9). Referred pain and mechanical allodynia are two distinctive features of central sensitization (8). Referred pain is the perception of pain in a part of the body that is not the source of the pain such as the transmission of pain from a tooth to the opposite arch or the periauricular area. Mechanical allodynia is perceived as pain triggered by non-noxious mechanical stimuli such as sensitivity to percussion and palpation (10).

One of the important aspects of patient autonomy is "consent," which is affected by the assessment capacity of a patient after they have been informed about the medical issue at hand. Therefore, the main component of consent is "to be informed," which is why it is often referred to as "informed consent." Excessive pain for which patients may be urgently seeking medical assistance coupled with panic means that a patient's participation in the decision-making process regarding treatment, and therefore their consent, may be affected, causing defective intention during the consent process. This is a potential legal issue due to the patient's reduced assessment capacity (11-13).

"Capacity" refers to the assessment of an individual's psychological ability to understand the relevant information, appreciate the situation and its likely consequences, compare the benefits and risks of various treatment options, and make rational decisions. Legal assessments of capacity are necessarily timeand decision-specific (14,15). An individual's capacity to make decisions can fluctuate or be temporarily affected by factors such as pain, fear, confusion, or the effects of medication (16).

Therefore, the aim of this study was to evaluate the effects of pain intensity levels, referred pain, sensitivity to percussion and palpation, and aesthetic concerns on the treatment preferences of individuals with endodontically involved teeth in a local Turkish population.

#### **Subjects and Methods**

#### Inclusion and exclusion criteria

This cross-sectional study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Istanbul Medipol University (No. 404) and registered in ClinicalTrials.gov with ID number NCT03553641. A total of 30 patients who had symptomatic teeth requiring non-surgical root canal treatment were included in the study. Patients under 18 and over 60 years of age, patients diagnosed with systemic diseases, and patients who had used an analgesic up to 12 hours prior to the appointment were excluded. All enrolled patients participated voluntarily and signed written informed consent forms.

#### Data collection

A datasheet including patients' demographic data, diagnostic data, and data regarding explicit preferences was filled out (Table 1). All pain scores were recorded according to the Visual Analog Scale (VAS) as used by Turk (16). The patients' demographic data, including age, gender, and education level, were recorded. Diagnostic data regarding tooth type, pain intensity, response to percussion and palpation, presence of referred pain (transmission of pain to the opposite arch or the periauricular area), and final diagnosis were recorded after clinical and radiographic examinations (Table 1). All patients were explicitly informed that their answers to questions regarding their explicit preferences would not affect their diagnosis or treatment. Neither the diagnosis nor the indicated treatment was disclosed to the patients prior to the completion of the data sheet to avoid defective intention and false responses.

#### Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis of the data was performed using NCSS (Number Cruncher Statistical System) 2007 software (NCSS LLC, Kaysville, UT, USA). Descriptive statistical methods (mean and standard deviation, median, frequency, and ratio) were used to describe sample measures. The normal distribution of continuous variables was examined using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. The Mann-Whitney U test was used for the comparison of non-normally distributed variables with respect to VAS pain scores. The chi-square test and Fisher's exact test were used for the comparison of categorical data along one dimension. All results were reported with a 95% confidence interval, and a value of p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

#### Results

The demographic and clinical characteristics of the patients are displayed in Table 1.

Of the 30 participants, 43.3% were male and 57.6% were female. The patients' mean age was  $36.03 \pm 12.74$  years, ranging between 18 and 57 years.

Among the patients, 10% were primary school graduates, 10% were secondary school graduates, 33.3% were high school graduates, 43.3% were university graduates, and 0.4% had no formal education.

Regarding the included teeth, 13.3% were anterior teeth, 23.3% were premolars, and 63.4% were molars.

With regard to diagnosis, 40% of the patients were diagnosed with acute periradicular abscess, 33% were diagnosed with acute periradicular periodontitis, and 27% were diagnosed with symptomatic irreversible pulpitis.

Twenty-six patients, or 86.7%, responded positively to percussion. The same rate was observed in terms of palpation. Referred pain was observed in 73.3% of the patients.

The mean VAS score was 8.43±1.50, ranging between 5 and 10. Upon referral to the clinic, 63.3% of the patients requested extraction, and 36.7% requested root canal treatment (Table 2). Only one (9.1%) of the patients who had requested root canal treatment accepted the dentist's extraction proposal. The other 10 (90.9%) insisted on having a root canal treatment (Table 3). All the patients who initially requested extraction stated that they would consider root canal treatment if the pain would be less severe than they were experiencing at the time. Nineteen (63.3%) patients had previously undergone a root canal treatment.

Tab	Table 1. Distribution of subjects regarding demographic data, diagnostic data and data on explicit preferences														
	Den	nogra	phic data			Diag	gnostic	data				Explicit p	reference	s	
Patient	Age	Sex	Education level	Teeth type	Diagnosis	Pain score	Percussion	Palpation	Referred pain	Required Treatment	Requested Treatment	Would you accept if the extraction is proposed?	Would you choose extraction if it were your anterior teeth?	If you were not in excessive pain would you consider other options than extraction?	Have you ever had a RCT before?
1	20	М	HSG	46	APA	9	+	+	+	RCT	Ext	Y	Y	Y	Y
2	46	F	UG	36	APA	9	+	+	+	RCT	Ext	Y	Ν	Y	Y
3	56	F	UG	37	APA	8	+	+	+	RCT	Ext	Y	Ν	Y	Y
4	42	М	MSG	17	APA	8	+	+	+	RCT	Ext	Y	Ν	Y	Y
5	35	F	UG	16	SIP	10	-	-	+	RCT	Ext	Y	Ν	Y	Y
6	46	F	HSG	31	APA	10	+	+	+	RCT	Ext	Y	Y	Y	Ν
7	19	М	HSG	47	APP	7	+	+	-	RCT	RCT	Ν	N/A	N/A	Ν
8	20	F	UG	46	SIP	8	+	+	+	RCT	Ext	Y	Ν	Y	Ν
9	57	М	UG	32	APP	7	+	+	-	RCT	RCT	Ν	N/A	N/A	Y
10	27	М	MSG	26	APP	7	+	+	-	RCT	RCT	Ν	N/A	N/A	Y
11	40	F	UG	26	APP	7	+	+	-	RCT	RCT	Ν	N/A	N/A	Y
12	49	F	PSG	21	APA	5	+	+	-	RCT	RCT	Ν	N/A	N/A	Y
13	24	F	HSG	46	APA	6	+	+	-	RCT	RCT	Ν	N/A	N/A	Y
14	25	F	UG	36	APP	8	+	+	+	RCT	Ext	Y	Ν	Y	Ν
15	38	М	UG	44	APA	10	+	+	+	RCT	Ext	Y	Ν	Y	Y
16	22	М	MSG	46	APA	8	+	+	+	RCT	Ext	Y	Ν	Y	Ν
17	27	М	UG	15	APA	6	+	+	-	RCT	RCT	N	N/A	N/A	Y
18	25	М	HSG	38	SIP	9	+	+	+	RCT	Ext	Y	N	Y	Y
19	25	М	HSG	26	APA	10	+	+	+	RCT	Ext	Y	N	Y	Y
20	35	F	UG	14	APP	10	+	+	+	RCT	Ext	Y	Ν	Y	Y
21	57	F	PSG	45	APP	10	+	+	+	RCT	RCT	N	N/A	N/A	Y
22	35	F	HSG	47	SIP	10	-	-	+	RCT	Ext	Y	N	Y	N
23	23	М	HSG	46	APP	6	+	+	-	RCT	RCT	N	N/A	N/A	Ν
24	53	F	UG	27	APA	10	+	+	+	RCT	Ext	Y	Y	Y	Y
25	52	F	NE	15	APP	10	+	+	+	RCT	Ext	Y	Ν	Y	Ν
26	33	F	UG	45	SIP	8	+	+	+	RCT	RCT	Y	N/A	N/A	Y
27	37	F	UG	24	SIP	9	-	-	+	RCT	RCT	Ν	N/A	N/A	Ν
28	18	F	HSG	36	SIP	10	-	-	+	RCT	Ext	Y	N	Y	N
29	51	М	HSG	47	APP	9	+	+	+	RCT	Ext	Y	Y	Y	Ν
30	44	М	PSG	23	SIP	9	+	+	+	RCT	Fxt	Y	Y	Y	Y

M: male, F: female, PSG: Primary school graduate, MSG: Middle school graduate, HSG: High school graduate, UG: University graduate, NE: No education, APA: Acute periradicular abscess, APP: acute periradicular periodontitis, SIP: Symptomatic irreversible pulpitis, RCT: Root canal treatment, Ext: Extraction, Y: Yes, N: No, N/A: Not available

### **Table 2.** The effect of pain intensity on requested treatment and acceptance of the proposed treatment

		VAS	Scores		Post- hoc power	
		Min–Max (Median)	Mean±Std Dev.	p		
Requested	Extraction (n=19)	8–10 (9.0)	9.21±0.85	° <b>0.001*</b> *	0.998	
treatment (n=30)	RCT (n=11)	5–10 (7.0)	7.09±1.144			
Proposed extraction	Yes (n=20)	8–10 (9.0)	9.15±0.87	-a <b>0 001*</b> *	0 000	
by dentist (n=30)	No (n=10)	5–10 (7.0)	7.00±1.49		0.999	
aMann White	nov II Tost (** no	<0.001)				

**Table 3.** The comparison of requested treatment modalities with

 respect to the acceptance of proposed extraction and referred pain

		Requested	d treatment		Post- hoc power				
		Extraction (%)	Root canal treatment (%)	p					
Acceptance	Yes	19 (100)	1 (9.1)						
of proposed extraction; n (%)	No	0	10 (90.9)	° <b>0.001</b> **	0.999				
Referred	Yes	19 (100)	3 (27.3)	a <b>0 001**</b>	0.001				
<b>pain;</b> n (%)	No	0	8 (72.7)	-0.001***	0.991				
<sup>a</sup> Fisher's Exact test (**p<0.001)									

Pain intensity levels had a significant effect on the requested treatment (p = 0.001; Table 2). Moreover, they had a significant effect on patients accepting the treatment proposed by the dentist (p = 0.001; Table 2).

Sensitivity to percussion and palpation was 84.2% (n = 16) among the patients who requested extraction and 90.9% (n = 10) among the patients who requested root canal treatment. A positive response to either palpation or percussion had no significant effect on the requested treatment.

The presence of referred pain, on the other hand, had a statistically significant effect on the requested treatment (p = 0.001; Table 3). All the patients who requested extraction presented with referred pain. Of the 11 patients who requested root canal treatment, only 27.3% (n = 3) presented with referred pain.

Among the patients who requested extraction upon referral to the clinic, the rate of those who reported that they would accept extraction if the pain was located in an anterior tooth (16.7%, n = 5) was significantly lower than that of patients stating that they would refuse (83.3%, n = 14; p = 0.039).

In contrast, age, gender, education level, and previous root canal treatment experience had no significant effect on the requested treatment and the acceptance of the proposed extraction. This preliminary study evaluated the effects of pain intensity levels, referred pain, sensitivity to percussion and palpation, and aesthetic concerns on the treatment preferences of patients with endodontically involved teeth. Pain intensity levels and the presence of referred pain had significant effects on the requested treatment by patients.

Excessive levels of pain have been shown to have a debilitating effect on patients' decision-making process, which is a strong indication of defective intention (14,15). Patients undergoing medical emergency surgery had been found to have poorer recollection of the consent process and details of the consent form than patients undergoing elective surgery due to pain, analgesic medications, and fatigue (17).

The reason that pain has a devastating effect on patients' decision-making might be an ongoing major shift in the somatosensory system because of central sensitization (18), which can best be described as a complete physiological change in transmission, modulation, and regulation of pain due to pathological stimuli (8,9). In central sensitization, an expansion of the receptor field and a change in the interpretation of physiological inputs occur. Therefore, referred pain and mechanical allodynia (sensitivity to percussion and/or palpation) become the two major components of central sensitization (secondary hyperalgesia) (8,9). This makes central sensitization rather easy to diagnose with a clinical examination.

In this study, referred pain had a significant effect on the treatment requested by patients. In contrast, a positive response to palpation or percussion showed no significant effect, which suggests that mechanical allodynia does not affect patients' decision-making. In other words, although both are considered components that differentiate central from peripheral sensitization, referred pain and mechanical allodynia appear to have different effects.

Another parameter investigated in this study was the effect of pain intensity on the decision-making process. Pain levels had a significant effect on treatment preferences. Patients who requested extraction upon referral to the clinic had higher pain scores than those who did not. These patients were asked whether they would choose the same treatment if the involved tooth was an anterior tooth. This was done to determine whether the pain could affect patients' decision-making to the extent that they are willing to overlook aesthetic priorities, which are usually a major dental concern (19), in order to be relieved of the pain. The significant difference in favor of root canal treatment for anterior teeth is indicative of the importance of aesthetic priorities compared to pain in patients with central sensitization, highlighting their role in preferences (13,15,19). Many studies have demonstrated the relationship of an aesthetic smile, which is closely linked to the presence of anterior teeth, with a perception of greater intelligence and better chances of finding a job (19-21), which could also explain our patients' responses.

The patients' previous root canal treatment experiences and education levels were also analyzed for any effect on the requested treatment. Although it has been reported that there is no correlation between socioeconomic factors and the presence/absence of apical periodontitis (22), age, education level, socioeconomic status, and gender have been found to have a significant impact on felt needs, dental awareness and, dental attendance (23). Nevertheless, in this study, neither previous root canal treatment experiences nor the education levels showed any significant effect on the requested treatment, corroborating the finding that pain intensity plays a central role in the decision-making process.

It is conceivable that the intensity of pain might affect patients' consent to a study and a patient's consent to participate might also be compromised. A previous study on patients experiencing acute pain found no correlation between pain intensity and their capacity to consent to participate in research (24). Giving consent to participate in a study that will not affect the treatment plan is not the same as giving consent to a certain treatment procedure (14,15). In this study, patients were explicitly informed both before and during the process that they were not obligated to take the poll to receive proper treatment.

To better understand the reasons behind their choice, patients who requested extraction were asked to consider treatment options other than extraction if there was not an excessive level of pain involved. All patients reported that they would change their choice if they would not be in excessive pain, disregarding other concerns, such as cost, time, or other complex human behaviors affecting the utilization of dental care (25).

Although a dentist should inform and advise patients with their best interests in mind, there is always a risk of recommending a treatment plan that is less complex and is more profitable than a root canal treatment (26), such as extraction and subsequent implant placement. A patient in excessive dental pain might agree to these options due to reduced consent capacity and disturbance of the decision-making process under the existing circumstances. This implies that ethical and legal responsibilities of a dentist, including obtaining a valid informed consent should be highly emphasized as very critical aspects of decision-making during dental education. Furthermore, pre- and post-graduate educational programs can also integrate a guideline that describes a witnessed interaction with the patient to assess his/her capacity to make treatment decisions. A useful alternative may also be the development of a two-step consent process. With such an approach, alleviation of pain prior to the final decision may improve a patient's judgement (27) and the informed consent process.

To the authors' knowledge, this is the only study to date investigating the impact of pain intensity levels and other diagnostic factors on the treatment preferences of patients with endodontically involved teeth. As this is a pioneering and preliminary study, multicenter studies with larger sample sizes are required to gain a better understanding of the factors that influence a patient's decision-making process. Further studies may confirm the necessity of modifying the informed consent procedures or incorporating guidelines when managing dental patients in severe pain.

#### Conclusion

Under the limitations of this study, we can conclude that pain intensity and referred pain significantly influence the treatment preferences of patients with endodontically involved teeth, whereas sensitivity to percussion and palpation does not. Careful consideration of the effects of these factors on patients' participation in the decision-making and consent processes is required.

Türkçe Özet: Ağrı Şiddeti ve Klinik Semptomların Endodontik Tedaviye Gereksinimi Olan Hastaların Tedavi Tercihlerine Olan Etkisi: Kesitsel Bir Ön Çalışma. Amaç: Bu çalışmanın amacı, bir Türk popülasyonundaki bireylerde ağrı şiddetinin ve klinik semptomların hastanın tedavi tercihi üzerine olan etkisini değerlendirmektir. Gereç ve Yöntem: Kök kanalı tedavisi endikasyonu olan semptomatik bir dişe sahip toplam 30 hasta çalışmaya dâhil edilmiştir. Hastaların demografik özellikleri (yaş, cinsiyet ve eğitim düzeyi), tanı verileri (diş tipi, ağrı şiddeti, perküsyon ve palpasyona yanıt, yansıyan ağrının varlığı, gereksinim duyulan tedavi ve tanı), tercihleri (talep edilen tedavi, hekim tarafından sunulan diş çekimi tedavi seçeneğine yaklaşım, ilgili dişin ön diş olması halinde tedavi tercihi, ağrı şiddetli olmasa idi tedavi tercihi) ve önceki kök kanalı tedavisi deneyimleri kaydedilmiştir. Ağrı şiddeti skorları, Görsel Analog Skala kullanılarak kaydedilmiştir. Bulgular: Ağrı şiddetinin hastanın talep ettiği tedavi üzerinde anlamlı bir etkiye sahip olduğu saptanmıştır (p=0,001). Kliniğimize başvururken diş çekimi talep eden hastalar arasında ağrı ön dişte olsa idi diş çekimini kabul eden hasta sayısının kabul etmeyenlere oranla istatistiksel olarak anlamlı derecede daha az olduğu belirlenmiştir (p=0.039). Yansıyan ağrı varlığının, hastaların talep ettiği tedavi üzerinde istatistiksel olarak anlamlı bir etkiye sahip olduğu saptanmıştır (p=0.001). Sonuç: Ağrının şiddeti ve yansıyan ağrının varlığı hastaların tedavi tercihlerini etkilemiştir. Anahtar Kelimeler: Bilgilendirilmiş onam, Diş ağrısı, Etik, Karar verme, Tedavi tercihi

Klinik Önem: Şiddetli diş ağrısı hastanın karar verme yeteneğini etkileyebilir ve bu nedenle bilgilendirilmiş onamın geçerliliğini tehlikeye atabilir.

**Ethics Committee Approval:** The protocol of this study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Istanbul Medipol University (No.404).

**Informed Consent:** The informed consents were provided by the participants.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

**Author contributions:** TFE and FIG designed the study. TFE participated in generating and gathering the data for the study. TFE and FIG participated in the analysis of the data. TFE wrote the majority of the original draft of the paper. TFE and FIG participated in writing the paper. All authors approved the final version of this paper.

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors had no conflict of interest to declare.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that they have received no financial support.

#### References

- Lipton J, Ship JA, Larach-Robinson D. Estimated prevalence and distribution of reported orofacial pain in the United States. J Am Dent Assoc.1993;124:115. [CrossRef]
- 2. Stewart WF, Ricci JA, Chee E, Morganstein D, Lipton R. Lost productive time and cost due to common pain conditions in the US workforce, JAMA 2003;290:2443. [CrossRef]
- Khan AAI, Owatz CB, Schindler WG, Schwartz SA, Keiser K, Hargreaves KM. Measurement of mechanical allodynia and local anesthetic efficacy in patients with irreversible pulpitis and acute periradicular periodontitis. J Endod 2007;33:796–799. [CrossRef]
- Owatz CB1, Khan AA, Schindler WG, Schwartz SA, Keiser K, Hargreaves KM. The incidence of mechanical allodynia in patients with irreversible pulpitis. J Endod 2007;33:552–556. [CrossRef]
- Hargreaves KM. Pain mechanisms of the pulpodentin complex. In: Hargreaves KM, Goodis HE, eds. Seltzer and Bender's Dental Pulp. Chicago: Quintessence Publishing Company; 2002:181.

- Fristad I, Berggreen E. Hyperalgesia and allodynia. In: Kenneth MH, Louis HB, eds. Cohen's Pathways of the Pulp. Missouri: Elsevier Publishing Company; 2016:550.
- Latremoliere A, Woolf CJ. Central sensitization: A generator of pain hypersensitivity by central neural plasticity. J Pain 2009;10:895–926. [CrossRef]
- 8. Woolf CJ, Salter MW. Neuronal plasticity: Increasing the gain in pain. Science 2000;288:1765–1769. [CrossRef]
- Woolf CJ, King AE. Subthreshold components of the cutaneous mechanoreceptive fields of dorsal horn neurons in the rat lumbar spinal cord. J Neurophysiol 1989;62:907–916. [CrossRef]
- Bender IB: Pulpal pain diagnosis: a review. J Endod 2000;26:175. [CrossRef]
- 11. Güven T, Sert G. Advance directives in Turkey's cultural context: Examining the potential benefits for the implementation of patient rights. Bioethics 2010;24:127–133. [CrossRef]
- 12. Aydin E. Rights of patients in developing countries: The case of Turkey. J Med Ethics 2004;30:555–557. [CrossRef]
- Sert G, Güven T, Görkey S. Capacity to consent. In: Sert G, Güven T, Görkey S, Nys H, Alphen aan den Rijn NL, eds. International Encyclopaedia of Laws: Medical Law. The Netherlands: Kluwer Law International; 2014:69.
- Bisbing SB. Competency and capacity: a primer. In: Sanbar SS, Gibofsky A, Firestone MH, et al., eds. Legal Medicine, 4th ed. St. Louis: Mosby; 1998: 32–43.
- 15. Leo RJ. Competency and the capacity to make treatment decisions: A primer for primary care physicians. Prim Care Companion J Clin Psychiatry 1999;1:131–141. [CrossRef]
- 16. Turk DC. Handbook of pain assessment. New York: Guilford Press; 2011.
- 17. D'Souza RS, Johnson RL, Bettini L, Schulte PJ, Burkle C. Room for Improvement: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis on the

Informed Consent Process for Emergency Surgery. Mayo Clin Proc 2019;94(9):1786-1798. [CrossRef]

- Hucho T, Levine JD. Signaling pathways in sensitization: Toward a nociceptor cell biology. Neuron 2007;55:365–376. [CrossRef]
- Klages U, et al. Psychosocial impact of dental aesthetics in adolescence: Validity and reliability of a questionnaire across age groups. Qual Life Res 2015;24:379–390. [CrossRef]
- 20. Kiyak HA. Does orthodontic treatment affect patients' quality of life? J Dent Educ 2008;72:886–894. [CrossRef]
- 21. Pithon MM, Nascimento CC, Barbosa GC, Coqueiro RD. Do dental aesthetics have any influence on finding a job? Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2014;146:423–429. [CrossRef]
- 22. Kirkevang LL, Wenzel A. Risk indicators for apical periodontitis. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol 2003;31, 59-67. [CrossRef]
- Pewa P, Garla BK, Dagli R, Bhateja GA, Solanki J. Utilization of Dental Services in Public Health Center: Dental Attendance, Awareness and Felt Needs. J Contemp Dent Pract 2015 Oct 1;16(10):829-33. [CrossRef]
- 24. Cowan E, Klerman H, Ma J. Capacity to Consent to Research in Patients with Acute Pain: A Pilot Study. IRB 2015;37(3):1-6.
- Pizzaro V, Ferrer M. The utilization of dental care services according to health insurance coverage in Catalonia Spain. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol 2009;37:78–84. [CrossRef]
- Ricci G, Ricci A, Ricci C. Save the natural tooth or place an implant? Three periodontal decisional criteria to perform a correct therapy. Int J Periodontics Restorative Dent 2011;31:29-37.
- 27. Moriarty O, McGuire BE, Fin DP. The effects of pain on cognitive function: A review of clinical and preclinical research. Progress in Neurobiology 2011;93:385-404. [CrossRef]



Eur Oral Res 2020; 54(3): 148-153



Official Publication of Istanbul University Faculty of Dentistry

Hulya Yilmaz<sup>1</sup>,

Sultan Keles<sup>2</sup>

**Original research** 

# The effect of the Er: YAG laser on the clinical success of hydrophilic fissure sealant: a randomized clinical trial

#### Purpose

The aim of this study was to assess the effect of the Er:YAG laser on the clinical success of a hydrophilic fissure sealant over 12 months.

#### **Subject and Methods**

This study was conducted on 132 permanent first molars from 44 (19 girls and 25 boys) patients aged 7-11 years. The teeth were divided into three groups. The first group (Group A-control) of teeth were etched with phosphoric acid, the second group of teeth (Group L) were etched with an Er:YAG laser, and the third group of teeth (Group A+L) were etched with both the Er:YAG laser and phosphoric acid. Clinical evaluations were performed at baseline and at 3-, 6-, 9- and 12-month follow-up visits. The data were analyzed with Pearson chi-square tests, Cochran Q tests and Kaplan-Meier analysis.

#### Results

At the end of the 12 months, total retention rates were 72.7%, 59.1%, and 65.9% in the acid group, the laser group and the laser and acid group, respectively. Although there was no statistically significant difference between group retention rates (p>0.05), the lowest retention rate was found in the laser group at the end of the 12-month follow-up period. No new caries were observed in any group during the study period.

#### Conclusion

Etching with the Er:YAG laser, phosphoric acid or a combination of both methods provided similar results for the clinical success of hydrophilic based fissure sealant.

*Keywords:* Pit and fissure sealant, UltraSeal XT<sup>®</sup> hydro<sup>™</sup>, Er:YAG laser, Phosphoric acid, Preventive dentistry

#### Introduction

The term fissure sealant is used to describe a material that is applied to pits and fissures that are susceptible to caries, forming a micromechanically bonded layer on the enamel and preventing the growth of cariogenic bacteria. Traditionally, the retention of the sealant is maintained by etching the enamel using various concentrations of phosphoric acid (1). Cueto and Buonocore (2) published their first paper on the successful application of sealants for pits and fissures in 1967. According to their study, at the end of one year, caries incidence was decreased by 87%, and 71% of the sealants were fully retained.

The efficacy of sealants for caries prevention depends on the long-term retention of the material (3). Retention rates show variation due to proper isolation of the working field, viscosity of the sealant, roughening of the enamel surfaces, and use of the adhesive system.

The most widely used enamel conditioning procedure is acid etching that selectively erodes the hydroxyapatite rods prior to resin based fissure sealant application. However, there are some disadvantages of acid ORCID IDs of the authors: H.Y. 0000-0003-0963-1944; S.K. 0000-0001-7978-8715

<sup>1</sup>Bornova Oral and Dental Health Center, Izmir, Turkey

<sup>2</sup>Department of Pediatric Dentistry, Faculty of Dentistry, Aydin Adnan Menderes University, Aydın, Turkey

Corresponding Author: Sultan Keles

E-mail: dtsultank@gmail.com

Received: 18 March, 2020 Revised: 20 July, 2020 Accepted: 25 August, 2020

DOI: 10.26650/eor.20200029

COPEN ACCESS O CONSTRUCTION This work is licensed under Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial

4.0 International License

*How to cite:* Yilmaz H, Keles S. The effect of the Er: YAG laser on the clinical success of hydrophilic fissure sealant: a randomized clinical trial. Eur Oral Res 2020; 54(3): 148-153.

etching, such as the removal of superficial enamel, formation of various etching depths, and high sensitivity to water or saliva contamination and demineralization, which cause the enamel to be susceptible to caries and produce unsatisfactory bonding (4-6). Therefore, alternative methods have been proposed for the preparation of the enamel.

Laser etching has been suggested as a pretreatment method to roughen the enamel. It has the advantage of cleaning, conditioning and decontamination of barely accessible fissures only in one step, and it is a painless procedure that does not involve vibration or heat (6,7). Studies confirmed that, the use of a laser changes the calcium/phosphorus ratio, making the tooth structure more stable and resistant to acid attacks (8).

Contamination by saliva is often experienced in pediatric patients, which deteriorates the quality of adhesion between the enamel and fissure sealant in pediatric dentistry (9). Hydrophilic sealants were introduced that bond effectively to moist enamel surfaces to overcome this problem. UltraSeal XT° hydro<sup>™</sup> is a new moisture-tolerant, self-adhesive, light-cured hydrophilic pit and fissure sealant. This material is reported to chase moisture into the pits and fissures, eliminating moisture related failures (10). There are many in vitro studies investigating the effect of Er:YAG lasers on hydrophilic fissure sealants. The number of clinical studies comparing the retention rates of fissure sealants applied using conventional acid etching, laser etching or the combination of laser and acid etching are limited (11-13). The results of the studies still have the conflicting results if Er:YAG laser is a useful tool for enamel surface conditioning prior to placement of fissure sealants. While some authors reported that acid and laser etching provided similar results in terms of sealant retention rate (14,15), some of them suggested the use of acid after laser application and reported that the application of laser did not eliminate the need for acid etching (16). Moreover, a recently published in-vitro study showed that bond strength of a sealant to phosphoric acid etched enamel was significantly higher than that Er:YAG laser etched enamel (17).

The aim of this study was to evaluate the effect of the Er:YAG laser on the clinical success of a hydrophilic fissure sealant over 12 months. The null hypothesis tested herein was that the Er:YAG laser had not improve the clinical success in terms of retention rates and caries development rates of a hydrophilic fissure sealant.

#### **Subject and Methods**

The protocol and consent form for this study were reviewed and approved by the Aydin Adnan Menderes University Faculty of Dentistry Clinical Investigations Ethics Committee (ADUDHF2018/048-2017/089). The study was registered (Protocol Registration Receipt NCT03718689) at http://www.clinicaltrial.gov. Written informed consent was obtained from the parents of the participants.

The participants were selected from the patients attending the Adnan Menderes University Faculty of Dentistry. The treatment procedures, possible side effects and benefits were explained to the participants/caregivers. Written informed consent was obtained from participants/caregivers, who signed the informed consent prior to participation.

Patients eligible to participate were healthy individuals aged 7-11 years with at least three non-carious first permanent molars requiring fissure sealant. The inclusion criteria for the study were as follows:

\* Fully erupted permanent first molar teeth with deep, narrow fissures

\* No detectable occlusal or proximal caries

\*Children with satisfactory cooperative behaviour (18) (Frankl score 3 or 4)

The exclusion criteria for the study were as follows:

\* The presence of systemic pathology or history of allergic reaction to the materials used in the study

\* Having hypomineralized areas, such as fluorosis or molar incisor hypomineralization

The plaque and debris were removed using a polishing brush and pumice. Caries status was assessed using a DIAG-NOdent pen (DIAGNOdent 2190, KaVo, Biberach, Germany) at the occlusal and proximal sites. Teeth having DIAGNOdent readings of 12 or less at the occlusal site and 7 or less at the proximal site were included in the study.

#### Sample size determination

The sample size required was determined to be 132 teeth (44 teeth per group) using G-power software based on a study by Karaman et al (14) for a power of 95% ( $\alpha$ =0.05, 1- $\beta$ =0.95).

#### Randomization

A total of 132 permanent first molars from 44 patients, three in each patient, were included in the study. They were randomly assigned using block allocation. A table of random numbers was used to assign the teeth for the groups.

#### Groups and procedures

In the acid group (Group A-control), teeth were etched with 35% phosphoric acid (Vococid<sup>®</sup>, Voco Products, Cuxhaven, Germany) for 20 seconds, rinsed and lightly air-dried as suggested by the manufacturer. UltraSeal XT<sup>®</sup> hydro<sup>™</sup> (UltraSeal XT <sup>®</sup> hydro <sup>™</sup>, Ultradent Products, South Jordan, Utah, USA) was then applied by a previously calibrated operator and light-cured for 20 seconds with an LED curing unit (Monitex Ti-Lite Gt 1500, New Taipei, Taiwan). Then, the sealants were clinically checked for adequacy, and the occlusion was checked with an articulation paper.

In the laser group (Group L), teeth were etched with an Er:YAG laser system (LightWalker STE-E, Fotona Medical Lasers, Ljubljana, Slovenia) using a noncontact handpiece (R02) with the following settings: the wavelength was 2.94 µm, the power was 3.6 W, the energy output was 180 mJ, a short pulse duration, the frequency was 20 Hz, and the beam spot size was 0.6 mm. The Er:YAG laser applied to fissures at a working distance of 1-2 mm aligned perpendicularly to the target area with water cooling (air/water ratio of 6/4). The duration of exposure depended on the time needed to guide the laser beam evenly across the pits and fissures to be irradiated (14). During the laser application, the operator, patient and parent wore protective glasses. The teeth were then air-dried, and UltraSeal XT<sup>\*</sup> hydro<sup>™</sup> that is a moisture-activated, self-adhesive, acrylate-based hydrophilic fissure sealant was applied as described for group A.

In the acid and laser group (Group A+L), teeth were etched with an Er:YAG laser and phosphoric acid, and the fissure sealant was applied as described above.

#### Follow-up

An examiner who was unaware of which etching protocol was used independently evaluated the sealants at baseline and at 3-, 6-, 9-, and 12-month follow-up visits. At the beginning of the study, the kappa value was calculated to test intra-examiner reproducibility. The kappa value was high (0.93) and showed strong intra-examiner agreement. The teeth were assessed using a mouth mirror and explored for new caries formation and retention of the fissure sealants. Sealant retention was recorded according to Simonsen's Criteria as follows: 1 was total retention (TR), 2 was partial retention (PR), and 3 was total loss (TL) (15). Partial retention or total loss was noted as failure and total retention was noted as success for survival analysis.

Each sealant was evaluated for the presence or absence of caries formation. Loss of enamel translucency along the margins and softness at the base of the exposed fissures were noted as caries presence. In case of a partial or total loss of the sealants were observed, they were noted as failure and we evaluated the teeth found to be successful in the follow-up periods. However, when partial or total loss of the sealant was observed, such sealants were repaired or replaced in the same appointment and those teeth excluded from the study.

#### Statistical analysis

Data were analyzed with SPSS 24.0 (SPSS 24.0 for Windows, SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). Pearson's chi-square tests were used to evaluate differences in the retention rates of sealants applied with different etching techniques for each evaluation period at a 5% level of significance. The total retention rates at baseline and all recall times for each group were compared using Cochran's Q test and Dunn's Multiple Comparison test. The intra-examiner reproducibility was determined using Cohen's kappa statistics by re-examining 10 patients one week after the examination period. Additionally, Kaplan-Meier survival analysis and log-rank tests were used to estimate the probability of the etching protocol's success.

#### Results

A total of 132 teeth were sealed in 44 patients (19 girls and 25 boys) and all patients attended all visits, resulting in a re-

call rate of 100%. An equal number of fissure sealants were applied to the maxillary and mandibular teeth. There was no statistically significant difference in retention rates of the sealants in terms of jaw type (p>0.05). The mean age of the participants was  $8.97\pm1.62$ . The age distribution of the sample was as follows: 7 years old (27.3%), 8 years old (20.5%), 9 years old (9.1%), 10 years old (13.6%), 11 years old (29.5%).

Figure 1 represents the flow chart of the patients and first permanent molars included in this study. Caries were not observed in any of the sealed teeth throughout the 12-month follow-up period, and none of the teeth exhibited total loss of sealant. Retention rates of the groups at base-line and 3-, 6-, 9-, 12-, month recalls and comparison of the sealant retention rates of the groups at each time interval and intragoup comparisons with baseline for total retention rates for each group is displayed in Table 1. Figure 2 shows the sealant retention distribution along with total retention and partial and total loss of sealants at all follow-up periods.



*Figure 1.* The flow chart of the patients and first permanent molars included in this study.

Table 1. Retention rates of the groups at baseline and 3-, 6-, 9-, 12-, month recalls and comparison of the sealant retention rates of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the groups of the gro
each time interval and intragoup comparisons with baseline for total retention rates for each group

	Baseline, n (%)			3-Months, n (%)			6-Months, n (%)			9-Months, n (%)			12-months, n (%)		
Group	Α	L	A+L	Α	L	A+L	Α	L	A+L	Α	L	A+L	Α	L	A+L
TR	44 (100)	44 (100)	44 (100)	43 (97.7)	43 (97.7)	42 (95.5)	39* (88.6)	37* (84.1)	38* (86.4)	35* (79.5)	33 <sup>*</sup> (75)	35 <sup>*</sup> (79.5)	32 <sup>*</sup> (72.7)	26 <sup>*</sup> (59.1)	29* (65.9)
PR	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	1 (2.3)	1 (2.3)	2 (4.5)	5 (11.4)	7 (15.9)	6 (13.6)	9 (20.5)	11 (25)	9 (20.5)	12 (27.3)	18 (40.9)	15 (34.1)
TL	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)
Total	44	44	44	44	44	44	44	44	44	44	44	44	44	44	44
p value		1.00			0.77			0.82			0.83			0.40	

TR, total retention; PR, partial retention; TL, total loss; A, acid; L, laser; A+L, acid and laser. "Significant difference in comparison with baseline according to Cochran's Q test for total retention rates in each group (p<0.05)

At the 3-month follow up, the total retention rate of sealants in Group A and Group L was 97.7%, which was not significantly different from Group A+L with a total retention rate of 95.5% (p>0.05). At the 6-month follow up, the total retention rates of sealants in Group A, Group L and Group A+L were 88.6%, 84.1%, and 86.4%, respectively, and the difference between the groups was not statistically significant (p>0.05).

At the 9-month follow up, the retention rate of sealants in Group A and Group A+L were 79.5%, while it was 75% for Group L. There were no significant differences in the retention rates among the three groups at any of the evaluation times (p>0.05).

At the 12-month follow up, the total retention rates of sealants in Group A, Group L and Group A+L were 72.7%, 59.1%, and 65.9%, respectively, and the differences among groups were not statistically significant (p>0.05).

Differences between baseline and each recall time within each group are displayed in Table 1. There were no statistically significant differences between the baseline and 3-month recall for the groups (p>0.05). For all groups, significant differences were observed between the baseline and 6-month recall, 9-month recall and between the baseline and 12-month recall (p<0.05) (Table 1).

Figure 3 shows cumulative survival analysis of the groups. The Kaplan-Meier survival analysis and log-rank (Mantel-Cox)

![](_page_53_Figure_6.jpeg)

*Figure 2.* The sealant retention distribution along with total retention and partial and total loss of sealants at all follow-up periods.

![](_page_53_Figure_8.jpeg)

Figure 3. Cumulative survival analysis of the groups.

test revealed that there were no significant differences in retention rates of the sealants among three groups (p>0.05).

#### Discussion

The present study compared the clinical performance of hydrophilic fissure sealant applied using conventional acid etching, an Er:YAG laser or a combination of an Er:YAG laser and acid etching in terms of the retention rate and caries formation over a 12-month period.

Fissure sealant applications are considered as effective method for preventing caries formation on occlusal surfaces of newly erupted posterior teeth (19). The fissure sealant material should penetrate to the roughened enamel surface for successful retention. Penetration of resin material depends on the etching and wetting ability of the enamel, the surface tension of the fissure sealant material and the degree of (20). Newly erupted teeth are less mineralized and have less resistance to acid attacks because maturation is not completed (19). Poor behaviour of child during the sealant application may interrupt the sealant retention rates. In this study, we used rubberdam isolation to eliminate the saliva contamination and Er:YAG laser for etching procedure. The complicated study protocol could not be tolarated in the younger age group. Moreover, the caries risk evaluation in terms of dmft value (dmft:4-6) was an inclusion criteria for the study. Therefore, patients with high caries risk aged 7-11 years who could cope with this study protocol were selected for the study.

In vivo and in-vitro studies confirmed that DIAGNOdent pen in noncavitated occlusal lesions indicate that the device can diagnose caries lesions with high sensitivity (21-23). Therefore, the DIAGNOdent pen was used in this study to detect caries at the beginning of the study.

The success of fissure sealants increases with the quality of adhesion between sealant and enamel. The adhesion and retention of sealant are provided mainly from micromechanical interlocking that exists between the resin and enamel (24). The enamel surface is then roughened to increase the surface area for the micromechanical interlocking of the sealant (14).

Lasers have been introduced as an alternative to acid etching for surface preparation for use with fissure sealants (9). There are controversial findings in the literature on the effectiveness of lasers in conditioning the enamel before fissure sealant application. Baygin et al. (25) and Shahabi et al. (26) reported that laser conditioning may be an alternative to conventional acid etching but does not eliminate the need for acid etching prior to placement of a fissure sealant. According to the results of the present study, the retention rate was 72.7% in Group A, 59.1% in Group L and 65.9% in Group A+L. Our study agrees with Baygin et al.'s and Shahabi et al.'s studies because the highest retention rate was seen in the acid etching group, and the lowest retention rate was observed in the laser group without statistically significant difference. Moreover, when the laser was used in combination with acid etching, the retention rate increased from 59.1% to 65.9%. Contrary to our study, Durmus et al. (27) stated that fissure sealants placed with the Er:YAG laser combined with acid etching showed significantly higher retention rates than those placed acid etching alone. The different results might have been due to different laser output characteristics, types of fissure sealant material and experimental designs.

SEM images of the Er:YAG laser-conditioned permanent enamel revealed uneven areas and modified hydroxyapatite crystals. The superficial microroughness of the laser-conditioned enamel is due to the microexplosive ablation process, which characterizes the nonselective thermal effect of the Er:YAG laser (28). The fact that the laser beam is pulsed and does not have a continuous structure creates areas that are not exposed to laser radiation between the pulses. This irregular structure is thought to adversely affect the bond strength of the fissure sealant (29,30). For this reason, etching the surfaces with phosphoric acid after laser applications is recommended for roughening the areas that are not exposed to the laser, thus forming a regular structure (31).

Energy parameters used for laser conditioning (power, pulse velocity, working distance, tip diameter) have a significant effect on bond strength. However, there is no consensus on the optimal laser parameters. In this study, the parameters determined by the laser manufacturer for enamel etching were used (wavelength: 2.94  $\mu$ m, power: 3.6 W, energy: 180 mJ, frequency: 20 Hz, and pulse time: 50  $\mu$ s). Üsümez *et al.* (32) evaluated the shear bond strength of orthodontic brackets for conditioning with different energy parameters of an Er, Cr: YSGG laser and 37% orthophosphoric acid. In the study, the bond strength values obtained with 1 W were found to be significantly lower than the values obtained with acid etching. There was no statistically significant difference between the bond strength values obtained with 2 W and those obtained from acid etching.

Prabakar *et al.* (33) placed UltraSeal XT<sup>®</sup> hydro <sup>™</sup> to fissures of mandibular first permanent molars following acid etching and they stated that the retention rate was 78.3% of The UltraSeal XT<sup>®</sup> hydro <sup>™</sup> at three months follow-up. In this study, retention rate of the acid etch group was 97.7% at three months follow up.

Laser conditioning techniques have gained popularity in recent years. The laser conditioning process has several advantages, such as being less time consuming, removing debris more effectively, reaching narrow fissures and increasing acid resistance of the enamel (6,25,34). However, the disadvantage of this method is that the type of laser and the energy parameters have not yet been optimized. In addition, many commercial resin based fissure sealants are produced for applying on acid-etched enamel surfaces. The development of specific materials for laser-conditioned surfaces may be suitable for increasing the longevity of fissure sealants. The present study found no significant differences between the three enamel conditioning methods. Therefore, the null hypothesis should be accepted.

#### Conclusion

Etching with the Er:YAG laser, phosphoric acid or a combination of both methods provided similar results on clinical success rate of hydrophilic fissure sealant.

**Türkçe Özet:** Er:YAG lazerin hidrofilik esaslı bir fissür örtücünün klinik başarısı üzerine etkisi: Randomize klinik çalışma. Amaç: Bu çalışmanın amacı, Er: YAG lazerin hidrofilik bir fissür örtücünün 12 aylık klinik başarısı üzerine etkisinin değerlendirilmesidir. Gereç ve Yöntem: Bu çalışma 7-11 yaşları arasındaki 44 (19 kız ve 25 erkek) hastanın 132 adet daimi birinci büyük azı dişi üzerinde gerçekleştirilmiştir. Dişler üç gruba ayrılmıştır. Fissür örtücü uygulaması öncesinde, birinci gruptaki dişler (Grup A-kontrol) fosforik asit, ikinci gruptaki dişlere (Grup L) Er: YAG lazer ve üçüncü gruptaki dişlere (Grup A + L) önce Er: YAG lazer daha sonra fosforik asit uygulanmıştır. Klinik değerlendirmeler, başlangıçta, 3, 6, 9 ve 12 aylık periyotlarda yapıldı. Veriler, Pearson ki-kare, Cochran Q testleri ve Kaplan-Meier analizi ile analiz edilmiştir. Bulgular: Oniki aylık takip süresinin sonunda fissür örtücü retensiyon oranları A, L ve A + L gruplarında sırasıyla % 72,7, % 59,1 ve % 65,9 olarak belirlenmiştir. Grupların retansiyon oranları arasında istatistiksel olarak belirlenmiştir. Grupların retansiyon oranlı lazer grubunda bulundu. Çalışma süresince hiçbir dişte yeni çürük gözlenmedi. Sonuç: Er: YAG lazer, fosforik asit veya iki yöntemin kombinasyonu ile pürüzlendirme, hidrofilik esaslı fissür örtücünün klinik başarısı üzerinde benzer sonuçlar sağlamıştır. Anahtar Kelimeler: Pit ve fissür örtücü, UltraSeal XT® hydro™, Er:YAG lazer, Fosforik asit, Koruyucu diş hekimliği

**Ethics Committee Approval:** The protocol and consent form for this study were reviewed and approved by the Adnan Menderes University Faculty of Dentistry Clinical Investigations Ethics Committee (ADUDHF2018/048-2017/089). The study was registered (Protocol Registration Receipt NCT03718689) at http://www.clinicaltrial.gov. Written informed consent was obtained from the parents of the participants.

**Informed Consent:** The informed consents were provided by the participants.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

**Author contributions:** SK and HY participated in design of the study. SK and HY participated in generating the data for the study. SK and HY participated in gathering the data for the study. HY participated in the analysis of the data. HY wrote the majority of the original draft of the paper. SK and HY participated in writing the paper. All authors approved the final version of this paper.

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors had no conflict of interest to declare.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that they have received no financial support.

#### References

- 1. Peutzfeldt A, Nielsen LA. Bond strength of a sealant to primary and permanent enamel: phosphoric acid versus self-etching adhesive. Pediatr Dent 2004;26(3):240-244.
- 2. Cueto El, Buonocore MG Sealing of pits and fissures with an adhesive resin: its use in caries prevention. JADA 1967;75:121–128. [CrossRef]
- Arrow P, Riordan PJ. Retention and caries preventive effects of a GIG and a resin-based fissure sealant. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol 1995;23:282–285. [CrossRef]
- 4. Garcia-Godoy F, Gwinnett AJ Penetration of acid solution and gel in occlusal fissures. J Am Dent Assoc 1987;114:809–810. [CrossRef]
- 5. Burrow MF, Makinson O. Pits and fissures: Remnant organic debris after acid etching. J Dent Child 1990; 57:348–351.
- Ciucchi P, Neuhaus KW, Emerich M, Peutzfeldt A, Lussi A. Evaluation of different types of enamel conditioning before application of a fissure sealant. Lasers Med Sci 2015; 30:1-9. [CrossRef]
- 7. Bader C, Krejci I. Indications and limitations of Er:YAG laser applications in dentistry. Am J Dent 2006;19:178-186.
- Oho T, Morioka T. A Possible Mechanism of Acquired Acid Resistance of Human Dental Enamel by Laser Irradiation. Caries Res 1990;24:86–92. [CrossRef]
- Khogli AE, Cauwels R, Vercruysse C, Verbeeck R, Martens L. Microleakage and penetration of a hydrophilic sealant and a conventional resin-based sealant as a function of preparation techniques: A laboratory study. Int J Paediatr Dent 2013;23:13– 22. [CrossRef]
- Brinker SP. Preventing carious lesions: Clinical steps for applying a newly introduced hydrophilic sealant. Dent Today 2013;32:82-83.

- 11. Schlueter N, Klimek J, Ganss C. Efficacy of a moisture-tolerant material for fissure sealing: A prospective randomised clinical trial. Clin Oral Investig 2013;17:711-716. [CrossRef]
- Askarizadeh N, Hesmat H, Zangeneh N. One-Year Clinical Success of Embrace Hydrophilic and Helioseal-F Hydrophobic Sealants in Permanent First Molars: A Clinical Trial. J Tehran 2017;14:92–99.
- Bhatia MR, Patel AR, Shirol DD. Evaluation of two resin based fissure sealants: a comparative clinical study. J Indian Soc Pedod Prev Dent 2012;30:227-230. [CrossRef]
- Karaman E, Yazici AR, Baseren M. Comparison of acid versus laser etching on the clinical performance of a fissure sealant: 24-month results. Oper Dent 2013;38:151–158. [CrossRef]
- 15. Simonsen RJ. Retention and effectivenessof dental sealant after 15 years. J Am Dent Assoc 1991;122:34-42. [CrossRef]
- Zhang Y, Wang Y, Chen Y, Zhang Q, Zou J. The clinical effects of laser preparation of tooth surfaces for fissure sealants placement: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC oral health 2019;19:203. [CrossRef]
- 17. Rattanacharoenthum A, Prisana NL, Kantrong N. Altered adhesion of dental sealant to tooth enamel microscopically modified by Er: YAG laser irradiation: An in vitro study. Laser Ther 2019;28:19-25. [CrossRef]
- 18. Frankl SN. Should the parent remain with the child in the dental operatory?. J Dent Child 1962;29:150-163.
- Khare M, Suprabha BS, Shenoy R, Rao A. Evaluation of pit-andfissure sealants placed with four different bonding protocols: a randomized clinical trial. Int J Paediatr Dent 2017;27:444-453. [CrossRef]
- 20. Simonsen RJ. Pit and fissure sealant: review of the literature. Pediatr Dent 2002;24: 393–414.
- Spiguel MH, Tovo MF, Kramer PF, Franco KS, Alves KMRP, Delbem ACB. Evaluation of laser fluorescence in the monitoring of the initial stage of the demineralization process: an in vitro and in situ study. Caries Res 2009;43:302-307. [CrossRef]
- Alsabek L, Al-Nerabieah Z, Bshara N, Comisi JC Retention and remineralization effect of moisture tolerant resin-based sealant and glass ionomer sealant on non-cavitated pit and fissure caries: Randomized controlled clinical trial. J Dent 2019; 86:69-74. [CrossRef]
- 23. Iranzo-Cortes JE, Terzic S, Montiel-Company JM, Almerich Silla JM. Diagnostic validity of ICDAS and DIAGNOdent combined:

an in vitro study in precavitated lesions. Lasers Med Sci 2017;32:543–548. [CrossRef]

- 24. Güçlü ZA, Dönmez N, Tüzüner T, Odabaş ME, Hurt AP, Coleman NJ. The impact of Er: YAG laser enamel conditioning on the microleakage of a new hydrophilic sealant—UltraSeal XT<sup>®</sup> hydro<sup>™</sup>. Lasers Med Sci 2016;31:705-711. [CrossRef]
- Baygin O, Korkmaz FM, Tüzüner T, Tanriver M. The effect of different enamel surface treatments on the microleakage of fissure sealants. Lasers Med Sci 2012;27:153-160. [CrossRef]
- 26. Shahabi S, Bagheri H, Ramazani K. Tensile bond strength of sealants following Er:YAG laser etching compared to acidetching in permanent teeth. Lasers Med Sci 2012;27: 371–375. [CrossRef]
- 27. Durmus B, Giray F, Peker S, Kargul B. Clinical evaluation of a fissure sealant placed by acid etching or Er: YAG laser combined with acid etching. Oral Health Prev Dent 2017;15:157-62.
- Hibst R, Keller U. Experimental studies of the application of the Er:YAG laser on dental hard substances: I. Measurement of the ablation rate. Lasers Surg Med 1989;9:338–344. [CrossRef]
- Silverstone LM. Fissure Sealants: The Enamel-Resin Interface. J Public Health Dent 1983,43:205-215. [CrossRef]
- Apel C, Franzen R, Meister J, Sarrafzadegan H, Thelen S, Gutknecht N. Influence of the pulse duration of an Er:YAG laser system on the ablation threshold of dental enamel. Lasers Med Sci 2002;17:253-257. [CrossRef]
- Chimello-Sousa DT, De Souza DE, Chinelatti MA, Pécora JD, Palma-Dibb RG, Milori Corona SA. Influence of Er:YAG laser irradiation distance on the bond strength of a restorative system to enamel. J Dent 2006;34:245-251. [CrossRef]
- Üşümez S, Orhan M, Üşümez A. Laser etching of enamel for direct bonding with an Er,Cr:YSGG hydrokinetic laser system. Am J Orthod Dentofac Orthop 2002;122: 649–656. [CrossRef]
- Prabakar J, John J, Arumugham IM, Kumar RP, Srisakthi D. Comparative evaluation of retention, cariostatic effect and discoloration of conventional and hydrophilic sealants-A single blinded randomized split mouth clinical trial. Contemp Clin Dent 2018;9: 233-239. [CrossRef]
- Hossain M, Yamada Y, Masuda-Murakami Y, Nakamura Y. Removal of organic debris with Er: YAG laser irradiation and microleakage of fissures sealants in vitro. Lasers Med Sci 2012,27:895-902. [CrossRef]

### 54<sup>th</sup> Volume Index

#### Subject Index

Antibacterial agents, 16 Antioxidant activity, 48 Apical stretching suture, 42 Artifacts, 36 Attitude, 86 Bolton's analysis, 55 Boron, 77 Brain activity, 114 Calcium hydroxide, 69 Caries risk factors, 48 CBCT, 25 CIELab, 81 Cobalt chromium, 123 Cognition, 114 Cone-Beam Computed Tomography, 36 Congenital cardiac diseases, 48 Continuous horizontal suture, 42 COVID-19, 86 COVID-19, 92 COVID-19, 101 Cross infection, 101 Cross-infection, 130 Decision-making, 142 Dental casting technique, 119 Dental health, 77 Dental materials, 36 Dental model, 119 Dental pain, 142 Dental prosthesis, 119 Dentistry, 101 Dentistry, 130 Dentistry, 86 Design, 123 Diode laser, 16 Electroencephalogram, 114 Er Cr, 16 Er:YAG laser, 148 Esthetics, 81 Ethics, 142 Fast Fourier Transform, 114 Fissure sealant, 109

Fixed dental prosthesis, 114 Flexural strength, 31 Flexural strength, 62 Fluoride, 77 FotoSan, 16 Free gingival graft, 42 Geriatrics, 9 Glass ionomer cement, 62 Graft shrinkage, 42 Heat cure acrylic, 31 Hydrogen ion concentration, 69 Hypodontia, 136 Infection Control, 92 Image quality, 36 Immediate implant, 25 Infection control, 130 Informed consent, 142 Knowledge, 9 Lingual plate perforation, 25 Mandible, 25 Mandibular canal, 25 Marginal adaptation, 109 Mask, 86 Mechanical properties, 1 Microhardness, 1 Microscopy, 119 Nano particles, 31 Nanoleakage, 16 Nemoceph, 55 Oligodontia, 136 Ontrast-to-noise ratio, 36 Ophotograph, 55 Oral hygiene, 9 Panoramic radiography, 136 Partial dentures, 123 Pedodontics, 48 Phosphoric acid, 148 Photogrammetry, 55 Pit and fissure sealant, 148 Poly methyl metha acrylate, 31 Power spectral density, 114

Preventive dentistry, 148 Probing depth, 42 Protection measures, 101 Quality, 123 Questionnaires, 130 Radiology, 130 Removable, 123 Removable dentures, 9 Resin composite, 1 Respirator, 86 Retention, 109 Roughness, 1 Ryge criteria, 109 Saliva, 92 Saliva composition, 48 SARS-CoV-2, 92 Saudi Arabia, 123 Scanning electron microscopy, 62 Shade selection, 81 Skin colour, 81 Solubility, 69 Surface coating, 62 Surface morphology, 69 Surface sealant, 1 Teeth, 77 Third molar agenesis, 136 Tooth dimensions, 55 Tooth loss, 136 Tooth shade, 81 Toothbrushing, 9 Trace elements, 77 Transmission, 92 Transmission routes, 101 Treatment preference, 142 UltraSeal XT<sup>®</sup> hydro<sup>™</sup>, 148 Void, 119 Water absorption, 69 Water aging, 62 YSGG laser, 16 Zinc oxide, 31

### 54<sup>th</sup> Volume Index

#### Author Index

Alev Ozsoy, 1 Amir Shammas, 42 Ashwin Prakash, 55 Ava Ziaei, 92 Aykut Canakci, 16 Aylin Cilingir, 1 Aysegul Yurdakos, 9 Aysem Y. Gunay, 101 Aysen Yarat, 77 Benin Dikmen, 1 Berkay Tokuç, 86 Boniek Castillo Dutra Borges, 69 Bulent Altunkaynak, 130 Burak Yılmaz, 81 Camila Pessoa Lopes, 69 Cengiz Aydınoğlu, 109 Dilara Bektas, 109 Emine Sebnem Kursun Cakmak, 36 Ezel Uslu, 48 Fatih Erdemir, 16 Fatih Mehmet Coskunses, 86 Fatih Mehmet Korkmaz, 16 Figen Seymen, 48 Figen Seymen, 109 Fikrettin Sahin, 77 Fulya Ilcin Gonenc, 142 Gozde Serindere, 136 Gulsah Balan, 77

Gülsüm Ak, 101 Hadi Ranjbar, 42 Hakan Kamalak, 36 Hamidreza Pakravan, 92 Hulya Yilmaz, 148 Ilkay Peker, 130 Ipek Arslan, 16 Isabela Dantas Torres de Araújo, 69 Isana Álvares Ferreira, 69 Işın Kürkçüoğlu, 81 Mazen Saeed AlOtaibi, 123 Mehmet Yorulmaz, 119 Melih Ozdede, 130 Meltem Mert Eren, 1 Meltem Tekbas Atay, 136 Merve Bayram, 48 Mine Koruyucu, 48 Mine Koruyucu, 109 Mohadeseh Arab Solghar, 42 Mohammad Mohammadi, 42 Mohammad Zakaria Nassani, 123 Muhittin Ugurlu, 62 Muthukumar Balasubramanian, 114 N. Gopi Chander, 31 N. Gopi Chander, 114 Najme Asghari, 42 Nazmiye Sen, 101 Neslihan Ozveren, 136

Nima Farshidfar, 92 Nuran Özyemisci-Cebeci, 119 Nurullah Türker, 81 Ozge Gurbuz, 1 Ozgul Baygin, 16 Pakize Neslihan Tasli, 77 Pelin Barlak, 109 Pelin Gokalp Kalabay, 9 Prasad Chitra, 55 Renato Barbosa Soares, 69 Ruya Kuru, 77 Ryan C. Olley, 101 S. Vikram, 31 Sabit Demircan, 25 Sahin Yilmaz, 77 Serap Akyuz, 77 Seval Bayrak, 36 Shahram Hamedani, 92 Sule Batu, 48 Sultan Keles, 148 Tamer Tuzuner, 16 Tan Firat Eyuboglu, 142 Uddipta Prafulla Saikia, 114 Ulviye Sebnem Büyükkaplan, 81 Yegane Guven, 48 Zeynep Turgut Cankaya, 9 Zuhre Akarslan, 130

### 54<sup>th</sup> Volume Index

### Acknowledgement to Reviewers September 2019 - September 2020

Editor-in-Chief and Editorial Staff would like to thank following reviewers who have shared their valuable time and expertise to evaluate manuscripts submitted to European Oral Research in 2020.

Abualsaud, Reem Ağralı, Ömer Birkan Akcali, Aliye Akhtar, Sultan Aksoy, Umut Alhajj, Mohammed Nasser Alikhasi, Marzieh Anic-Milosevic, Sandra Arslan, Dilara Aslan, Serhat Aydınbelge, Mustafa Ayub, Muhammad Baig, Mirza R. Balci, Nur Barakat, Haydar Barutçugil, Çağatay Baygın Özgül Bayrakdar, İbrahim Beyabanaki, Elaheh Borges, Boniek Cakıcı, Fatih Campos, Paulo SF Cheong, Ngeow Wei Chrcanovic, Bruno Ramos Consani, Rafael Coskun, Mehmet Emre Cruz, A. D. Çakır, Binali de Avila, Erica Dorigatti Dede, Doğu Ömür Demiriz, Levent Develi, Tuba

Dogan, mehmet Ege, Bilal Eren, Figen Fonseca, Renata Garcia Fontanella, Vania Regina Gad, Mohammed Gad, Mohammed Moustafa Genc, Gonca Erkose Gul, Esma Basak Gürler, Gökhan Güven, Yeliz legami, Carolina M Jorge, Janaina Habib Kırmalı, Omer Küçükekenci, Ahmet Serkan Kanzow, Dr. Dr. Philipp Karaduman, Burcu Karakoca Nemli, Secil Karluk Gürbüz, Sühan Keles, A. Keskin Cangül Kilinc, Hamiyet Koruyucu, Mine Koyuncuoglu, Cenker Kuşcu, Özgür Lopes, Murilo Baena Matheus Rodrigues Garcia, Renata Cunha Melo, Daniela Pita de Mercade, Montse Nogueira Leal Silva, Emmanuel Joao Oliveira, Matheus L

Orhan, Kaan Ozcaka, Ozgun Öner Özdaş, Didem Pandiyan, Nagendran Jayavel Peker, Mehmet Sertac Pekiner, Filiz Sagsoz, Omer Sajnani, Anand K. Sarı, Fatih Sarıkaya, İşıl Sayın Özel, Gülsüm Scribante, Dr. Andrea Sen Tunc, Emine Shyagali, Tarulatha R Sinanoğlu Enver Alper Silva, ClÃjudia Helena Lovato da Sindel, Alper Singh, Shishir Sinhoreti, Mario Sorensen JA Sousa-Neto, M. D. Tözüm, Tolga Tunali, Mustafa Tuncer, Safa Uysal, Gurkan Uzun, I. Wax, MK Woestmann, Bernd Yalcin, Eda Didem Yılmaz Atalı, Pınar Yılmaz, Mustafa Yılmaz, Selmi

![](_page_60_Picture_0.jpeg)